
Annual report 
and accounts 2013/14

incorporating the quality account 2013/14





3

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust

Annual report and accounts 
2013/14

incorporating the quality account 2013/14

Presented to Parliament, pursuant to Schedule 7, 
paragraph 25(4) of the National Health Service Act 2006.





5

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

Table of contents

Introducing our Trust 6 
Foreword 7

Directors’ report
Composition of the board 10 
Our vision, values and objectives 11
Developments in information technology 12
The fundraising connection 13
The leading edge – our research and innovation 14
Training and development 16
Investing in the future 18
Our patients 19
Our people 20
Delivering for our patients 24

Strategic report
Highlights of the year 26
Finance director’s review 35
Employees 36
Looking to the future 37

Quality account
Chief exectutive statement 39
Priorities for improving quality 41
Participation in national clinical audits and confidential enquiries 56
Registration with the Care Quality Commission 68
Our standard core indicators of quality 70
Responses to our quality account 82
Statement of directors’ responsibilities 85
External audit limited assurance report 86

Governance
Governing our hospitals 89
Our community 91
Council of governors 92
Introducing the board of directors 98
Remuneration report 107
Annual governance statement 115

Finance
Foreword to the accounts 121
Independent auditor’s report 122
Financial statements 124
Sustainability report 2012/13 165



6

Located on the south coast of 
England, the Trust provides hospital 
services for people with acute health 
problems. It is the local hospital 
for 650,000 people who live in 
Southampton, the New Forest, 
Eastleigh and the Test Valley and is 
relied upon by residents of the Isle of 
Wight for some services.

As the major university hospital 
on the south coast, UHS provides 
the full range of tertiary medical 
and surgical specialties, with the 

exception of transplantation, renal 
services and burns, to more than 
three million people in central 
southern England and the Channel 
Islands. UHS is a centre of excellence 
for training the doctors and nurses of 
the future and developing treatments 
for tomorrow’s patients. Its role in 
research and education, developed in 
active partnership with the University 
of Southampton, distinguish it as a 
hospital that works at the leading 
edge of healthcare developments in 
the NHS and internationally. 

We are a nationally-leading hospital 
for research into cancer, respiratory 
disease, nutrition, cardiovascular 
disease, bone and joint conditions 
and complex immune system 
problems. Around 10,000 people 
work at the Trust, making it one of 
the area’s largest employers. With 
an annual budget of almost £600 
million, it plays a significant role in the 
economic prosperity of the region.

Our turnover in 2013/14 was 
£618 million.

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust (UHS) was formed 
on 1 October 2011 when Southampton University Hospitals NHS Trust was 
licensed as a foundation trust by the regulator, Monitor.

Introducing our Trust
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Every patient matters
Our focus this year has been to 
provide a better match between 
our capacity to deliver services and 
the demand that our local and 
regional populations are placing 
on us. Our guiding principle is 
that every patient matters equally, 
whether they are coming here from 
a local address for treatment or 
have travelled many miles across 
the southern counties to use our 
regional specialist units. This means 
we aspire to offer the same high 
standards of quality to all our 
patients, every time.

By making this balance of capacity 
a priority, we have recognised that 
to deliver fully the aspirations of our 
2020Vision we need constantly to 
improve access for patients in every 
service we offer. We must have the 
right amount of clinic, ward and 
theatre capacity to accommodate 
planned and urgent care needs in 
more than 100 specialties. Of course 
we also need staff with the right 
skills and experience to be available 
for patients at the right time.
This daily logistical challenge has been 

supported this year by an expansion 
of our clinical space. In 2013/14, 
we opened 59 additional beds, 
which is less than we had planned 
but has already made a significant 
improvement in the care we provide. 

During 2014/15, we are continuing 
this programme and are planning 
to open 31 beds and two theatres. 
Our emergency department has 
opened a new assessment facility for 
older people to improve their urgent 
treatment needs and ten of our new 
beds are designed specifically to 
improve the treatment of infections 
and prevent them from spreading.

During 14/15, we will be opening 
a new paediatric emergency 
department at Southampton 
General Hospital. This will provide 
a purpose-built facility to see and 
treat children in the area when 
they become suddenly unwell or 
suffer serious injuries. This is a 
multi-million pound development 
that marks the beginning of our 
commitment to building one of the 
country’s leading children’s hospitals 
and we will be reporting further on 

this landmark project as it develops 
over the next few years.

Healthcare solutions for tomorrow
The Trust continues to develop its key 
strengths in research and education 
which set us apart from other 
healthcare providers in the region. 
We are training the doctors and 
nurses of tomorrow as well as finding 
new treatments for the diseases that 
our patients suffer from and these 
developments will be our legacy 
for the future. You can read more 
about our progress in these areas 
which define our growth as a clinical 
academic centre on pages 14 to 17. 

Higher quality standards
There has been much discussion 
nationally this year about the quality 
of care provided by acute hospitals like 
ours. The Francis Inquiry into care at 
Mid Stafford Hospital made national 
headlines for much of this reporting 
period and we have been careful to 
understand the lessons learned from 
the lengthy reports that have resulted 
from it. There are several themes to 

We are proud to report here on the many improvements made at our hospitals during 2013/14 when we 
were facing enormous pressure from unprecedented patient numbers. UHS is an organisation with huge 
aspirations and our staff show a determination to avoid complacency and a commitment to improvement 
that inspires us every day. There is a strong desire to make our service better today than it was yesterday 
and this is rightly a source of pride throughout our hospitals.  

Foreword
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these reports but one central message 
is that patients and frontline staff need 
to be listened to much more carefully 
and granted greater power to speak 
up for their services and change them 
for the better. We are focussing on 
listening actively to what people are 
saying this year. You can read more 
about our response to Francis and 
our achievements in making quality 
improvements in our quality account 
on page 38. 

Accessing services
With rising numbers of patients 
coming to UHS hospitals for their 
care, it is a great achievement 
that we have managed to meet 
the majority of our performance 
targets that measure how quickly 
our patients get treated. We have 
delivered the whole range of targets 
for patients with cancer and have 
improved their experience of our 
care at the same time.

For patients referred for planned 
care, we have had some success in 
reducing our waiting lists but have 
faced challenges in a handful of 
specialties which have not been able 
to treat all of their patients within 18 
weeks. Our emergency department 
has an excellent reputation for 
clinical care and is highly rated by 
patients, however long waiting times 
are a problem for too many patients 
and we have struggled to maintain 
the four-hour target this year. We are 
focussing on resolving these access 
issues as quickly as we possibly can 
and every effort is being made to 
deliver the improvements we need 
to make in this area.

Our regulator
Regular updates and reports on the 
performance of UHS are provided 
by our regulator Monitor and any-

one can read these by visiting their 
web site at monitor-nhsft.gov.uk
 
As a result of our problems with 
long waiting times in our emergency 
department, Monitor decided 
to investigate UHS in 2013 to 
understand whether the Trust 
was being effectively governed to 
manage the challenge. Independent 
experts scrutinised the Trust in 
considerable detail and we were 
able to reassure them that the Trust 
was maintaining the high standards 
of governance expected of a 
foundation trust. The investigation 
has now been closed and routine 
monitoring of our performance has 
been resumed.  

A sustainable financial footing
The Trust has delivered a surplus 
at the end of the year as planned. 
You can read our full accounts and 
a commentary on our financial 
year on page 120. It is vital that we 
deliver a surplus each year in order 
to make capital investments in our 
hospitals to improve services with 
new buildings and equipment. Our 
capital investments for this year are 
described on page 18 and, while 
these are a cause for celebration, we 
are always aware that the pressure 
for capital investment is very high 
and the amount available to invest is 
dependent on our ability to become 
more efficient each year. Our staff 
across the Trust have a track record of 
rising to this challenge and they have 
further served their patients again this 
year by securing the funds we invest 
in building a better hospital.

After making enquiries, the directors 
have a reasonable expectation that 
the Trust has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. For this 
reason, they continue to adopt the 

going concern basis in preparing 
the accounts.

Your hospital
We are committed to the principles 
of the NHS Constitution and wish 
to generate a sense of pride and 
ownership among our patients and 
staff as well as our local population 
who rely on our services to be 
there for them when needed. Our 
membership is thriving and we 
have held many events to engage 
them in our work and clinical 
achievements. This is led by our 
council of governors, with whom 
we are privileged to be able to work, 
and you can read more about them 
on page 92.

Directors’ responsibilities
The directors have responsibility 
for preparing the annual report 
and accounts, they consider the 
annual report and accounts, taken 
as a whole, are fair, balanced and 
understandable and provide the 
information necessary for patients, 
regulators and other stakeholders 
to assess the NHS foundation trust’s 
performance, business model 
and strategy.

We hope you will enjoy reading 
about some of the highlights of our 
year and thank you for your support.

John Trewby, 
Chair
28 May 2014 

Fiona Dalton, 
Chief executive
28 May 2014 
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Non executive directors
John Trewby, (chair)
Professor Iain Cameron
Gareth Davies
Peter Hollins
Lynne Lockyer
Simon Porter
Lena Samuels

Note
Mark Hackett - Chief executive left the organisation on 28th June 2013
Alastair Matthews - Acting chief executive from 1st July 2013 until 4th November 2013
Paul Goddard - Acting finance director from 1st July 2013 to 4th November 2013
Fiona Dalton - Chief executive from 4th November 2013
Caroline Marshall - Interim chief operating officer from 13th January 2014
Jane Hayward - Chief operating officer until 12th January 2014, thereafter director of transformation and improvement
Nick Marsden - Deputy chairman and senior independent director until 31 December 2013

Each director confirms that at the time the annual report and accounts is approved:

•  so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the NHS foundation trust’s auditor is 
unaware; and

•  the director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the NHS foundation trust’s auditor is aware of that information.

There are no important events since the year end affecting the foundation trust. 
No political donations have been made.
The Trust has no overseas branches.

Executive directors
Fiona Dalton,  chief executive
Judy Gillow, director of nursing
Jane Hayward,  director of transformation and improvement
Dr Michael Marsh,  medical director
Caroline Marshall,  interim chief operating officer
Alastair Matthews,  finance director and deputy CEO
Mike Murphy,  director of strategy

Composition of the board
The board is currently comprised as follows:
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Our values

Patients first 

Working together

Fresh thinking  

Our vision, values and objectives
In 2007 we launched our 2020Vision which set out the future strategic direction of the Trust. 
The vision states our aim:

We continue to work towards this vision based around our strategic objectives which are:

The NHS Constitution guides us in our relationship with our staff and 
patients and the manner in which we engage them. Much of the work 
we undertake to listen to views and improve services supports the delivery 
of the constitution. 

We have also worked to define our own values which act as a guide 
to the kinds of behaviours we aspire to adopt in every aspect of our work.

Using our strong vision, values and objectives we are creating the 
leadership we need to be a world-class clinical academic centre by 2020.

To be a world-class centre of clinical and academic achievement, 
where staff work together to ensure patients receive the highest 
standards of care and the best people want to come to learn, 
work and research.

Trusted on 
quality 

we aim to be trusted by staff, 
patients and the public to 
provide high quality services

Delivering for 
taxpayers

we aim to provide the services 
that commissioners want and 
that taxpayers understand and 
can afford

Excellence in 
healthcare

we aim to develop better 
treatment for patients and 
train the healthcare 
professionals of the future
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The Trust has continued to invest 
in a strategy for information 
technology and is working towards 
a paperless environment. Many of 
our clinics now run without case 
notes, and a self-check-in has been 
introduced for outpatients 
to avoid people having to queue 
at reception. 

Regarding the electronic patient 
record programme, 2013 saw 
the further roll out of electronic 
prescribing within various 
departments, including paediatrics. 

Access to IT and patient records by 

doctors has been enhanced with 
the development of the Clinical 
Handover and Record of Treatment 
System (CHARTS).This is being 
developed into a cross-professional 
single point of access platform.

This year, the Trust will see the 
introduction of a computer system 
into the critical care department 
which will deal with their complex 
prescribing requirements. National 
funding will support this project.

The My health record system has 
been developed from the initial 
pilots and a mobile version goes 

live in early 2014. Appointment 
information and rebooking is being 
introduced into the product. Also 
in early 2014, a project to install 
electronic document management 
into the organisation begins which 
will provide support for patient 
records and business processes. 

An upgrade of the wi-fi network 
infrastructure, with a new 
generation of wireless and fixed 
network, will soon be underway. 
It is hoped to increase internet 
availability and access for patients, 
as well as staff and visitors, when 
using their own devices

Developments in information technology
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Southampton Hospital Charity is the 
Trust’s registered charity. Our objective 
is to improve the health and well-
being of NHS patients who use the 
services of the Trust’s hospitals. We 
make grants to pay for equipment, 
facilities or amenities which enhance 
and supplement what the Trust 
provides with its NHS funds. 

This year we raised £2.3m, largely 
through the generosity and tireless 
efforts of donors and supporters in 
the local community as well as the 
Trust’s own staff. This brings the 
total raised by the charity since its 
relaunch in 2008 to £11.5m. 

The Red & White Appeal, the single 
biggest project we have ever 
funded, came to fruition this 
year with the opening in August 

2013 by the charity’s president, 
Lady Brabourne, of the £1.4m 
haematology day unit for patients 
with cancers of the blood. 

For more information about 
SHC visit our website at www.
southamptonhospitalcharity.org

The Trust is also grateful to two 
national charities who have made very 
significant contributions this year:

• The Teenage Cancer Trust, for its 
funding of a teenage and young 
adult cancer ward which opened 
in September 2013 at 

 Southampton General Hospital
• Ronald McDonald House 

Charities, for its funding of the 
construction of a 53-bedded 
“home from home”, due for 

completion in June 2014, 
for the families of children in 
Southampton General and the 
Princess Anne Hospitals.

Also to a number of other charities 
for their continuing support:

• Smile4Wessex
• Friends of the Paediatric Intensive 

Care Unit
• Wessex Heartbeat
• the League of Friends of the Trust
• the League of Friends of 

Southampton Eye Unit
• Southampton Hospital Radio
• Radio Lollipop
• Macmillan Cancer Support
• Marie Curie Cancer Care
• Countess Mountbatten Hospice 

Charity Ltd.

The fundraising connection
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In 2013 we saw UHS consolidate 
its role as a leading research site 
and regional hub with sustained 
increases in our research activity and 
income. We accepted the award of 
a £9 million regional initiative with 
our partners at the University of 
Southampton and were appointed 
the host for the regional network, 
providing access to the latest 
treatments through research.

Our research-active clinical teams 
and staff continue to lead their 
professions and specialities, 
particularly in key areas such 
as children’s health, nutrition, 
respiratory and cancer. 2013 
saw Southampton research 
underpinning our designation as 
a world centre of excellence for 
asthma, allergy and immunology 
care, national debate on infant 
hip health and our contribution to 
fighting some of the most serious 
infectious diseases.

Supporting research across 
our region
An award of £9 million from the 
National Institute for Health Research 
established the Wessex Collaboration 
for Applied Research in Health and 
Care, spanning Hampshire and 
Isle of Wight, Dorset and South 
Wiltshire. The collaboration consists 
of the University of Southampton, 
University Hospital Southampton 
and other NHS organisations in 
our region, and is addressing six 
key issues:

• Improving respiratory health 
through integrated care

• Improving routine clinical care in 
ageing and dementia

• Delivering high quality 
fundamental care in hospital

• Targeting antibiotic use and 
preventing chronic liver disease

• Helping patients support 
themselves in managing their 
long-term conditions

• Understanding how to reduce 
complexity and disruption in 
providing healthcare for those 
approaching the end of their lives

2013 also saw UHS awarded the 
host contract for NIHR Clinical 
Research Network: Wessex, the body 
that funds and supports clinical trials 
across our region, underscoring 
further our central role in advancing 
health through research.

Continued commercial 
research success
Our income from working with 
commercial partners bringing the 
latest treatments to our patients 
grew again this year, to over £3 
million, the profits of which are 
used by our clinical teams to further 
evidence-based  care and enhance 
their services. Importantly, the Trust’s 
research and development strategy 
of investing in key clinicians and 

The leading edge – 
our research and innovation
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services has begun to show benefits, 
with the growth generated by those 
areas targeted in this way over the 
last two years.

Centre of excellence built on 
research leadership
In 2013 Southampton’s allergy, 
asthma and immunology service 
was recognised by the World 
Allergy organisation’s award of 
World Centre of Excellence status, 
for achievements in research and 
innovation. Over three decades the 
work of our doctors and nurses in 

partnership with the University of 
Southampton has led the way in 
identifying and managing genetic 
and environmental factors behind 
allergy development. This work has 
enabled the service to provide our 
patients with the best knowledge, 
latest treatments and continuous 
improvements in the treatment and 
care of their conditions.

Tackling infant hip problems
Professor Nick Clarke’s long-term 
research of infant hip dysplasia, loose 
or poorly located hip joints, formed 

the basis of high profile national 
engagement in the media and the 
Royal College of Midwifery, raising 
parents’ awareness of the dangers of 
swaddling babies tightly. This 
year also saw the launch of baby 
carrier and swaddling products by 
the global market leader, redesigned 
in collaboration with Professor 
Clarke, reducing the chance of harm 
to millions of babies’ developing 
hips worldwide.
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The Trust has a clear commitment 
to the education and development 
of its staff, in order to ensure 
that patients are cared for by 
staff who are well trained and 
enjoy the personal development 
that investment in them brings. 
The training and development 
department and the wider teams 
who contribute to our achievements 
in this area have worked to fulfil a 
number of key objectives this year. 

Maximising the benefits of 
education and information 
technology
The training and development 
department has invested in, utilised, 
and grown a number of electronic 
education systems in the past year. 
The main focus of this was the 
introduction of a virtual learning 
environment, which has been 
backed up by the implementation 
of a self-service functionality and 
electronic reporting system. The aim 
of these systems is to allow staff at 
UHS to take responsibility for, and 
control of, their own educational 
data and compliance. Added benefits 
include increasing awareness of 
compliance requirements in all staff 
groups, making the organisation 
a safer place for patients. The 
use of these electronic systems 
has also substantially reduced the 
administration requirements of staff 
from all areas of the organisation. 
This work will continue with further 
developments in 2014/15. 

Revalid was launched in August. This 
is a website supported with a smart 
phone app developed specifically 
for UHS medical staff to help make 
collecting supporting evidence for 
doctors’ revalidation easy.

Embedding education and 
workforce priorities in service 
development 
Our simulated patient project 
continues to attract much interest 
around the region. A recent project 
showcasing how sim-patients 
(actors) can be used in end of life 
education was held at Winchester 
Science Centre in front of a large 
audience of clinicians and nursing 
teams from all over the country. 
Another collaborative project 
with the Wessex Trauma Network 
involved paediatric sim-patients 
being used across the south on 
trauma courses. Of particular note 
was a Saturday when facilities in the 
new childrens’ hospital were road 
tested by sim-paediatric patients 
and their parents to ensure that they 
were fit for purpose prior to their use 
by real patients.

Work within medical simulation 
around the Trust in 2013 included 
paediatric simulation training days, 
emergency thoracotomy courses, 
Wessex One Lung, Wessex Obstetric 
Anaesthesia, and many other 
sessions that have showcased the 
Trust’s excellent work. Technical 
support has been offered to the 
latest cohort of medical simulation 
fellows who are presenting their 
projects later in 2014.

Building profitable and 
productive partnerships 
promoting the UHS educational 
brand for excellence
Undergraduate medical education 
being delivered by clinical skills is 
undergoing some radical changes in 
line with the new curriculum being 
prepared by the School of Medicine. 
The use of electronic resources and 

video files for the medical students 
to assist their education continues 
to be developed.

Health Education Wessex received 
19 UHS nominations (56 from 
around Wessex) for notable 
practice awards. Four of these were 
commended: Simon Hughes and 
the major trauma team for their 
trauma morbidity and mortality 
meetings, Karl Alvarez and 
colleagues for their SHO-led surgical 
teaching for finals, Kim Sykes and 
Phil Hyde for their PICU induction, 
and Prafel Patel for his Wessex 
endoscopy teaching. 

Stress is a major problem for 
all clinical staff, perhaps most 
striking for our newly qualified 
doctors during their foundation 
period. In order to help young 
doctors recognise and manage 
their response to stress, UHS has 
been piloting a programme called 
Safemed, first developed by Prof 
Margaret O’Rourke, professor of 
forensic psychology at University of 
Cork Medical School. The project is 
being evaluated by the University 
of Winchester.

Assuring education quality 
and value for money / cost 
effectiveness 
The training and education and 
finance departments have for the 
last 18 months been carrying out a 
comprehensive costing exercise to 
identify the true cost of education 
activity for undergraduate medical 
students, postgraduate medical 
trainees, and non-medical training. 
This work has been in conjunction 
with the Department of Health 
and Health Education England. 

Training and development
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Key drivers for this work were to 
help the DoH develop a standard 
methodology for the calculation of 
education reference costs; to inform 
the level of the funding tariff for the 
education and training of students 
and trainees; and to make the 
distribution of funding for education 
more open and transparent. 

The Trust is losing £1.25m of its 
education funding in 2013/14 
as the first step in a four-year 
transition which will see our 
education income fall by around 
£5m. We hope that the work 
we are doing on quantifying our 
educational costs will enable us to 
recoup this lost income as soon as 
national policy allows.

To support both the trainees and 
trainers on the new Scientist 
Training Programme, we have 
introduced a trainee/trainer forum 
to share ideas and ensure that the 
Trust is providing a quality learning 

environment. This is working well 
and ideas for sharing good practice 
have been implemented.

Developing our leaders across 
the organisation in all disciplines
Our flagship leadership 
development programmes (clinical 
academy, ward leaders’ and care 
group management) continue 
to be fully-subscribed and we 
have, for the first time, external 
paying colleagues. In addition to 
demanding leadership development 
sessions such as ‘making an 
impact’, ‘human factors’ and 
‘successful communication’, the 
associates also provide specific 
development opportunities, not 
least building broader networks.  

Our number of trained mentors 
continues to grow, and in addition 
some of our senior managers are 
undertaking coaching qualifications. 
Our accredited management 

programmes in partnership with 
Southampton Solent University 
continue to attract full cohorts.

We continue to provide an internal 
consultancy service, helping more 
than 25 different teams within the 
last year in activities such as strategy 
development, service improvement, 
improving communications and 
resolving conflict. Collectively 
we have provided many hours of 
1:1 feedback with managers and 
leaders on our 360 degree and 
psychometric tools (over 100 on the 
Myers Briggs Type Indicator alone).

Our impact evaluation processes 
continue to demonstrate 
improvements in assessments 
against leadership competences 
where applicable. Evidence of 
leadership quality within the Trust 
was provided by four winners in the 
recent regional leadership awards 
out of the eight categories for 
which we were eligible.
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From additional wards and theatre 
space to a new assessment lounge, 
we have continued to invest in our 
hospital sites this year.

At Southampton General Hospital, 
highlights have included:

• A new 18-bed isolation ward for 
medical patients

• A 17-bed ward for elderly 
patients

• A haematology day care unit, 
working with the Red & White 
Appeal

• In conjunction with the Teenage 
Cancer Trust, a teenage young 
adult unit with six en-suite single 
rooms and four day-case beds

• New support facilities on G2 
children’s ward, working with 
Smile for Wessex

• Four new general intensive  
care beds

• A new assessment lounge to 
accommodate the community 
emergency assessment team

• One new operating theatre, with 

a second upgraded to create 
additional cardiac capacity

• The creation of a new medical 
retinopathy suite in the eye unit

• A new outpatient pharmacy by 
the main entrance, reducing the 
time patients have to wait for 
their prescriptions.

The replacement of all windows 
in the west wing and neurology, 
following a successful funding bid 
to the Department of Health, has 
started and will be completed over 
two years. 

Building work has started on 
expanding the endoscopy unit and 
creating a new respiratory high 
dependancy unit.

Outside the emergency department, 
the ambulance area has been 
expanded to provide additonal 
ambulance bays – allowing our new 
children’s emergency department to 
be created.

Work is continuing on a new 
Ronald McDonald parent hotel to 
create comfortable and convenient 
accommodation for the families and 
carers of children staying in 
our hospitals.

Two key areas, radiology and 
radiotherapy, now have equipment 
replacement programmes in place.

Meanwhile across the road at the 
Princess Anne Hospital, our labour 
ward has been updated, with two 
new birthing rooms and reconfigured 
support accommodation.

Also at the Princess Anne, a new 
ward for orthopaedic patients 
has been introduced and an early 
pregnancy unit created.

At Countess Mountbatten House, 
the Trust’s hospice at West End, the 
ward has been upgraded to include 
two additional en-suite bedrooms, 
following a successful funding bid 
through Help the Hospices.

Investing for the future
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Building a compassionate 
culture in our hospitals
There has been significant national 
discussion about compassionate care 
this year and, as part of our work 
to define our culture and values, 
we started two projects specifically 
exploring compassion in healthcare 
during the autumn of 2013.
 
Working in partnership with the 
Patient’s Association and the 
University of Southampton, we 
have been exploring the views of 
our patients on compassionate care 
by making short filmed interviews 
about their experiences and 
then using these as the basis for 

workshops involving junior doctors, 
senior managers, student nurses 
and multi-professional staff. 
Participants in the workshops were 
encouraged to reflect on what 
they might be able to improve 
in their own practice to be more 
compassionate and follow-on 
workshops explored how the insights 
gained from the patient stories had 
made a difference in their areas for 
themselves and their colleagues.
 
At the same time, the Trust launched 
a listening exercise specifically 
around the subject of compassion 
in practice. More than 100 staff 
took part across a wide variety of 

roles. They were able to explore 
the importance of compassion, 
what it looked like in terms of 
practice, hindering factors and 
ways in which compassionate care 
could be promoted and supported 
throughout the organisation. The 
exercise has led to a number of 
recommendations being made which 
are currently being shared widely 
across the Trust.
 
During 2014/15, this work will 
underpin a major project to review 
the Trust’s values in order to improve 
our working cultures and practices 
putting patients at the heart of all 
that we do.

Our patients
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People strategy 
We want UHS to be a great place to 
work, where patients are at the heart 
of what we do. We believe that our 
staff are our biggest asset and will 
help us achieve this aspiration. Our 
people strategy document sets out 
four strategic objectives to create a 
vision for our future workforce:

1 Increase levels of employee well-
being and engagement

2 Build a high-performing culture

3 Create an employer brand where 
UHS is recognised as a great 
place to work

4 Maximise cost savings and 
efficiencies.

Key performance indicators 
In order to meet these objectives, 
we have set ourselves some key 
performance targets to capture 
feedback and drive improvement 
towards our goals. 

The indicators are based on some 
of the key findings from our annual 
staff attitude survey and you can 
see how we are performing over 
time in these areas in the table 
below. We are pleased to have 
achieved a very significant increase 
in the numbers of staff who are 
proud to work here in the last four 
years and across all indicators we 
have made good progress.

Our people

still to be supplied by HR

Objective Key performance 
indicators

2009/10 
Baseline
actual

2010/11
Actual

2011/12
Actual

2012/13
Actual

2013/14
Target

2013/14
Actual

2014/15
Target

2015/16
Target

Increase 

levels of 

employee 

well-

being and 

engagement 

Staff Attitude Survey 

result for staff 

engagement score

Average Above 

average

Above 

average

Above 

average

Top 20% Above 

average

Above 

average

Top 20%

Staff Attitude 

Survey percentage 

of completed 

questionnaires sent

55% 54% 61% 57% 62% 59% 62% 64%

Building 

a high 

performing 

culture 

Staff appraised with 

PDP in last 12 months

62% 69% 65% 74% 96% 80% 84% 88%

Percentage receiving 

job relevant training, 

learning or development 

in the last 12 months

81% 76% 78% 85% 85% 84% 86% 88%

Create an 

employer 

brand where 

UHS is 

recognised 

as a great 

place to 

work

Percentage proud to 

work here (from local 

staff survey question)

44% 50% 53% 57% 62% 64% 70% 72%

Percentage of staff 

happy for us to 

provide care to a 

relative or friend 

62% 68% 67% 67% 78% 71% 75% 77%

Percentage of staff who 

would recommend the 

Trust as a place to work

54% 59% 56% 64% 67% 63% 65% 67%

Percentage feeling 

satisfied with the 

quality of patient care 

they are able to deliver 

72% 73% 88% 71% 78% 78% 82% 85%

Key performance targets and progress
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Wider staff survey findings
Every year we undertake a detailed 
analysis of all the findings in our 
annual staff survey. In 2013/14, the 
top four results for UHS, where we 
compared most favourably against 
other acute trusts in England, were:

• 74% of staff felt able to 
contribute towards improvements 
at work compared with a national 
average of 68% 

• 1% of staff said they experienced 
physical violence from staff  
compared with a national 

 average of 2%
• 24% of staff said they 

experienced harassment, bullying 
or abuse from patients, relatives 
of the public compared with a 
national average of 29%

• 20% of staff said they experience 
harassment, bullying or abuse 
from staff compared with a 
national average of 24%

The bottom four results for UHS 
where we compared least favourably 
compared with other acute trusts in 
England were:

• 50% of staff said hand washing 
material are always available 
compared with a national average 
of 60%

• 74% of staff said they were 
working extra hours compared 
with a national average of 70%

• Staff motivation scored 3.8 on 
a scale of 1-5 compared with a 
national average of 3.86

• 36% of staff said they had a well-
structured appraisal compared 
with a national average of 38%

We are developing our actions plans 
to address key finding in the staff 
survey and these focus on:

• Areas where the Trust is ranked 
below average or in the lowest 
20% of acute trusts nationally;

• Areas where staff experience has 

deteriorated;
• Areas where there is a notable 

difference in results between 
care groups or divisions when 
benchmarked against the rest of 
the trust and national results.

Increase levels of employee 
wellbeing and engagement
The Francis Report and Keogh 
Review have illustrated the 
importance of organisational 
culture and good staff engagement 
in improving patient experience 
and patient safety outcomes. The 
following section demonstrates 
some of the ways in which we 
engage with our staff and listen to 
what they have to tell us about 
our organisation.

Health and wellbeing forum
The health and wellbeing forum is 
chaired by the director of human 
resources (HR). The remit of the 
group is to develop services that are 
crucial to staff health and wellbeing. 
This includes:
 
• Assessing the main risks to health 

and wellbeing faced by staff
• Providing the right kind of health 

and wellbeing services for staff
• Ensuring staff have equal access to 

health and wellbeing services
• Helping managers to understand 

the connection between good 
staff health and wellbeing and top 
quality clinical outcomes

• Ensuring that managers are 
implementing national guidance 
on promoting good health

• Monitoring how health and 
wellbeing is covered in our 
management training

• Enabling managers to support 
staff with mental health problems.

Staff partnership forums
We have an active network of 
partnership forums at both divisional 
and Trust level where managers, staff 

and trade unions come together 
to discuss the local impact of 
national and Trust wide initiatives, 
local developments, resource and 
service changes. Managers work 
in partnership with staff side to 
consult and negotiate on changes 
which affect staff employment. The 
Trust-wide staff partnership forums 
have a remit for the formal processes 
relating to collective bargaining and 
for reaching collective agreements 
on behalf of Trust staff in matters 
relating to their employment.  

Keeping staff engaged
Staff are also kept in the picture 
via our monthly Core Brief system, 
weekly all-staff emails and intranet. 
They can attend regular members’ 
events, chief executive’s drop-in 
sessions, Members’ Council meetings 
and Trust Board meetings.

We have appointed a full-time 
internal communications manager, 
who has led on our first staff 
communications survey. The results 
will help us plan how we can most 
effectively communicate with our 
staff in the future.

Equality and diversity
The Trust recognises that equality 
is about treating individuals fairly, 
promoting equality and eliminating 
all forms of discrimination and 
harassment. We understand that 
diversity is about valuing differences 
for the benefit of relationships 
between the Trust, patients, staff, 
volunteers and the public. It is about 
treating everyone with dignity 
and respect.

UHS values equality and is committed 
to tackling and eradicating 
discrimination in the widest sense. We 
operate a zero tolerance approach to 
all forms of harassment, discrimination 
and intimidation. As a public sector 
organisation we are required to meet 
the Public Sector Equality Duty and 
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show our compliance with the Equality 
Act (2010). We do this through 
the implementation of the Equality 
Delivery System (EDS).

In November 2013, the NHS 
launched EDS2, a refreshed and 
more streamlined EDS. Of the 18 
outcomes, 16 remain the same and 
two have been replaced with new 
outcomes. The grading review and 
objectives are published on the Trust 
website and can be accessed via the 
equality and diversity pages.

Governance structure for 
equality and diversity
We recognise that responsibility 
for ensuring an all-inclusive culture 
begins at the top of the organisation, 
with the Trust Board holding 
corporate accountability for the 
appropriate governance of equality 
and diversity within the Trust.
The new governance structure for 
equality and diversity introduced in 
2013, that resulted in the creation 
of an executive equality committee, 
provides a strategic oversight on 
the equality agenda and provides 
improved assurance to Trust Board. 
An EDS operational group was set 
up in November 2013 to provide 
support to the leads for each of the 
18 outcomes for EDS2 and to allow 
for a central repository for collation 
of the evidence for each.

Celebrating diversity 
conference 2013
In September 2013, we held our first 
annual diversity conference for staff and 
managers. The conference focussed 
on the protected characteristics of 
age, disability and sexual orientation. 
This included an opening address by 
the chairman, presentations from the 
chief executive and director of HR, an 
interactive forum theatre session and 
workshops on each characteristic, 
including one facilitated by Stonewall. 
The keynote address was given by 
Miriam Margolyes and the closing 
address was given by Lena Samuels, the 

non-executive director who leads on 
equality and diversity. The day 
was extremely well received and has 
led to the Trust planning a 
programme of short workshops to 
raise cultural awareness.

Staff networks
Following the successful introduction 
of a staff network for black and 
minority ethnic staff in 2011, a 
further three staff networks were 
introduced in 2013: long-term illness 
and disability; lesbian, gay, bisexual 
and transgender; and faith. Each 
network is working with the Trust to 
improve conditions for its members 
– the ethnicity inclusive network (EIN) 
is focusing on equal opportunities 
for all staff, the long-term illness 
and disability focus group (LID) is 
working with our estates department 
to improve access for staff and 
patients. The lesbian, gay, bisexual and 
transgender network (LGBT) is using 
our workplace equality index feedback 
from the LGB charity Stonewall as an 
action plan to achieve a top 100 place 
by 2018. The staff faith network is 
working with our catering department 
to ensure food is labelled well enough 
to allow staff and visitors to the 
canteen to make an informed decision 
about the food choices they make.

Support for staff with a disability
Our recruitment policy sets out our 
commitment to supporting disabled 
applicants for vacancies available at 
the Trust. Disabled applicants who 
meet the essential, measurable criteria 
for a post must always be shortlisted. 
Further specific, written reasons 
for not shortlisting any applicant 
with a disability are required and 
the same evidence is necessary for 
candidates with a disability who have 
been shortlisted but not appointed. 
Disabled applicants cannot be treated 
less favourably as a result of their 
disability. Disability is not a reason 
to turn down an otherwise suitable 
applicant. Purposeful discussion 
about meeting the needs of the job 

and any adaptations, which might 
be necessary, must take place with 
applicants with disabilities, with the 
aim of overcoming any obstacles in 
their employment.

Likewise, the Trust is committed to 
supporting any member of staff 
who becomes disabled while 
employed here and will consider all 
reasonable adjustments to help them 
return to work, including re-training 
where appropriate.

We have a long-term illness and 
disability network group as part of 
our overall approach to equality and 
this allows for productive debate 
on issues associated with disability, 
action planning an improvements to 
staff experience.

Support for staff raising concerns
In October 2013, the Trust launched 
its new raising concerns / whistle 
blowing helpline. This is a dedicated 
internal helpline for staff to report 
their concerns or give information 
about any ‘wrongdoings’ within 
the Trust. Examples of such actions 
may include the physical abuse of 
people using our services, clinical 
malpractice or dangerous patient 
care, practice which compromises 
patient safety, financial impropriety 
such as the falsification of claims, 
records or accounts, putting others 
at serious risk by failures to act or 
withholding information on known 
dangers to health and safety.  

The helpline is available weekdays 
between 8am to 6pm with an answer 
machine available from 6pm to 8am 
(including weekends). We also have a 
new ‘raising concerns’ email address 
for staff to use if they prefer this 
method of communication. 

Both the telephone helpline and 
the email inbox will be managed 
by senior managers from HR, 
the patient safety team and the 
governance team. 
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Building a high-performing culture
Staff appraisals 
We continue to drive up appraisal 
performance with 90% of staff having 
received an annual appraisal by the end 
of the year. We aim to achieve a target 
of 96% by June 2014.  

Improving the people management 
skills of operational managers
A targeted programme of 
management training has resulted 
in more than 440 line and middle 
managers receiving training so far 
this year in: 
• Absence management 
• Undertaking formal investigations
• Recruitment and selection 
•  Appraisal. 

Create an employer brand where 
UHS is recognised as a great 
place to work.
Staff attitude survey
The Mid Staffordshire NHS 
Foundation Trust public enquiry 
illustrated how the culture of the NHS 
in every Trust is critical to being able 
to deliver safe and compassionate 
care. One of our Trust values ‘Patients 
First’ mirrors the government’s 
‘Patients First and Foremost’. 
The national staff survey takes a 
temperature test on how well we 
are performing culturally.

The survey takes place annually and 
the results enable us to compare our 
performance with that of other NHS 

Trusts. The Department of Health, Care 
Quality Commission and other external 
stakeholders use our staff survey results 
to monitor our performance. The results 
are important because they enable us 
to focus on the areas where our staff 
report there are issues and to put into 
place any actions to address shortfalls.

For our 2013 staff survey, we achieved 
a response rate of 59%, which was a 
2% increase on the previous year.

Friends and Family Test for staff
In April 2014, all acute Trusts will be 
required to implement the national 
Friends and Family Test for staff. This 
involves a quarterly survey of all Trust 
employees to establish their response 
to the following two questions:

• How likely are you to recommend this 
organisation to friends and family if 
they need care or treatment?

• How likely are you to recommend 
this organisation to friends and 
family as a place to work?

This new survey will be implemented 
in addition to the annual national staff 
survey and will enable us to understand 
more fully how individual staff groups 
feel about the organisation.

Maximising cost savings and 
efficiencies
Staff absence 
The Trust continues to work hard to 
drive down staff absence rates. In 

2013 our absence rates fell further 
to 3.4%. We continue to use our 
award leading programme of “Return 
to Health” where our occupational 
health and HR teams take proactive 
steps to help staff return into the 
workplace after a period of absence. 

Staffing status report and headroom
A monthly staffing status report 
has been developed to inform 
and support decisions about staff 
scheduling and planning for absence 
in order to ensure safe staffing levels 
are maintained, patient flows are 
improved and overall productivity of 
the workforce is increased. 

Responsive HR services 
Our HR operations team has been 
working hard to review recruitment and 
employee relations processes in order 
to provide a more responsive service 
to our managers and improve overall 
efficiency and cost saving. Recruitment 
office hours have been extended to 
cover longer opening hours during the 
week and Saturday morning services 
for pre-employment checks. Our 
recruitment timescales have decreased 
through better use of technologies 
such as the electronic Disclosure and 
Barring Service (DBS), which undertakes 
pre-employment screening checks 
on applicants prior to them starting 
work at the Trust. Previously a Criminal 
Records Bureau (CRB) check would 
take on average eight weeks, whereas 
the electronic DBS checks now take on 
average four days to complete.

Year ended 31 March 2014
Number

Year ended 31 March 2013
Number

Total days lost 59,897 62,033

Total staff years 7,696 7,320

Average working days lost 7.7 8.5

Total staff employed In period (headcount) 7,938 7,472

Total staff employed In period with no absence (headcount) 2,959 2,734

Percentage staff with no sick leave 37.3% 36.6%

Staff absence
Staff sickness absence during the year was as follows:
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Delivering for our patients 
The national Friends and Family Test 
was rolled out across our hospitals 
in 2013/14 and more than 90% 
of patients who took part said 
they would be ‘extremely likely’ or 
‘likely’ to recommend services at 
Southampton General Hospital and 
Princess Anne Hospital to a family 
member or friend.

This year we also scored highly in 
the new patient and public 
inspections on quality of food, 
cleanliness and privacy.

As part of the national Patient-
Led Assessments of the Care 
Environment (PLACE) inspection 
programme, thousands of 
people joined NHS staff across 
England to score all wards against 
150 standards.

The new assessment method, 
introduced in April to replace the 
Patient Environment Action Team 
(PEAT), covers everything from 
cleanliness, condition, appearance 
and maintenance of patient areas, to 
food and hydration for patients and 
privacy and dignity.

All four sites – Southampton General 
and the Princess Anne hospitals, 
hospice Countess Mountbatten 

House and the New Forest Birth 
Centre – scored above the national 
average of 96% for cleanliness, 
with Countess Mountbatten House 
recording top marks.
Additionally, all four scored above 
the average of 85% for food and 
hydration, which included assessment 
of choice, taste, temperature and 
availability over 24 hours, and above 
the 89% average for condition and 
maintenance of sites.

During 2013/14, 93.8% of patients 
were treated and admitted or 
treated and discharged within four 
hours of arrival to our emergency 
department, eye casualty and the 
minor injuries unit. While this is still 
slightly below the national target 
of 95%, the Trust is proud of the 
improvement delivered for patients 
by staff working together across the 
whole system. 

Similarly there are fewer patients 
waiting for treatment who have to 
wait longer than 18 weeks from being 
referred. We have treated 10.2% more 
patients compared to last year but 
further improvement is still needed to 
meet the national targets. 

Following a review by our independent 
regulator, Monitor, we now have 

an action plan in place to support 
us in reaching these targets more 
consistently in the coming months.

The Care Quality Commission visited 
the Trust in July 2013 and rated 
us as “fully compliant” with all 16 
essential standards of quality and 
safety across our three sites.

During the unannounced visit, 
inspectors toured 11 wards and 
departments, which included 
medicine for older people, trauma 
and orthopaedics and general 
surgery, and talked to 27 patients, 
two visitors and 44 members of staff 
to canvass opinions.

The visit, which took place six 
months after the CQC raised a 
“moderate concern” over staffing 
levels in some departments at 
Southampton General Hospital, 
found that staffing had been 
improved and there “were enough 
qualified, skilled and experienced 
staff to meet people’s needs”.

In a summary report, inspectors said 
patients “were positive about their 
experiences and happy with the 
way they were cared for” and “told 
us staff were available when they 
needed them”.



Strategic report
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Looking forward
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New diagnosis equipment 
for lung cancer
Our doctors began using a new 
device to detect lung cancers more 
quickly and accurately, and without 
major surgery.

The hi-tech gadget, called an 
endobronchial ultrasound, uses a 
highly sensitive camera fitted on the 
end of a telescope probe to examine 
the chest in detail after being fed in 
via the mouth.

Once doctors have located small 
lymph nodes or tissue that require 
further investigation, they can 
direct a biopsy needle into the area 
and remove a sample within the 
30-minute procedure. This is looked 
at by a pathologist during the test 
so patients leave knowing a firm 
diagnosis has been made.

Previously, patients who required 

lymph node testing would have 
undergone invasive chest surgery 
under general anaesthetic and faced 
a three-day hospital stay.

Pioneering project to support 
young patients
Medical staff at Southampton’s 
teaching hospitals launched a 
pioneering project to help support 
young patients with chronic medical 
conditions. 

Patients aged 11 to 18 requiring 
ongoing specialist care are now seen 
in dedicated clinics at Southampton 
General Hospital to help prepare them 
for the transition to adult services. 

Led by Dr Arvind Nagra, staff have 
developed the Ready, Steady, Go 
programme to ensure youngsters 
have a better understanding of their 
conditions and treatment and are 

developing well personally, socially and 
emotionally. The programme has been 
a huge success and is increasingly 
being used by other hospitals across 
the country to improve the experience 
of their younger patients.

Liver transplant patients have 
increased risk of sight loss
Eye experts at Southampton General 
Hospital discovered people who have 
received liver transplants have an 
increased risk of developing age-
related macular degeneration (AMD), 
which is a leading cause of blindness 
in the elderly.

In a pioneering study, a team led 
by Professor Andrew Lotery, found 
that almost two-thirds (65%) of 
patients had some form of AMD 
and suggested the introduction of 
regular optician monitoring for all 
liver transplant recipients.

City doctors pioneer video 
library to train anaesthetists in 
developing world
Southampton doctors created a 
pioneering video library to help train 
anaesthetists in some of the world’s 
poorest countries.

The resource, developed by the 
department of anaesthesia and 
the learning support team at UHS, 
contains 30 videos for use as an 
educational tool for beginners or 
a refresher course for practising 
anaesthetists.

Initially designed as part of the Trust’s 
ongoing overseas link with Nepal, 
which launched in 2007 to improve 
skills, training methods and facilities 
in the country, it is now being used 
in hospitals across Uganda, Rwanda 
and Malawi.

Highlights of the year
April 2013

May 2013
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Southampton brain surgeon 
among country’s top 100 clinical 
leaders in English healthcare
Paul Grundy, a consultant 
neurosurgeon at Southampton 
General Hospital, featured in the 
first Health Service Journal list of the 
most influential clinicians in English 
healthcare today. The guide identifies 
those making the greatest impact on 
health policy, service transformation 
and innovation. 

Paul is a pioneer of awake brain 
tumour surgery in the UK. His 
achievements include overseeing the 
creation of a neuro-oncology surgical 
fellow post to increase capacity for 
brain tumour patients and reduce 
waiting times. 

Further successes are the development 
of day-of-surgery admission with 
pre-assessment of elective cases and 
the opening of an eight-bed unit 
which has the lowest length of stay for 
neurosurgery in the country. 

Lower mortality for heart 
surgery patients
Heart surgery patients at 
Southampton’s teaching hospitals 
have a better chance of surviving 
planned operations than at any 
other centre in the UK. 

The latest Blue Book Online 
report, published by the Society 
for Cardiothoracic Surgery, shows 
the cardiac surgery team at 
Southampton General Hospital 
is the sixth largest by number of 
procedures and has the lowest risk 
adjusted mortality rate. 

Results also showed there were 
fewer than two deaths for every 100 
patients in Southampton compared 
to the national average of more than 
two – a survival rate of 98.52%, 
which is the best in the UK.

Ground break event for new 
parent accommodation
Building work began on a 
53-bedroom Ronald McDonald 
House on the Southampton 
General Hospital site.

The house will have communal 
living facilities, including kitchens, 
lounges, playrooms and a laundry 
room, enabling families to stay close 
to their child and maintain a degree 
of normal family life. 

Every bedroom in the house has 
will be en-suite and will have a 
telephone linked directly to the 
children’s ward.

Families not staying in the house will 
also be able to access the facilities 
and have a break from the ward or 
cook a meal.

New partnership means 
wider treatment options 
for fertility patients
People who want to have children 
are benefiting from a new 
partnership between fertility experts 
in Southampton and Portsmouth.

This collaboration between 
Complete Fertility Centre 
Southampton and Portsmouth 
Fertility Centre brings together 
leading specialists in fertility 
medicine and embryology across 
the two sites – allowing patients 
access to a broader range of 
treatment options.

Until now, Portsmouth Fertility Centre, 
based at the Queen Alexandra 
Hospital, could only offer investigative 
fertility tests and scans, intrauterine 
insemination (IUI) and follow up.

The new relationship allows patients 
to benefit from the full range of 
assisted conception techniques 
offered by the NHS including in 
vitro fertilisation (IVF) and intra-
cytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI).

June 2013
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Eye experts develop UK’s first 
injection ‘conveyor belt’ for 
AMD patients
Eye experts in Southampton 
developed the UK’s first ‘conveyor 
belt’ system to give patients with 
age-related macular degeneration 
(AMD) quicker access to sight-
saving injections. 

The £185,000 suite consists of four 
open treatment bays, designed to 
replace one closed consulting room. 
This is a change that is thought to 
quadruple the number of patients 
able to be treated in a single session.

AMD is a leading cause of blindness 
in the elderly and occurs when 
the cells of the macula become 
damaged and stop working, causing 
a loss of central vision. 

Although there is not currently 
a cure or treatment for the most 
common form of the condition, 
known as dry AMD, wet macular 
degeneration can be stabilised or 

improved using a new class of drugs 
administered by injection called 
anti-VEGF agents. 

Previously, the 1,500 patients who 
attend Southampton General 
Hospital’s eye unit for monthly 
injections would sit in the waiting 
area before making their way to a 
single consulting room. 

Under the new system, four patients 
will be taken directly to the four 
treatment bays, given an injection, 
escorted away and immediately 
replaced by the next patient as a 
consultant moves along the chain. 

Doctors pioneer use of ‘bug’ device 
to protect critically ill patients
Doctors in Southampton became 
the first in the world to fit critically ill 
patients with a revolutionary bug-like 
device to detect dangerous blood 
sugar levels.

The hi-tech gadget, which consists 

of two probes with four sensors that 
are hooked into the skin and covered 
with a dressing, enables doctors 
to offer patients round-the-clock 
protection against life-threatening 
infections or seizures for the duration 
of their time in intensive care.

Many seriously ill patients, including 
those with diabetes, suffer high levels 
of glucose in the blood as a result 
of the body’s reaction to trauma or 
surgery and, as this increases the risk 
of infection, levels are usually lowered 
with infusions of insulin. 

However, as this treatment can force 
glucose levels to drop too low and 
cause seizures or coma, patients 
require regular glucose monitoring. 

In the past, this was managed using 
traditional blood test analysis, which 
would only take place every two 
to four hours – leaving patients 
vulnerable if sugar levels increased or 
dropped without warning.

Macmillan Cancer Information 
and Support Centre expansion
Work to expand the Macmillan Cancer 
Information and Support Centre at 
Southampton General Hospital began.

The aim was to create additional 
space and a larger activity room, 
allowing services to expand, 
including the cancer survivorship 
programmes, financial aide, 

complementary therapies and 
information library.

More than 12,000 people visited the 
centre or accessed its services last year.

July 2013

August 2013



University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

29

Hospital open day
Members of the public got the 
chance to go behind the scenes of 
hit TV programme Trauma: Level 
One as part of our action-packed 
open day.  

Trauma: Level One offered a glimpse 
into the life-saving work of the major 
trauma centre at Southampton 
General Hospital and was screened 
on national television in September 
and December. 

The programme followed ambulance 
and air ambulance crews as they 
rescued seriously and critically ill 
patients from across the region - and 
the hospital teams who went on to 
treat them.

At our open day, visitors were able 
to meet and talk to doctors, nurses 
and other staff members involved 
with the show. 

They also had the opportunity to 
take virtual tours of the emergency 
department, visit makeshift adult 

and children’s intensive care units, 
tour the helipad, look through 
some of the world’s most powerful 
microscopes in the biomedical 
imaging unit, and visit the Cancer 
Research UK laboratories.

Hospital pharmacy opens
Our new hospital pharmacy opened 
its doors near the main entrance at 
Southampton General.

Hospital prescriptions can be taken 
to the pharmacy and a wide range 
of over-the-counter medicines, 
toiletries, cosmetics, gifts and other 
products can be purchased.

Trust is named country’s most 
improved cancer centre
Cancer patients rated Southampton’s 
university hospitals the most 
improved centre in the country. 

The national cancer patient 
experience survey 2012-13, 
published by NHS England, 

questioned 116,000 inpatient and 
day case patients across 155 NHS 
trusts about their care, treatment 
and communication from doctors 
and nurses. 

The Trust recorded some of the 
highest scores in the country for 
giving patients clear verbal (91%) 
and written (92%) explanations of 
tests, investigations and operations.

Patients also said they were treated 
with respect and dignity and not 
as a set of symptoms (85%), while 
91% rated their overall cancer care 
as ‘excellent’ or ‘very good’, which 
placed UHS among the top 20% of 
trusts nationwide. 

In addition, three-quarters (75%) 
of patients had confidence in the 
doctors and nurses treating them, 
which is up 8% on 2011-12 results, 
while more patients said their 
families were given the opportunity 
to talk to hospital doctors (69%).

September 2013
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Bowel cancer patients have 
better chance of survival
Bowel cancer patients in 
Southampton have a better chance 
of surviving major surgery.

The national bowel cancer audit 
2013, published in partnership with 
the Association of Coloproctology 
of Great Britain and Ireland, 
showed the team of six surgeons 
at Southampton General Hospital 
performed 274 operations with 
one of the lowest adjusted 
mortality rates.

As part of the analysis, each hospital 
trust received a percentage score 
based on how ill patients were, 
how high-risk their procedures were 
and how many survived, with the 
national average at 3.1% deaths. 

If the number was lower it showed 
a better than average survival rate 
and University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust’s was 1.8%. 

This means there were fewer than 
two deaths for every 100 patients 
in Southampton compared to the 
national average of three – a survival 
rate of 98.2%, which is among the 
best in the UK. 

Five decades of national play 
week in hospitals
Our play specialists planned a fun-
filled programme of events for young 
patients to celebrate 50 years of 
national play during hospital week.

Patients at Southampton Children’s 
Hospital and on-site rehabilitation 

centre Bursledon House were able 
to get their faces painted, meet Star 
Wars soldiers the Stormtroopers and 
take part in messy play using paints 
and play dough.

The team raised awareness of 
the value of play for sick young 
people and gave an insight into 
the preparation and distraction 
items used to soften the hospital 
experience, including the novel 
debilitating fears clinic.

Aimed at young patients with 
an overwhelming fear of certain 
medical procedures, the clinic sees 
play specialists working closely with 
child psychology and pain teams to 
provide a relaxed atmosphere and 
help children express their concerns 
to staff.

October 2013
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New chief executive for 
Southampton’s hospitals
Fiona Dalton, former deputy chief 
executive and chief operating officer 
at Great Ormond Street Hospital for 
Children, took up the post of chief 
executive following the departure of 
Mark Hackett. 

After graduating from Oxford 
University with a degree in human 
sciences, Fiona began her NHS  
career in Oxfordshire in 1994.

Children’s eye centre launched
Clinicians and researchers at UHS 
developed a leading-edge treatment 
and research centre for children with 
eye problems.

The paediatric ophthalmology clinic, 

based at Southampton General 
Hospital’s eye unit, is the first in the 
region to offer a complete range of 
services following the addition of 
dedicated children’s cataract and eye 
movement clinics, as well as research 
into a variety of genetic eye disorders 
affecting children and babies.

Staff now see patients ranging 
from birth to 18 years old and treat 
everything from complex squint 
and lazy eye problems, to 
congenital cataracts, eye 
movement disorders and inherited 
genetic conditions.

Jay Self, one of the centre’s 
four consultant paediatric 
ophthalmologists, is leading research 
into eye movement disorders, 
particularly congenital nystagmus, 

which is also referred to as 
‘wobbly eye’ because it causes 
uncontrolled eye movement from 
birth and can be associated with 
a variety of seemingly unrelated 
medical problems.

Interventional radiology team 
recognised for 24/7 service
Our hospitals were recognised 
nationally for offering round-the-
clock access to the latest image-
guided procedures.

The interventional radiology service 
at Southampton General and the 
Princess Anne hospitals has become 
one of only seven in England and 
Wales to be awarded exemplar 
status by the British Society of 
Interventional Radiology (BSIR).

November 2013
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Hospital trust honours 
‘incredible’ volunteer
A volunteer who has dedicated three 
decades to helping staff and patients 
at Southampton’s hospitals was 
among those honoured at a long 
service ceremony.

Former Royal Navy servicewoman 
Ivy Abraham, now 95, received a 
30-year award for services to the 
surgical outpatient department.

The ex-county rifle shooting champion 
still comes in from 10am to 2pm twice 
a week – which involves catching two 
buses to reach Southampton General 
Hospital – to help staff complete 
administrative tasks.

Southampton doctors among 
first to offer cutting-edge liver 
cancer treatment
Doctors at Southampton’s university 
hospitals are among the first in 
the country to offer a cutting-edge 
treatment for liver cancer.

UHS has become one of only 

ten NHS trusts in England to use 
Selective Internal Radiation Therapy 
(SIRT) to treat cancer which has 
spread to the organ from the bowel.

The technique, which has been 
shown to improve survival by 
around five months for patients 
whose chemotherapy has been 
unsuccessful, involves injecting 
millions of tiny radioactive beads 
directly into the site of the 
liver tumour.

SIRT is the first treatment to be funded 
under the new NHS ‘Commissioning 
through Evaluation’ policy, which is 
designed to improve the availability 
of the latest cancer treatments, with 
UHS and the John Radcliffe Hospital in 
Oxford the only designated centres in 
the south of England.

Hospital opens new state-of-the-
art teenage cancer unit
Patients, staff and guests marked the 
completion of a new £2.4m specialist 
unit for young people with cancer at 
Southampton General Hospital.

The state-of-the-art ten-bed facility, 
funded by Teenage Cancer Trust, 
gives 16 to 24-year-olds from 
across the south of England and 
the Channel Islands access to a 
dedicated treatment centre for the 
first time.

Previously, these patients were 
treated on either a children’s ward 
with patients much younger than 
them or on an adult ward alongside 
older or elderly patients.

The unit, opened by TCT patron 
Sarah, Duchess of York, features six 
inpatient en-suite bedrooms with 
sofa beds for family and friends to 
stay overnight, as well as four day 
care beds. 

It has a large social room where 
young people can play pool, listen to 
music, play games consoles or watch 
films on the latest Smart TVs, while 
there is also a kitchen where meals 
can be cooked at any time of the 
day or night.

December 2013
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Southampton researchers trial 
new meningitis B vaccine
Doctors in Southampton began 
trialling a new vaccine that could 
offer children across the UK “broad 
protection” against meningitis B. 

The study, being conducted at 
the NIHR Wellcome Trust Clinical 
Research Facility at Southampton 
General Hospital, will investigate the 
effectiveness of the vaccine, known 

as bivalent rLP2086, in 50 children 
and young people between the ages 
of 10 and 18.

This strain of meningitis, known as 
serogroup B, is a highly aggressive 
bacterial infection that causes 
swelling of the brain and spinal cord 
and can lead to brain damage or 
blood poisoning.

Around 1,870 people, mainly 

children under five years or babies 
under a year old, contract the 
infection every year – and one in ten 
survivors will have major physical or 
neurological disabilities.

While a vaccine which protects 
against another strain – meningitis C 
– is given as part of the nationwide 
childhood vaccination schedule, 
there is no routine vaccination 
currently available for type B.

Pair lead future of clinical research
Two of the Southampton’s leading 
clinical and academic health experts 
joined forces to transform the 
delivery of research across 
the region.

Professor John Primrose, a consultant 
surgeon at Southampton General 
Hospital, and Professor Robert 
Peveler, chair in liaison psychiatry 

at the University of Southampton, 
were appointed clinical directors of 
the new National Institute for Health 
Research (NIHR) Clinical Research 
Network for Wessex.

The network, hosted by UHS, 
covers research activity in Dorset, 
South Wiltshire, Hampshire and 
Isle of Wight.

It is one of 15 regional groups that 
form the national NIHR Clinical 
Research Network, which provides 
funding to hospitals and surgeries 
to pay for nurses, scans, x-rays and 
other costs associated with carrying 
out clinical research in the NHS.  

January 2014

February 2014
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Southampton first to become 
world centre of excellence for 
asthma and allergy
The asthma, allergy and immunology 
service at Southampton’s teaching 
hospitals has been named a 
world centre of excellence for 
achievements in clinical innovation 
and research.
 
The endorsement by the World 
Allergy Organisation means city 
experts will now help to lead 
training, research and education 
internationally over a three-year 
term. It is currently the only service in 
the world to hold this status.
 
In addition to hosting one of the 

largest allergy and immunology 
centres in the country at 
Southampton General Hospital, 
the department has an extensive 
research programme which aims 
to discover novel ways to prevent 
the development of asthma and 
allergy, as well as finding better 
treatments for sufferers. The city’s 
researchers have overseen a number 
of groundbreaking international 
projects in recent years, including 
the development of new diagnostic 
technology which showed attacks of 
asthma were triggered mostly by the 
common cold, as well as discovering 
the first novel asthma gene 
(ADAM33) in 2001 in collaboration 
with colleagues in the US. Through 

the NIHR Southampton Respiratory 
Biomedical Research Unit, staff 
are currently leading cutting-edge 
investigations into better ways of 
treating severe forms of asthma and 
the use of vaccines during infancy to 
prevent the development of asthma 
and allergic conditions in children.
 
The department, which is closely 
linked with the David Hide Asthma 
and Allergy Research Centre on the 
Isle of Wight, is one of only six in 
England to care for both adults and 
children from diagnosis to treatment 
of allergic disease, while the Master 
of Science (MSc) in allergy course at 
the University of Southampton is one 
of only two in the world. 

March 2014
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Conditions continued to be 
challenging for the Trust during 
2013/14 as the resourcing 
constraints in the local health 
economy and capacity pressures 
on beds had an adverse impact on 
financial performance, particularly in 
the latter months of the 
financial year.

The Group delivered a surplus for 
the year of £0.4m. Excluding the 
activities of Southampton Hospital 
Charity, and before charging net 
impairments of £0.5m, the Trust 
and UHS Pharmacy Limited delivered 
a surplus of £1.3m which was 
£1.0m below plan. This result is 
after accounting for a non recurrent 
charge relating to the termination 
of a lease of £3.9m, so reflects an 
underlying surplus of £5.2m.

The Trust received significantly more 
income from its commissioners than 
planned and saw significant levels of 
unplanned clinical activity. Delivery 
of cost improvement programmes 
was challenging and the Trust 
under delivered by £0.5m against 
the planned savings of £28.5m for 
the 12 months to 31 March 2014. 
This delivery included a level of non 
recurrent schemes which fell short 
of the full year effect of recurrent 
schemes delivered part way through 
the year.

Total capital expenditure for the 
period was £26.8m, across a variety 
of schemes. The programme sought 
to achieve a balance between 
maintaining and replenishing the 

asset infrastructure, reducing risk, 
improving the patient experience 
and, in particular facilitating new 
and improved capacity. Levels of 
capital expenditure will continue at 
relatively modest levels given the 
Trust’s constrained liquidity.

Net assets employed at 31 March 
2014 were £254.8m, with net 
current assets at that date of £3.5m.

Outstanding borrowings, relating 
to loans from the Department of 
Health, finance leases and the Trust’s 
privately financed energy scheme, 
totalled £54.0m. Cash balances were 
£35.3m at the period end.

The Trust marginally delivered a 
Continuity of Service risk rating 
(CoSRR) of 3 at the year end (out 
of 4, where 1 is very high risk and 
4 very low risk). This metric was 
introduced by Monitor on the 1st 
October 2013 as a replacement to 
the previous Financial Risk Rating.

Allowing for the anticipated higher 
level of donated income in 2014/15, 
the Trust’s plan will deliver a slight 
improvement on the 2013/14 
underlying surplus. This will not 
enable the Trust to significantly 
improve either its underlying liquidity 
or capital service ratios.

Liquidity (the amount of cash and 
working capital available to the 
Trust) continues to be relatively 
tight. It is one of the key metrics 
by which Monitor, the foundation 
trust regulator, assesses the Trust’s 

level of financial risk. The other ratio 
included in the CoSRR is the capital 
servicing ratio and this will become 
tighter during 2014/15 as the Trust 
benefits from the installation of 
significant new radiology imaging 
equipment under its imaging 
infrastructure support services 
contract. This will improve the Trust’s 
capability to deliver high quality 
imaging for the benefits of patients. 

Although the Trust is forecasting a 
satisfactory risk rating of “3” for the 
year the Trust will have only marginal 
headroom above a risk rating of 
“2”. The plan requires delivery of a 
very challenging cost improvement 
programme of £28.3m.

The NHS faces significant challenges 
as it seeks to continue to deliver 
major efficiencies against a 
background of minimal real terms 
funding growth in order to meet 
ongoing increases in demand for its 
services. The key to financial health 
and the Trust’s ability to continue 
to provide high quality services will 
therefore be successful delivery of 
saving plans. The Trust has a good 
track record of delivering these plans 
whilst maintaining quality to meet 
the needs of patients, staff and 
the public.

Alastair Matthews
Finance Director and Deputy CEO

Finance director’s review 
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Employees
At the year end, the trust employed 9,257 people, the analysis between male and female staff is as follows: 
     

 Male Female

Non executive directors 5 2

Executive directors 3 4

Managers 45 63

Employees 1,959 7,176

2,012 7,245
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Looking to the future
Providing our patients with the 
best possible care will remain 
our priority as we look towards 
the future.

An exciting year lies ahead as the 
Trust expands its capacity, enabling 
us to treat patients more promptly 
and deliver our challenging 
operational targets.

As well as building two more 
operating theatres, we are 
expanding our radiology and 
endoscopy facilities, while 
Southampton Children’s Hospital 
continues to take shape.

Looking further into the future, 
we envisage ongoing growth in 
our acute and specialist hospital 
services as patient demand 
continues to rise.

We want to ensure patients who 
need specialist hospital treatment 
can get the care they need, when 
they need it, as well as making sure 

arrangements are in place for those 
who can be treated closer to home.

To achieve this, we will be 
working closely with our local 
NHS and social care partners, 
and other community services 
to provide better, more efficient 
integration to ensure that wherever 
possible patients are treated in 
their own homes.

Our staff are key, both now 
and in the future, and we will 
be working hard to ensure we 
retain and recruit highly skilled 
individuals from all walks of life. 
We continue to be committed 
to educating and training the 
healthcare professionals of today 
and tomorrow.

In the area of clinical research we 
are also planning to develop our 
capacity to undertake successful 
clinical trials as well as playing 
an important role supporting the 
establishment of the NIHR Wessex 

Clinical Research Network. 

We will also be working with 
our stakeholders to review our 
2020Vision strategy, given the 
changes that have taken place 
locally and nationally since the 
document was written in 2007.

All this will be against the 
backdrop of an ever tightening 
financial environment.

The need to meet increasing 
demand for our services and 
ecruit trained staff, as well 
as deliver a significant cost 
improvement programme, 
remain our biggest challenges

Approved by the board on 
28 May 2014

Fiona Dalton
Chief executive
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The purpose of this quality 
report is to hold our 
organisation to account for 
the quality of the healthcare 
services we deliver.  

We do this by presenting our 
achievements against the quality 
priorities previously set for 2013/14, 
alongside national priorities and 
the wider quality and service 
improvement work we have 
completed. We also demonstrate 
how we will continue to enhance 
the quality of services we provide, 
and the details of our quality 
priorities for 2014/15 which have 
been developed in conjunction 
with our staff, patients, carers and 
external stakeholders.

Having started in post in October 
2013, I have been struck by the 
huge sense of pride staff have in 
this organisation, their motivation, 
their commitment to delivering 
excellent care and continual 
improvement. This is vital as we 
know that staff happiness has a 

direct impact on the quality care 
that we provide and on outcomes 
for patients.

This year has seen unprecedented 
demand for our services. We have 
struggled to meet this demand 
and deliver the national targets of 
patients waiting no longer than four 
hours in the emergency department 
and patients being treated within 
18 weeks. In collaboration with 
our partner organisations, we have 
been working hard to get this right 
for our patients and have opened 
additional capacity to support 
future delivery.  

In 2013, we saw the publication 
of the Francis report and the 
Department of Health response. 
This was following the failings of 
Mid Staffordshire Hospital to its 
patients. We have undertaken 
listening exercises in our own 
response and have developed our 
own plan of action to ensure those 
failings do not happen here. There 
were many recommendations 

made by Francis, but an underlying 
theme was one of culture. We are 
determined to embed an open, 
transparent culture, where we listen 
and respond to staff and patients. 

Given the demands on our service, 
I am pleased that where we have 
focused our action in last year’s 
priorities we have achieved a great 
deal. There is, however, more to 
be done to continue to improve 
the quality of care for patients. 
Whilst there are challenges ahead, 
our focus remains on the patient, 
the quality of service we provide 
and surpassing that expectation to 
achieve our vision for the future. 

To the best of my knowledge 
and belief the information in this 
document is accurate.

Fiona Dalton
Chief executive

Chief executive statement 
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The graph below indicates the 
increase in demand for our services 
which has now been sustained over 
a four year period. This is reflected 
for inpatients (which includes those 

whose care does not require an 
overnight stay). In summary we 
have seen an increase of 8.5% 
from 2010/11 to more than 
654,927 patients.

Patients are at the centre of 
everything that we do. Our 
ambition is to excel in all 
aspects of acute health care 
delivery for our local community 
and for our wider regional 
tertiary population.

Our quality governance strategy 
provides the direction and focus for 
the organisation and takes a whole 
system approach to continually improve 
standards for patient safety, patient 
experience and clinical outcomes.

This is supported by a range of 
strategies which define our priorities 
in more detail and our model is to 
deliver these through our Patient 
Improvement Framework (PIF), 
which is reviewed and updated 
annually. The PIF is focused around 
four key principle areas:

• Safety
• Experience
• Effectiveness and outcomes
• Performance (national quality
   targets).

Activity levels during 2013/14

Strategy and leadership for 
high quality care

University Hospital 
Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust

Provides
• hospital services for people 

with acute health problems.

Employs
• around 10,000 staff. 

Serves
• 650,000 people who live in 

Southampton, the New Forest, 
Eastleigh and the Test Valley. 

• the residents of the Isle of 
Wight, Channel Islands with 
specialist services.

 

Delivers
• a regional specialist service for 

southern central England.

• major research programmes 
to develop the treatments of 
tomorrow.

• training and education of  our 
current staff as well as the 
healthcare workers of the 
future.

Hospitals
• Southampton General Hospital
• Princess Anne Hospital
• Countess Mountbatten House 
• New Forest Birth Centre  
• Royal South Hants Hospital 
 (some services).
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This section outlines our 
performance in delivering 
the quality priorities we 
agreed in partnership with 
our stakeholders last year. 
It also explains how we have 
developed and agreed our 
priorities for 2014/15. 

Each year we agree our Patient 
Improvement Framework 
(PIF) priorities in consultation 
with frontline staff, patient 
representatives, our council of 
governors, clinical commissioning 
groups and members of the Trust 
Board. The priorities sit in four 
domains – patient safety, patient 
experience, patient outcomes and 
performance. The PIF reflects national 
priorities, the Department of Health’s 
operating framework (2014) and 
commissioning for quality, innovation 
and improvement (CQUIN) target. It 
also includes priorities identified by 
our patients in their feedback and 
complaints and areas where we have 
seen themes of things going wrong 

that require focus. In addition the 
PIF identifies priorities from previous 
years which have been targeted 
for sustainable improvement and 
outlines the strategies that support 
improvements across all of the 
priorities identified. 

With many competing agendas for 
staff the PIF enables them to clearly 
identify their priorities for focus 
but does not negate the need to 
provide good quality care to patients 
delivered by the right people, in the 
right place and at the right time.
We first developed the PIF in 2007 
and have been using it every year 
since so our staff are familiar with it 
and it is embedded in our everyday 
practice. It helps us to clearly identify 
our priorities for improvement 
alongside our daily efforts to ensure 
that high quality care is provided by 
the right people, in the right place 
and at the right time.

Key performance indicators 
(KPIs) are identified in the PIF to 

measure improvement for each 
priority. These are reported on a 
monthly basis through the Trust’s 
performance report and through in 
depth quarterly reports for patient 
experience, safety and outcomes 
which are discussed at the Trust 
Executive Committee, Trust Board 
and with our commissioners. In 
local areas, we display performance 
against our KPIs in our clinical

quality dashboards to ensure there 
is a flow of information from ward 
to board. In ward areas we also 
display our responses to patient 
feedback demonstrating how we 
have acted on the things patients 
have said about us.

Priorities for improving quality 

“All members of staff are 
cheerful friendly and hard 
working. Quite pleasant to 
be here really! Certainly no 
complaints at all.”

“I was terrified going to theatre. The porters were calm 
and reassuring. The nurse that looked after me in the 
pre-op room before anesthetic was excellent, caring, 
understanding, holding my hand and reassuring me. The 
anaesthetist was very nice and relaxed very professional 
and helpful. Having this experience helped me to recover.”
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A review of our performance in 2013/14 

Priorities for outcomes and clinical effectiveness  

We achieved eight of the nine priorities identified last year. The one priority that was not achieved was 
improvements in mortality rates and has been made a priority again in 2014/15.

Last years priorities for clinical outcomes and clinical effectiveness were making improvements in mortality rates, improving 
outcomes for the deteriorating patient and improving the care for older patients with delirium and / or dementia.

The hospital standardised mortality 
ratio (HSMR) is a calculation used 
to monitor death rates in a trust. It 
is based on a subset of diagnoses 
which give rise to around 80 per 
cent of in-hospital deaths. The ratio 
is of observed and expected deaths 
multiplied by 100. Thus if mortality 
levels are higher than would be 
expected, the HSMR will be greater 
than 100.

Measuring hospital performance is 
complex. Within healthcare HSMR is 
used as an indicator of quality that 
measures whether the death rate 
within a hospital is higher or lower 
than expected, compared to the 
death rate across England. However 
there are many reasons why the 
number of deaths in hospital varies so 
it should not be used in isolation, but 
considered with other indicators that 

give a well-rounded view of hospital 
quality and activity.

The table below shows the monthly 
HSMR at UHS from April 2012 – 
January 2014. The HSMR for the  
year to date (April 13 – January 14) 
is 100.01 and almost exactly on the 
midpoint of the expected range 
when compared to the national 
benchmark.

UHS HSMR has remained constant 
since April 2012 but has not fallen 
since April 2013 in line with the trust’s 
internal assurance target. To further 
understand this various actions have 
been taken including:  

• A review of the standards of care 
in areas of unusual/unexplained 
raised HSMR (to date no major 

avoidable cause of death has been 
identified)

• Clinical data validations in areas of 
unusual/unexplained raised HSMR 
when the clinical record is reviewed 
to check if the original data used 
for coding was correct (incorrect 
data leads to inappropriate risk 
stratification and so a spurious 
high HSMR) and if significant 

inaccuracies are identified the 
clinical coded data is changed but 
only in adherence to strict national 
coding rules (to date in some small 
areas of clinical practice significant 
coding errors have been identified 
and a Trust-wide education 
programme for the medical staff 
in relation to the coding process is 
underway

Priority 1: Making improvements in mortality rates and the 
way mortality is measured and evaluated.7
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Early recognition of deterioration 
in a patient’s clinical signs can lead 
to an improved clinical outcome. 
These signs can be used to predict 
the occurrence of cardiac arrest. 
Following the national confidential 
enquiry into patient outcome and 
death (NCEPOD) report “Time to 
Intervene” (2012) improvement in 

the care of deteriorating patients was 
identified as a priority. Survival  can 
be improved with close observation, 
earlier recognition of severity markers 
of risk, senior decision making and 
appropriate admission into critical 
care environments. 

The Trust’s overall aim was to improve 

early recognition and management of 
patients’ deterioration at ward level, 
maintaining ward-level cardiac arrests 
below the outturn in 2012/13 and 
achieving 90% compliance with the 
Trusts monthly acuity audit. The table 
below demonstrates our significant 
achievement in this area during 
2013/14.

• Further strengthening of the 
mortality and morbidity meetings 
within each specialty to ensure 
any lessons relating to potential 
improvements in care are identified

• Service quality reviews where 
members of the Trust, clinical 

commissioning groups and patient 
representatives are invited to 
review the service provided by the 
Trust in a particular care group.  
Currently one review has been 
completed and a further three 
reviews have been scheduled to be 

completed by the end of 2014.
• A high level group within each of 

the four clinical divisions has been 
set up to review mortality data on 
a monthly basis and agree/carry 
out any required investigation or 
corrective action.

The total number of cardiac arrests 
within UHS has decreased during 
2013/2014 by 49 events, a fall of 
26%. This is further classified by a 
reduction of pulseless electrical activity 
(PEA) cardiac arrests by 18.7%, 
ventricular fibrillation (VF) cardiac 
arrests by 52.1% and a reduction in 
asystole as the first presenting rhythm 
by 14.7%.

Focusing on PEA arrests, this type of 
cardiac arrest is the most avoidable 
and has the most scope to detect 
changes in a patient’s condition prior 
to an event occurring. A significant 
achievement has been made in the 
reduction of PEA cardiac arrest. 

A review of each PEA arrest is 
undertaken to share learning and 

raise awareness of contributing 
factors leading to a PEA arrest. An 
increase in training of the recognition 
of the deteriorating adult patient 
has been implemented and this has 
thought to contribute to a reduction 
in the number of cardiac arrests seen 
within the UHS.

Priority 2: Improving outcomes for the deteriorating patient

Cardiac arrests at ward level – performance 2013/14

3

2012/13 2013/14

PEA VF
Asystole
Total arrests

70
ROSC 45 = 64.2%

We achieved a reduction in PEA arrests of 18.7% 
and an improvement in ROSC  of 9.6%

VF 48
ROSC 41 = 85%

23
ROSC 22 = 95.6%

We achieved a reduction in VF arrests of 52.1% and 
an improvement in ROSC of 10.6%

Asystole 54
ROSC 17 = 
31.5%

46
ROSC 21 = 45.6%

We achieved a reduction in asystole arrests of 
14.8% and an improvement in ROSC of 14.1%

Total arrests 188 139 There was a total fall in cardiac arrests of 26%

ROSC: Return of spontaneous circulation. PEA: Pulse-less electrical activity. VF: Ventricular fibrillation
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An project was undertaken to create 
a dementia-friendly community, 
aiming to improve the care for older 
patients with delirium and dementia 
when they are in the acute 
hospital setting.

This was achieved through:

• Commencing a program to 
ensure that all staff in UHS receive 
dementia awareness training.

• Providing enhanced training and 
education to those delivering care

• Identifying and training 
 “dementia champions” in all 

appropriate clinical areas.
• Developing carer support and 

information networks
• Improving the environment 
 within the medicine for older 

people wards to be more 
“dementia friendly”.

• Introduce “This is me” – a tool 
designed to introduce the person 
with dementia to care staff across 
services in order to support 
person-centered care

The training programme was 
received positively and 772 staff 
received classroom training to 
improve their skills and knowledge. 
Information was cascaded to over 
5000 staff via specially produced 
information leaflets.

A greater understanding of the 
needs of people with dementia 
and their carers was developed – 
identified by the roll out of ‘This is 
Me’ tool and in the evaluation of 
appropriate care planning. 

The ward environment on the 
medicine for older people’s wards 
was reviewed and improved, making 
the area more appropriate for the 
needs of patients with dementia.

The newly established carers’ cafe 
has been successfully running on 
a weekly basis with positive user 
feedback. It is well attended and 
supported by volunteers and other 
outside agencies. It has inspired 
one agency to have the confidence 
to set a café up on the outskirts of 
Southampton to support people in 
their local area. 

The Southampton Dementia 
Partnership, which started after the 
appointment of the UHS dementia 
specialist nurse has evolved during 
the project and now meets on a 
quarterly basis throughout the 
year, sharing progress and new 
work streams. Specific goals have 
been established by the group for 
development in 2014. The project 
has been evaluated through a carer 
satisfaction survey and satisfaction 

has improved from 72% being 
dissatisfied/very dissatisfied at the 
beginning of the project, to 61% 
dissatisfied/very dissatisfied being 
at the end of the project. Aspects 
of care that have been identified as 
where patients/carers felt dissatisfied 
included communication between 
carers and clinical staff and aspects 
relating to fundamentals of care.

Clinical staff report feeling more 
confident in meeting the complex 
needs of people with dementia and 
the evaluation has enabled the acute 
hospital to demonstrate a robust and 
effective model of care for 
dementia patients.

The project was successful and 
the role of dementia nurses / 
pathway facilitators has enabled 
staff to feel supported to deliver 
personcentred care to people with 
dementia. Engagement in the 
agenda for improving dementia care 
and the enthusiasm for increased 
understanding and knowledge has 
been reflected in the numbers of 
staff requesting face-to-face learning 
both in classrooms as well as in the 
clinical environments. 

Priority 3: Improve the care of older patients with delirium and / or dementia3
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Priorities for patient experience

Seeking and acting on patient 
feedback is key to improving the 
quality of healthcare services. The 
national Friends and Family Test (FFT) 
is a simple, comparable test which 
provides a mechanism to identify 
both good and poor performance 
across NHS organisations.

Since April 2013, patients have 
been able to provide feedback 
at UHS by answering one simple 
question, “How likely are you to 
recommend your ward to friends 
and family if they needed similar 

care or treatment?”. Our aim 
was to implement the test within 
the hospital’s inpatient areas and 
emergency department. This 
has been achieved and valuable 
information about our service is 
being obtained.

The response rate for providing 
feedback and the net promoter 
scores have been monitored 
throughout the year. Responses 
to the FFT have been displayed 
in  clinical areas along with details 
of improvements that have been 

made as a result of feedback 
from patients. The net promoter 
score is a standardised national 
methodology, ensuring that scores 
are consistent and transparent. It is 
calculated by subtracting the number 
of detractor scores (“extremely 
unlikely” “unlikely” and “neither 
likely” nor unlikely”) from the 
number of promoter scores to give 
a number between -100 and +100 
with the higher number indicating 
more favourable responses. The 
charts below show how we have 
performed in the FFT in 2013/14.

Priority 1: To implement the national Friends and Family Test3

Promoter Scores Passive Scores Detractor Scores 

“Extremely likely” responses “Likely” or “Don’t Know” responses “neither likely or unlikely”, 
“unlikely” and “extremely unlikely” 
responses

Last years priorities for patient experience were implementation of the national Friends and Family Test, 
improving the experience women have of our maternity service and improving handovers, comprehensive and 
accurate documentation.

Friends and Family Test – respons rates
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Our overall response rate since 
FFT was introduced has increased 
from an initial 11.4% in quarter 
1 to 20.5% in quarter 4. The net 
promoter score has improved 
from an initial 64 to a score of 70 
currently. We have achieved all of the 
CQUIN measures this year apart from 
achieving a 15% response rate in 
quarter one.  

At a corporate level, the themes 
from FFT will be triangulated with 
complaints, real time feedback, 
the annual inpatient survey and for 
2014/15 prioritizing the information 
from the Emergency department 
National survey. The net promoter 
score from FFT will help us to 
prioritize and identify key work 
streams for improving patient 

experience, ensuring we are listening 
and acting on patient feedback.
 
FFT targets are increasing in 
2014/15 and it is being rolled out to 
outpatients and day case units. The 
question will also be asked to all staff 
working within UHS. 

Friends and Family Test – net promoter scores
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After a  CQC visit in October 2012, 
the Trust received feedback about 
identified inconsistency quality issues 
in the patient care records in some 
areas. As a result of this we identified 
a priority to improve the quality and 
standard of nursing documentation 
during 2013/14. Enhancing the 
information supporting the handover 
of patient care would help to 
improve the continuity for patients as 
they move around the organisation. 

Evidence demonstrates that good 
documentation of nursing and 
medical care promotes better patient 
outcomes, safety and experience, 
thereby enhancing team working. 
By clearly communicating the care 
needs of our patients, decision 
making can be optimised and a more 

consistent approach to the needs of 
patients promoted. 

What we did
Nursing documentation ensures 
that comprehensive assessments 
of patients need are identified 
on admission, followed by daily 
documentation of care provided 
and the forward planning of 
patients discharge needs. A review 
of the nursing documentation 
has been undertaken and a new 
documentation pack is being piloted 
in specific areas of the Trust.

In addition a pilot is being 
undertaken to launch the electronic 
nurses worklist as an adjunct to the 
doctor’s electronic work list initiative. 
This will record details of the reason 

for the patient’s current admission,  
and tasks, statuses and interventions 
required under the care of a specific 
team, consultant or ward.

Educational support has been 
developed to run alongside the new 
documentation and the electronic 
work list to support the requirements 
of the documentation policy. 

Through focusing on this 
improvement area compliance has 
been achieved with the CQC Quality 
Standards Outcome R20 for Records, 
NHSLA Health Record – keeping 
Standards, nursing and midwifery 
council (NMC) guidance, Essence of 
Care record-keeping standards and 
UHS records management policy. 

Priority 3:  Improving handovers, comprehensive and accurate documentation 3

The national Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) maternity survey 
2013 was undertaken at the 
Princess Anne Hospital. It asked 
women to feed back what they 
thought about different aspects of 
their care during pregnancy, labour 
and birth and the weeks following 
the birth of their baby.

The survey showed that UHS is one of 
the ‘better performing’ services in the 
country. We performed significantly 
better than average in the area of 
providing care to mothers in the 
postnatal period, in giving them 
information about contraception and 
their recovery after birth.

The maternity department was 
above the national average for 
offering choice for place of birth and 
enquiring about mothers’ wellbeing. 
The feedback from mothers was 
that time was provided to enable 

questions to be asked and staff took 
their concerns seriously.

The national Friends and Family Test 
has been introduced into maternity 
services, introducing real time 
monitoring to capture immediate 
feedback on women’s experiences. 
The first three months results have 
been published nationally.

These results showed that when 
139 women were questioned on 
the quality of antenatal treatment 
they received over the three-
month period, 70% said they were 
‘extremely likely’ to recommend staff 
and facilities to family and friends 
and 26% ‘likely’.  

In addition, of 134 patients asked if 
they would recommend postnatal 
services, 63% answered ‘extremely 
likely’ and 31% ‘likely’

In response to the feedback from 
both the inpatient survey and the FFT, 
additional actions have been put in 
place to continue to improve mothers’ 
experiences: 

• To ensure women understand 
the skill mix of staff that supports 
their care in the postnatal period 
and how to access help from their 
midwife and others should they 
require it.

• To raise awareness of the varied 
appropriate breastfeeding advice 
that women will receive as their 
baby grows and develops.

• To ensure that women feel 
confident that we are informed 
about their medical and obstetric 
history. 

• To fully embed the FFT into 
maternity and obtain real time 
data and feedback from mothers 
throughout their maternity 
experience.

Priority 2: Improving the experience women have of our maternity service3
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Priorities for patient safety

As a Trust it is important that we 
learn when things go wrong and as 
such we take reported incidents very 
seriously. This year we launched the 
“safe care in our hands” campaign 
which included the roll-out of 
e-reporting of incidents, a focus on 
culture and asking staff to speak up, 
speak out and safety walkabouts. 
E-reporting of incidents, including 
“near misses” has been well received 
by staff and it facilitates real time 
reporting and escalation in order that 
appropriate action is taken. Ithas also 
improved the reporting of themes 
down to ward level and feedback to 
those who have reported the incident.   

In the national learning reporting 
system, we were outliers when 
benchmarked with other Trusts in the 
number of incidents reported per 100 
admissions, the timeliness of reporting 
and the numbers of incidents graded 
as high and moderate harm. Rolling 
out e-reporting is improving this 
position, and as part of the roll-out 
we have trained over 2,500 staff 
using this as an opportunity to raise 
awareness of incident reporting 
focusing on near misses and to train 

staff in the appropriate grading of 
incidents focusing on actual rather 
than potential harm. 

We have robust processes for the 
management of incidents and near 
misses where every incident is graded 
and analysed, and where required 
undergoes a root cause analysis report. 

Over the last year, the trust has 
reported two ‘never events’. Never 
events are nationally defined and 
agreed as serious incidents that 
should not happen. Both events were 
retained swabs; one was identified 11 
months after the surgery on an x-ray. 
The second patient was operated on 
following severe multiple traumas. 
The retained swab was identified at a 
second planned operation two days 
later. Both patients have been fully 
informed of the investigation and 
offered the opportunity to receive 
a full copy of the incident report. 
Learning from these events involves 
reinforcement of the core principles of 
safer surgery:

• Surgical and theatre teams must 
collaboratively ensure that all 

 elements of the safer surgery 
checklist are completed.

• No x-ray detectable or accountable 
swabs should be used that do not 
form part of a formal swab count. 

• All actions and behaviours in 
theatres, from all theatre users, 
allow for safe practice and 
communication irrespective of staff 
grade or seniority.

These actions form part of an audit 
structure to ensure that organisational 
learning has occurred. 

Trends and themes are identified from 
the incidents and these are circulated 
across the trust for action within 
divisions and monitored through the 
clinical governance structure. In-depth 
reviews have been undertaken in 
maternity. Two themes identified were 
the failure to recognise and prevent 
deterioration in a patients condition 
and violence and aggression between 
patients to patients and patients to 
staff. Learning has been shared down 
to ward level and provides a focus for 
our priorities for 2014/15. 

Priority 1: Improving learning from patient safety incidents

Last year’s priorities for patient safety were improving learning from patient safety incidents, 
implementing the safety thermometer bundle and improving care for patients with diabetes.  
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The national safety thermometer is 
a prevalence audit tool that allows 
teams to measure harm and the 
proportion of patients that are 
“harm free” from four of the most 
common and preventable causes. 
These are pressure ulcers, patient 

falls, VTE (blood clot) and urinary 
infections due to catheters. The audit 
is undertaken on a monthly basis and 
submitted to a national database for 
benchmarking. 

We have consistently achieved over 

95% for no new harms/new harm-
free care with over 1,100 patients 
audited each month. Wards include 
a patient identifier where harm has 
occurred. This facilitates follow-up, 
triangulation with real time data 
and learning. 

In terms of actual incidents, real 
progress has been made with risk 
assessments for VTE consistently 
at 95% and reducing catheter-

related infections. However we 
failed to reduce the number of falls 
and pressure ulcers against our 
internal targets. This can, in part, 

be attributed to the number of frail 
elderly patients admitted but there is 
more work that we can do to reduce 
the incidence. 

Priority 2: Implementing the safety thermometer bundle 3

Division Care group No harms

Division A Cancer care 97.05%

Critical care 93.26%

Surgery 98.43%

Division A total 97.10%

Division B Emergency medicine 93.57%

Specialist medicine 98.50%

Division B total 93.95%

Division C Child health 98.17%

Women and new born 99.90%

Division C total 98.93%

Division D Cardiovascular and thoracic 97.81%

Neurosciences 97.38%

Trauma and orthopaedics 97.01%

Division D total 97.43%

Grand total 96.51%

No harms 2013-2014
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What have we achieved?
Our aim for 2013/14 was to have 
zero incidents classified as “never 
events” in relation to the prescription 
of insulin. This has been achieved 
through close monitoring of patients’ 
prescriptions.

There are still a number of incidents/
errors that relate to diabetes and 
reflect a focus on reporting. Overall 
incidents remain stable around 
the mean of 17. The incidents 
show a trend where insulin has 
been inappropriately omitted or 
not prescribed for no clear clinical 
reason. Omission of insulin due to 
communication and human errors as 
opposed to e-prescribing problems 
are also a theme. The e-reporting roll-
out has increased the volume of all 

incidents reported and the continued 
focus on improving diabetes care.

The diabetes team at UHS has 
developed a “care bundle” for all 
patients with diabetes. On one 
single day, UHS hosts 150 adults 
with diabetes and the aim is that the 
specialist diabetes team sees patients 
with complex problems. Those 
patients that have been identified 
to the diabetes team are discussed 
with team and community partners 
(e.g. district nurses, GP’s, community 
matrons or diabetes team) so a 
shared plan of care can be produced.

Many initiatives have been put 
in place to ensure safer and 
enhanced care for diabetic patients, 
these include:

• Updating diabetes ketoacidosis 
guidelines in line with national 
best practice

• Diabetes link nurse: over 90% 
 of wards have an identified 

named person
• Education and training. Link 

nurses using education/
information board on the 

 wards, with the theme 
 changed monthly
• diabetes.nhs.uk/safe_use_of_

insulin learning module now 
built into the University of 
Southampton undergraduate and 
post graduate medicine

• UHSFT adult impatient diabetes 
guideline developed 

• UHSFT  enteral feeding guidelines 
(adult) nutritional supporting 
diabetes

Priority 3: Improving care for patients with diabetes3
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We have developed this year’s 
Patient Improvement Framework 
by listening to staff and patients 
to identify the most important 
priorities. We have then consulted 
on these with patient groups, our 
commissioners and staff. Last year’s 

PIF adopted the domains set out in 
the Department of Health operating 
framework, but having listened to 
staff we agreed that we should go 
back to previous templates using the 
four domains of experience, safety, 
outcomes and performance to best 

maintain momentum and focus. 
We have also tried to be much 
more specific in setting measurable 
objectives in each of our priorities 
and recognised research as an 
important component of delivering 
quality services.  

Our quality priorities for 2014/15 

Priorities for clinical outcomes 

Priority 1
Every clinical speciality will identify an outcome measure 

Priority 2
Improving hospital standardised mortality ratios (HSMR)  

We have agreed that all care groups 
within UHS will identify a clinical 
outcome measure for their service 
that can best be used to measure 
improvement in the care they 
provide. This is intended to increase 
ownership of clinical outcomes at 
a local level and respond better 
to patient needs. Care groups will 
engage with staff and patients 

when identifying priorities and work 
with patient groups to achieve a 
desired change in practice.

Our aim
•  Each speciality has an identified 

outcome that is specific to clinical 
need 

• Each speciality will monitor and 
report on the outcome progress 

• Each care group publishes the 
outcome at the end of the year, 
demonstrating the impact it has 
had on patient care.

• Each speciality will participate in 
a National Institute of Healthcare  
Research (NIHR) portfolio 
research.

HSMR can be an indicator of things 
going wrong in a hospital and it 
is important to ensure that the 
data is robust and outcomes are 
accurately coded. The data needs 
to be reviewed by each speciality 
and take action if required. The 
data is monitored by the central 

team and reported to the Trust 
Board and through the clinical 
governance structure to ensure early 
interventions are undertaken.

Our aim
•  To provide reports on HSMR by 

care group / timing

• To clinically validate data that is 
benchmarked as an outlier and 
where appropriate put actions in 
place to address
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Priority 3
Improving care for patients with diabetes 

Diabetes is a common lifelong 
health condition. There are three 
million people diagnosed with 
diabetes in the UK and an estimated 
850,000 people who have the 
condition but do not know it. 
Within UHS approximately 15% 
of inpatients will have diabetes. 
Patients can be admitted due 
to a lack of diabetic control but 
also diabetic patients who are ill 

or require surgery have different 
requirements. Patients with diabetes 
have a longer than average length 
of stay so appropriate management 
is key. 

Our aim
•  All patients with diabetes on the 

ward will be identifiable to all 
ward staff 

• Safe practices for using insulin 

will be observed with a 20% 
reduction in incidents related to 
insulin administration 

• No insulin never events will occur
• A more robust diabetes discharge 

plan will be provided 
• Open a portfolio of diabetes 

research studies focussing on 
improving care

Priorities for patient experience 

Priority 1
Improving care and safeguarding vulnerable adults

With an increasing elderly 
population which is reflected in 
the patient group admitted to our 
hospital, getting the right pathway 
of care for these patients is vital.  
We are aware from feedback that 
we haven’t always got this pathway 
of care right, which is why we have 
chosen this as a priority. 

Our aim
•  Develop a care pathway that 

meets the specific needs of 
the vulnerable patient. Specific 
focus on proactive assessment of 
patient needs prior to admission 
and comprehensive plans for 
discharge into the community.

• Learning from incidents and 
complaints relating to vulnerable 

adults taking a proactive 
approach to implementing 
changes that promote improved 
safety and experience for the 
patient and their carers.

• Improving communication to 
families on the pathway of care 
for their relative.
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Priority 3
To provide the safe and timely discharge of patients from UHS

Well organised and timely discharge 
is an important part of patient care 
and a planned and co-ordinated 
approach enables patients to leave 
the hospital safely and efficiently.  

Trust wide patient flow is also 
supported by efficient discharge 
enabling UHS to deliver a proficient, 
safe and appropriate admission 
pathway for its patients.

Patients are telling us that we 
do not always get our discharge 
process right and it is apparent 
that this area of care needs to be a 
priority for this year.

Our aim
Discharge appointments will be 
implemented across all care groups 
within UHS by July 2014

• Patient discharge information 
document will be in place by 

 July 2014
• UHS operational inpatient 

standard four will be achieved. 
This standard is that “A discharge 
plan, electronic discharge 
summary and medication will be 
completed by 5pm the day prior 
to predicted discharge for the 
vast majority of patients” 

Priority 2
Improve the patient experience at mealtimes 

Good nutrition and hydration are 
fundamental to well-being and 
recovery from illness or trauma. 
Consistently, patients are telling 
us that the experience of their 
hospital stay would be enhanced 
if the experience of their meals 
was improved. UHS recognises the 
importance of having safe, high 
quality nutrition and hydration for all 
patients, regardless of age, gender, 
faith or cultural/social background.

Malnourished patients stay in hospital 

longer, are three times as likely to 
develop complications during surgery 
and have a higher mortality rate 
(Age Concern 2006, Mehta et al, 
2013). Illness is frequently associated 
with under-nutrition and it has been 
shown that appropriate nutrition 
presents clinical benefit.

Our aim
•  To establish a nutritional pathway 

for dementia patients
• To improve patient mealtime 

experience by ensuring 

compliance with protected 
mealtimes and ensuring 
assistance is provided to patients 
who require help with feeding.

• Implementation of the meal 
time assistant role to provide 
additional support to patients at 
meal times.

• Further enhancement of 
monitoring of the quality of food 
and triangulation of themes 
identified from patient and staff 
feedback. Implement appropriate 
actions and monitor.

“I was in a mixed age ward and I don’t think the nurses/
auxiliary staff helped me with small matters e.g. reading 
menu care/ opening sealed packets of food/ cutlery. 
Cutting up food/ assisting me with eating.”

 “The discharge procedure takes too long. Surely if no 
medication is needed the patient can be sent the discharge 
summary in the post and allowed home. I was given 
permission to go home first thing in the morning; I was 
still waiting for the paper work to be signed at 3pm.”
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Priorities for patient safety 

Priority 1
To continue to improve reporting of incidents and learning

Priority 2
To reduce avoidable high harm pressure ulcers and falls 

Higher levels of incident 
reporting reflect an open and 
transparent culture where an 
organisation is willing to learn. 
This priority has been rolled over 
from last year, as there is still work 
to be done. 

Our aim
To improve our benchmarked 
position on the national reporting 
and learning system for the number 
of reported incidents per 100 
admissions, timeliness of reporting 
and levels of harm reported.

• To have fully rolled out 
e-reporting in the Trust 

• To increase the levels of incident 
reporting.

• Reduce the levels of high harm 
incidents

• To demonstrate learning that has 
occurred from reported incidents.   

Pressure ulcers and falls have a 
direct impact on safety and the 
patient experience. Reducing 
avoidable harm to zero is a patient 
safety aspiration and we need to 
set ourselves ambitious reduction 
targets to realise this aim. There is 
also a cost to these levels of harm, 
every grade 3 and 4 pressure ulcer 
incurs a cost of £10,000 and a 
high harm fall can cost £15,000 – 
20,000. This  money could be 
better invested in the provision of 
patient care 

Our aim
• To reduce avoidable pressure 

ulcers (grade 2, 3 and 4) by 20% 
• To reduce high harm falls by 20% 
• To reduce to a statistically 

significant level all pressure ulcers 
and falls per 1,000 bed days.

• To work with the whole health 
economy across the patient 
pathway in the community and 
in inpatient care to reduce the 
prevalence of pressure ulcers.

• To embed assessment and plan 
of care. 

Actions to achieve the aims include:

• A review of the risk assessment 
used, in conjunction with the 
nursing documentation

• Pilot the use of patient name 
bands to visually identify patients 
at risk of falls

• Detailed focus in areas with high 
numbers of falls/pressure ulcers

• Continued focus on education 
and training of clinical staff.

 



55

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

Priority 3
To improve the care of the deteriorating patient.

We have seen a number of 
incidents in 2013 /14 where there 
has been a failure to recognise 
the deterioration of a patient and 
while this was in the outcome 
domain of the patient improvement 
framework last year we need to 
have a greater focus going forward. 
Preventing deterioration improves 
safety of our patients and reduces 
length of stay. 

Our aim
• To reduce the avoidable 

admissions to the critical care 
areas of UHS

• To reduce the number of serious 
incidents requiring investigation 
(SIRI’s) relating to management of 
the deteriorating patient

• To improve the handover and 
escalation when a patient is 
deteriorating.

Actions to achieve the aims include:

• Relaunch of a corporate group to 
focus on actions to promote early 

recognition of the deteriorating 
adult patient.

• Relaunch situation, background, 
assessment and recognition 
(SBAR). A communication tool 

 to promote accurate and 
 concise information when a 

deteriorating patient has 
 been identified.
• Develop a sepsis recognition 

protocol
• Develop a fluid prescribing 

protocol.
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Participation in national clinical audits and confidential enquiries 

During 2013/14, UHS participated 
in 97.7 % of the national clinical 
audits and 100 % of the national 
confidential enquiries (NCEPOD) 
of which it was eligible to 
participate in.

The NCEPOD that UHS was 
eligible to participate in during 
2013/14 were:

• NCEPOD Gastrointestinal 
Hemorrhage (organisational 

 audit and patients identified 
January 2014) 

• NCEPOD Lower limb amputation 
(data collection completed, 

 report to be published in 
 autumn 2014)
• Tracheostomy (data analysis 

completed, report to be 
published June 2014)

During 2012/13, UHS participated in 
the following national confidential 
enquiries: 

• NCEPOD Alcohol related liver 
disease (report published 

 June 2013)

• NCEPPOD Subarachnoid 
Haemorrhage (report 

 published 2013)
• MBRRACE-UK- Perinatal 

mortality. 

The national clinical audits that UHS 
participated in, and for which data 
collection was completed during 
2013/14, are listed below. In Table 
A the number of cases submitted 
to each audit or enquiry is recorded 
as a percentage of the number of 
registered cases required by the 
terms of that audit or enquiry. 
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 Total number of NCAs UHS were eligible to complete
(n=43) 

 National 
audit 
reports 
reviewed 
(16)

% actual 
cases 
submitted 
/ expected 
submissions

1 Acute coronary syndrome or Acute myocardial infarction MINAP  
National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research (NICOR)  

 4 4 4 100%

2 Adult cardiac surgery audit ACS  National Institute for Cardiovascular 
Outcomes Research (NICOR) CABG and valvular surgery

 4 4 4 100%

3 Adult community acquired pneumonia Currently no update available

4 Adult critical care (Case Mix Programme)  Intensive Care National 
Audit and Research Centre (ICNARC) 

 4 4 4 100%

5 Bowel cancer NBOCAP - NHS IC  4  4 4 80%

6 Bronchiectasis The British Thoracic Society (BTS)  7  7 7 No audit 
submitted

7 Cardiac Arrest Audit NCAA - Intensive Care National Audit and 
Research Centre (ICNARC)  

 4 4 4 100%

8 Cardiac arrhythmia - National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes 
Research (NICOR) 

Currently no update available

9 Comparative blood transfusion audit - Medical use of blood   4 4 7 54%

10 Congenital heart disease,(Paediatric cardiac surgery)- National 
Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research (NICOR)  

Currently no update available

11 Coronary angioplasty - National Institute for Cardiovascular 
Outcomes Research (NICOR) 

 4 4 4 100%

12 Diabetes (Adult) ND(A), includes National Diabetes Inpatient Audit 
(NADIA)  -  NHS IC, Leeds  

 4 4 4 100%

13 Diabetes (Paediatric) PNDA - Royal College of Child Health and 
Paediatrics (RCPCH)  

 4 4 4 The deadline 
for submissions 
has not yet 
been reached

14 Elective surgery (National PROMs Programme) NHS IC, Leeds  - HIPS  4 4 4 55.6%
2011-12 latest 
published data

15 Elective surgery (National PROMs Programme) NHS IC, Leeds - KNEES  4 4 4 104%
2011-12 latest 
published data

16 Emergency use of oxygen The British Thoracic Society (BTS) Currently no update available

17 Epilepsy 12 audit (Childhood Epilepsy) - Royal College of Child 
Health and Paediatrics (RCPCH) 

Currently no update available

18 Head and neck oncology - NHS IC* Currently no update available

19 Heart failure HF - National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes 
Research (NICOR

 4 4 7 50-70%
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Table A: National clinical audits 
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 Total number of NCAs UHS were eligible to complete
(n=43) 

 National 
audit 
reports 
reviewed 
(16)

% actual 
cases 
submitted 
/ expected 
submissions

20 Hip fracture database, national   4 4 4 100%

21 Inflammatory bowel disease IBD - Royal College of Physicians (RCP), CEEU  4 4 7 100%

22 Inflammatory bowel disease IBD - Royal College of Physicians (RCP), CEEU Currently no update available

23 Lung cancer NLCA - NHS IC, Leeds  4 4 4 70%

24 National audit of dementia audit NAD - Royal College of Psychiatrists (CCQI) Currently no update available

25 NASH National audit of seizure management (epilepsy)  4 4 4 97%

26 National comparative audit of blood transfusion  Currently no update available

27 National emergency laparotomy audit NELA  4 4  7 The deadline 
for submissions 
has not yet 
been reached

28 National Joint Registry NJR Currently no update available

29 National Vascular Registry NVR Currently no update available

30 Neonatal intensive and special care NNAP  4 4 4 100%

31 Non-invasive ventilation - adults - British Thoracic Society (BTS) Currently no update available

32 Oesophago-gastric cancer - The Royal College of Surgeons of 
England (RCS) AUGIS 

Currently no update available

33 Pain database Currently no update available

34 Paediatric asthma - The British Thoracic Society (BTS) Currently no update available

35 Paediatric intensive care PICANet - University of Leicester  Currently no update available

36 Paediatric pneumonia - BTS  4 4  7 The deadline 
for submissions 
has not yet 
been reached

37 Paracetamol Overdose CEM  4 4  7 The deadline 
for submissions 
has not yet 
been reached

38 Prostate cancer 4 4 4 100%

39 Perinatal mortality - MBRRACE-UK  4 4 7 100%

40 Pulmonary hypertension - NHS IC Currently no update available

El
ig

ib
le

 (
25

)

Pa
rt

ic
ip

at
ed

 (2
5)



59

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

 Total number of NCAs UHS were eligible to complete
(n=43) 

 National 
audit 
reports 
reviewed 
(16)

% actual 
cases 
submitted 
/ expected 
submissions

41 Severe sepsis & septic shock  4 4 7 The deadline 
for submissions 
has not yet 
been reached

42 Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP)*  4 4 7
First UHS 
results for 
Q3  due 
spring 2014

100%

43 Severe trauma (Trauma Audit & Research Network) TARN  4 4 4 100%
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Note:
*UHS has registered to participate in the 2013/14 Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) the single 
reporting system for acute strokes.  

The reports of 16 national clinical audits were reviewed by the Trust in 2013/14 and UHS intends to take the following 
actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided, the description of actions are in Table B. 
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National audit title Actions  

Acute coronary syndrome or Acute 
myocardial infarction MINAP  
National Institute for Cardiovascular 
Outcomes Research (NICOR)  

Quarterly meetings to constantly review possible improvements

Adult cardiac surgery audit ACS  
National Institute for Cardiovascular 
Outcomes Research (NICOR) CABG 
and valvular surgery 

Data was presented at the recent UHS clinical effectiveness conference. 
Mechanisms in place for identifying any problems early should any 
change in UHS performance occur.

Severe trauma (Trauma Audit & 
Research Network) TARN 

1. Improve the percentage of cases of major trauma seen by a consultant  
within 30 mins and 5 mins. appointment of more ED consultants and 
changes to provide 24 hr cover 

2. Improve the timeliness of CT for major trauma and severe head injuries 
- ongoing education and simulation training within the emergency 
department and anaesthetics  

3. Improve the percentage of cases of open fractures meeting BOAST 
4 criteria, an audit is in progress. Business case being developed 
regarding increased plastic surgery within UHS.  

4. Increased consultant presence in theatre for life and limb threatening 
injuries - significant improvements seen by alterations in rotas in 
orthopaedics and general surgery. 

5. The percentage of patient completion of rehabilitation prescription is 
high. The provision of rehabilitation remains poor. A Trust business case 
is in preparation.

Lung cancer NLCA - NHS IC, Final 2012 data not yet published. 2011 data discussed at focus group. 
data collection needs improving, especially CNS data and collection of 
TNM data at MDT. Ongoing discussions with Ascribe re changes to HICCS 
to allow accurate data collection at MDT.

Diabetes (Adult) ND(A), includes 
National Diabetes Inpatient Audit 
(NADIA)  -  NHS IC, 

There were themes identified from 2012 Sept National inpatient audit 
that reported in Mar-April 13. Need to keep working on staff education 
around diabetes. Keep educating nursing and medical junior staff re: 
medication errors, actions on high and low blood glucose. Need to focus 
on ways to improve diabetes foot assessments. Work with catering to 
improve diabetes meal choices

Adult critical care (Case Mix 
Programme)  Intensive Care National 
Audit and Research Centre (ICNARC) 

Reviewed data analysis reports within the care group. Dissemination 
through the patient safety advisory group

Cardiac Arrest Audit NCAA - 
Intensive Care National Audit and 
Research Centre (ICNARC) 

Audit antecedents to cardiac arrest. Ensure quality of training in 
resuscitation throughout the trust. Education around DNACPR

Coronary angioplasty - National 
Institute for Cardiovascular 
Outcomes Research (NICOR) 

UHS data reviewed at the acute coronary syndrome committee 
and mortality and morbidity meeting and presented at Trust clinical 
effectiveness day

Table B: Actions from national clinical audits
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National audit title Actions  

Diabetes (paediatric) PNDA - Royal 
College of Child Health and 
Paediatrics (RCPCH)  

No actions needed. Ongoing service improvements documented & 
presented via National Peer Review Programme (DQuINS) Feb 2013 and 
Feb 2014

Hip fracture database, national  Appointment of two trauma surgeons. Nerve block service: initially 
started as a pilot 6 months ago, now it is a permanent service Four 
Trauma nurse specialists appointed: to support FY1 doctors on trauma 
wards, taking bloods, assessing acutely ill patients, completing discharge 
summaries etc.  Two extra trauma sessions per week. Brook ward: a 16 
bedded trauma rehabilitation ward

NASH National audit of seizure 
management (epilepsy) - (ED: 
Michael Kiuber) (1/3)

Ensure continuing education for new trainee clinicians and nursing staff 
rotating through to the ED on the following:    
1. Documentation of comprehensive seizure history.  
2. Documentation of alcohol intake; both chronic and recent binge.  
3. Documentation of comprehensive examination.  
4. Documentation of driving advice given and management plan for 

future seizures.

Neonatal intensive and special care 
NNAP - Alison O'Donnell

Measures have been put in place to improve initial consultation within 24 
hours by senior staff with parents of babies admitted. Ongoing efforts to 
improve breastfeeding rates. Ongoing discussions to maximise the use of 
antenatal steroids.
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Audit title Actions  

Documentation of intra-operative 
estimated blood loss (EBL) in post 
operative note and anaesthetic chart

EBL on post operative note made a compulsory entry to sign off post 
operative note.
Memo circulated to anaesthetists and anaesthetic trainees with results of 
this audit and encourage the documentation of EBL on anaesthetic chart.

Audit to assess if patients admitted 
with heart failure to the acute 
medical unit are being referred to the 
heart failure team

Involving heart failure services earlier in patient admission
Informing new juniors on induction regarding referral to heart 
failure services
Consider on post-take ward rounds and inclusion on nursing handovers
Development of specialist heart failure card

Re-audit of the elective ascitic 
drain audit

Further dissemination of Hepatology Junior Doctors Guide Regular 
teaching sessions on the management of the complications of Cirrhosis.
Completion of trust protocol on performing ascitic drains.

Re-audit of employers procedure for 
medical exposures - procedure A - 
patient ID

Training on CRIS, ID documentation, Policy update, session on clinical 
education mornings

Infliximab in paediatric inflammatory 
bowel disease

1. Modify standard - Aim to screen for a pre-set list of diseases at 
diagnosis. Consultant digression taken into account for TB.  

2. Rigorous guidelines, checklist and make a specified person responsible

intra-operative fluid management 
monitoring compliance

1. Update software for LiDCO and ODM 
2. Posters to improve compliance with utilisation. 

The timing of inpatient MRI scans on 
stroke unit

Clinical lead has discussed findings with stroke and radiology teams: 
radiology will create an extra afternoon slot where appropriate.  This 
can be utilised by stroke team if necessary to reduce length of stay from 
waiting for MRI

Re-audit of missed doses 
thromboprophylaxis

Ensure staff aware of issue re not being able to block regular doses if 
stat dose given
Reminder to staff re need for clear clinical reasons to be recorded 
for omissions

Completion of braden score As per Surgical Care Group Tissue Viability action plan 2013

Screening for Embryonal tumours 
in patients with a confirmed clinical 
or molecular diagnosis of beckwith 
wiedermann syndrome (BWS)

The information generated by this pilot audit will enable progression to a 
National Audit assessing the screening recommendations given by Clinical 
Genetics Teams for patients affected with BWS.

Participation in Trustwide and local clinical audit 
The reports of 36 Trustwide and local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2013/14 and UHS 
intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided (See table C below):

Table C: Actions from trustwide and local clinical audits
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Audit title Actions  

Consent Audit 1. Development of Form 5 for immediate life-saving surgery
2. Reinforcement of consent policy requirements
3. Include confirmation of consent policy in eLearning module launched 

in 2014
4. Changes to introduce a new consent form 1 with clearer 

documentation of pregnancy status are being made.   
5. In order to improve to 100% compliance and to ensure a higher 

percentage of involvement in research, a modification has been made 
to consent form 1 

6. In order to improve patient knowledge of responsible consultant 
consent form to include name of responsible consultant

7. Consent form to include prompts to give information about alternative 
to treatments and consequences

8. Further investigation required to identify underline reason

Trust wide audit of compliance with 
medicines policy 2013

1. Presentation to QGSG
2. Circulation to Divisional Pharmacist Leads
3. Presentation to care groups by pharmacist leads

Monitoring compliance with the 
Medical Devices and Equipment 
Management and Training Policy

1. Raise issue with Divisional Governance Managers and seek assurance 
that staff are aware of policy requirement. Ensure that equipment is 
registered

2. See Risk Register entry 1451) - Identify gaps and if required produce 
action plan and add as new risk register entry 

3. Computerise PPM process for all medical equipment on service 
contract

4. Further investigate with Head of Radiotherapy Physics and put in 
corrective remedial actions, as necessary

Table C: Actions from trustwide and local clinical audits continued from previous page
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Participation in clinical research 
It is recognised that NHS 
organisations  with significant 
research activity are able to 
demonstrate evidence of improved 
patient outcomes and health service 
delivery (NHS England 2014).

The number of patients receiving 
relevant health services provided or 
subcontracted by UHS in 2013/14 
that were recruited to trials approved 
by the ethics committee during that 
period was around 13,000. We 
were the sixth highest recruiting 
Trust to NIHR studies in England, 
securing in excess of £20 million in 
funding to support research. We 
invested in and increased research 
in many clinical areas including 
cancer, ophthalmology, cystic fibrosis 
and gastroenterology. One of our 
patients was the first person be 
recruited to a global research study 
and thus the first person in the 
world to have access to potentially 
ground breaking new treatment. 

In partnership with the University of 
Southampton, we were awarded 
£9m funding over five years for the 
Collaboration in Leadership in Applied 
Health Research and Care (CLAHRC). 
The CLAHRC will deliver patient 
focussed research in areas including 
ageing and dementia, fundamental 
care in hospital, respiratory disease 
and patient engagement with 
self-directed support for long-term 
condition management. 

We delivered a new clinical research 
website www.uhs.nhs.uk/
ClinicalResearchinSouthampton 
and launched a public engagement 
programme including our event 
series in Winchester, Southampton 
and onsite. 

In 2013/14 our commitment to 
high quality delivery of research was 
recognised through two 
major awards:  

• Winners, NIHR National New 
Media Award for a video 
showcasing the work of Professor 
Nicholas Clarke tackling infant 

 hip dysplasia
• Finalists in Clinical Trials 

Administrator category, 
Pharmatimes Clinical Research of 
the Year Awards

Data quality 
UHS recognises that good quality 
health services depend on the 
provision of high quality information 
and high quality record-keeping. 
Through robust record-keeping, 
patients can be assured that clinical 
records are anonymous 
and confidential.

UHS submitted records between 
April 2013 and March 2014 to the 
NHS-wide Secondary Uses Service 
for inclusion in Hospital Episode 
Statistics. As at February 2014, 
(Month 11, latest National figures 
available) the percentage of records 
in the published data:

which included a valid NHS 
number was:
• 98.3% for admitted patient care;
• 98.8% for outpatient care; and
• 97.3% for accident and 

emergency care.

which included a valid General 
Medical Practice Code was:  
• 100% for admitted patient care; 
• 100% for outpatient care; and
• 100% for accident and 

emergency care.

UHS information governance 
assessment report overall score for 
2013/14 was 71% and was graded 
satisfactory. The attainment levels 
assessed within the information 
governance toolkit provide an 
overall measure of the quality 
of information handling, and 
information systems, standards and 

processes within an organisation. 
The Trust met or exceeded 
the minimum required level of 
compliance assessment for all 
requirements of the toolkit for the 
reporting year.

UHS continues to focus on 
enhancing data quality and took the 
following actions in 2013/14:

• Revised the UHS data quality 
strategy and policy that details 
the expectations, processes 
and principles that support the 
collection and management 
of information to achieve high 
standards. Strategic data quality 
objectives and related national 
work are detailed.

• Continued performance 
management of data quality via 
Trust and divisional meetings, 
the clinical coding function, and 
the IM&T information team. 
These groups use audit reports of 
patient data and key performance 
indicators on internal and 
external timeliness, validity and 
completion, including Dr Foster 
comparative analysis information. 
Areas of poor performance are 
identified, investigated and plans 
agreed for improvement.

• Delivery and development of a 
comprehensive data quality review 
programme working closely with 
clinical areas to review the quality, 
timeliness and accuracy of patient 
level data collection.

• Continued work to reduce data 
quality problems at the point of 
data entry through improved 
system design, changes to 
software, and targeted support 
for system users.

• Worked towards delivering real 
time admission, discharge and 
transfer recording across more 
ward areas, thereby supporting 
improved patient tracking and 
bed management. A new bed 
management system is currently 
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being implemented.
• Supported training and education 

programmes for all staff involved 
in data collection, including 
information governance training 
and the provision of information 
collection guidance.

• Maintained a programme of 
regular internal audit, including 
data quality, record keeping, 
health records management, 
information governance and 
clinical coding audit.

• Continued to maintain and 
develop improved compliance 
with the information governance 
toolkit standards.

UHS was not subject to the 
national Payment by Results clinical 
coding audit during 2013/14. 
However results of the 2012/13 
audit were shared with the data 
quality steering group in July 2013. 
This group also continue to receive 
regular clinical coding audit reports 
from a rolling programme of 
internal audit and assurance that 
UHS supports.

Review of services
During 2013/14, UHS provided and/
or sub-contracted 109 relevant 
health services (from Total Trust 
activity by specialty cumulative 
2013/14 contractual report).

UHS has reviewed all the data 
available on the quality of care in all 
of these NHS services. 

The income generated by the 
NHS services reviewed in 2013/14 
represents 100% of the total income 
generated from the provision of NHS 
services by UHS for 2013/14.

Proportion of income for 
achieving commissioning for 
quality, innovation payment 
framework (CQUIN). 
A proportion of UHS income in 
2013/14 was conditional upon 
achieving quality improvement and 
innovation goals agreed between 
UHS and any person or body they 
entered into a contract, agreement 
or arrangement with for the 

provision of relevant health services, 
through the CQUIN framework. 
Further details of the agreed goals 
for 2014/15 are being determined 
between UHS and clinical 
commissioning groups. 

The monetary total for the 
amount of income in 2013/14 
conditional upon achieving quality 
improvements and innovation goals 
was £10,844 and a monetary total 
for the associated payment received 
in 2012/13 was £10,608,631.

We have used the CQUIN framework 
to actively engage in and agree 
quality improvements working with 
our commissioners, to improve 
patient pathways across our 
local and wider health economy. 
Reflecting our wide patient 
catchment area, we agreed two 
CQUIN programmes in cooperation. 
These were one standard contract 
CQUIN held jointly between all 
our CCG commissioners and one 
specialist services commissioning 
group CQUIN programme. 

Our CQUIN priorities for 2013/14

Clinical CQUIN Scheme CQUIN Target National 
or Local 
Scheme

Financial 
reward for 
achieving 
Scheme

NHSE/CCGs Innovation Health and 
Wealth - Intra-operative Fluids 
Management (IOFM)

Demonstrate to commissioners that 
2013/14 trajectories for the technology 
are in place which are consistent with 
National Technology Assessment Centre 
(NTAC) guidance

National  

NHSE/CCGs Innovation Health and Wealth 
- International & Commercial 
Activity

Demonstrate that clear plans are in 
place to exploit the value of commercial 
intellectual property - either standalone 
or in collaboration with Academic Health 
Science Network

National  

NHSE/CCGs Safety thermometer Safety thermometer National 424

NHSE/CCGs Safety thermometer Safety thermometer National 131

NHSE/CCGs VTE part a risk assessment VTE part a risk assessment National 278
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NHSE/CCGs Friends and Family Phased expansion National 167

NHSE/CCGs Friends and Family Increase response rate National 222

NHSE/CCGs Friends and Family Improved performance on the staff 
Friends and Family Test

National 167

NHSE/CCGs Dementia Improving dementia care National 555

CCGs LTC LTC - Self management/ patient 
experience

Local 467

CCGs LTC Shared Decision making Local 820

CCGs Health Improvement / 
Elective Care

Health Improvement  / Elective XSBD Local 586

CCGs  Non Elective (NEL) /
Urgent Care

XBD reduction - target based on NEL 
performance v plan - ACTIVITY

Local 844

CCGs NEL/Urgent Care XBD reduction - target based on NEL 
performance v plan - MILESTONES

Local 281

CCGs NEL/Urgent Care Multi Agency shared care planning Local 563

CCGs NEL/Urgent Care AEC management Local 563

NHSE IVIG Database Completeness of data submitted to the 
national IVIg database. 

Local 368

NHSE IVIG Panel Implementation and maintenance of a 
regional clinical IVIg panel set up by the 
regional centre and involving all the local 
DGHs. 

Local 368

NHSE Haemophilia (trough levels) Proportion of patients on prophylaxis who 
have had documented trough levels in the 
past 12 months which are between 1-2%.

Local 369

NHSE Haemophilia (Haemtrak)  Number of registered moderate and 
severe paediatric and adult haemophilia 
A and B patients submitting information 
records via Haemtrack, either through 
an electronic means or via paper records 
entered onto the haemtrack database 
by the provider unit, during the period 
1.4.13 – 31.3.14.

Local 369

NHSE Neonatal Total Parental Nutrition 
(TPN)

Number of babies <30+0 weeks gestation 
or <1500g birth weight in the hospital or 
transferred in on day 1 of life who start 
TPN by day 2 of life (excluding babies who 
undergo surgery on day 1 or 2 of life) 

Local 369

NHSE Complex Discharge Pathways To identify babies with a gestational age 
under 36 weeks who may be suitable for 
short-term nasogastric tube feeding at 
home whilst breast or bottle feeding is 
established and to provide an outreach 
service to allow this to happen

Local 369
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NHSE Clinical Dashboards To embed and demonstrate routine use 
of the use of specialised  services clinical 
dashboards

Local 491

NHSE Cardiac Surgery The proportion of patients referred as 
urgent, to have cardiac surgery* as an in-
patient (with or without transfer) within 7 
days of fit for surgery by cardiac surgeon.

Local 369

NHSE MTC Number of patients who have one or 
more long bones stabilised within 24 
hours of injury

Local 369

NHSE PCD Highly specialised services clinical 
outcome collaborative audit workshop

Local 491

10,844
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Care Quality Commission: 
UHS is required to register with 
the Care Quality Commission and 
its current registration status for 
locations and services is as below.  

Regulated activity: 
Surgical procedures
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at 
the following locations:
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford 

Road, Southampton, SO16 5YA
•  Southampton General Hospital, 

Tremona Road, Southampton, 
SO16 6YD.

Regulated activity: Treatment of 
disease, disorder or injury
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at 
the following locations:
•  Countess Mountbatten House, 

Moorgreen Hospital, Botley Road, 
West End, Southampton, 

 SO23 3JB
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford 

Road, Southampton, SO16 5YA
•  Royal South Hants Hospital, 

Brintons Terrace, Southampton, 
SO14 0YG

•  Southampton General Hospital, 
Tremona Road, Southampton, 
SO16 6YD.

Regulated activity: Maternity 
and midwifery services
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at 
the following locations:
•  New Forest Birth Centre, Ashurst 

Hospital, Lyndhurst Road, 
Ashurst, Southampton, 

 SO40 7AR

•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford 
Road, Southampton, SO16 5YA

Regulated activity: Diagnostic 
and screening services
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at 
the following locations:
•  Countess Mountbatten House, 

Moorgreen Hospital, Botley Road, 
West End, Southampton, 

 SO23 3JB
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford 

Road, Southampton, SO16 5YA
•  Royal South Hants Hospital, 

Brintons Terrace, Southampton, 
SO14 0YG

•  Southampton General Hospital, 
Tremona Road, Southampton, 
SO16 6YD

•  New Forest Birth Centre, Ashurst 
Hospital, Lyndhurst Road, 
Ashurst, Southampton, 

 SO40 7AR
 
Regulated activity: Transport 
services, triage and medical 
advice provided remotely
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at 
the following locations:
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford 

Road, Southampton, SO16 5YA
•  Southampton General Hospital, 

Tremona Road, Southampton, 
SO16 6YD.

 
Regulated activity: Assessment 
or medical treatment for persons 
detained under the 1983 (Mental 
Health) Act
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at 
the following locations:

•  Countess Mountbatten House, 
Moorgreen Hospital, Botley Road, 
West End, Southampton, 

 SO23 3JB
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford 

Road, Southampton, SO16 5YA
•  Southampton General Hospital, 

Tremona Road, Southampton, 
SO16 6YD

 
 
UHS has no
conditions on registration.
The Care Quality Commission
has not taken enforcement
action against University Hospital
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust
during 2013/14.

UHS has not
participated in any special reviews
or investigations by the Care
Quality Commission during the
reporting period.

UHS participated
in a child protection Serious Case
Review (Southampton Child F)
dated 18/06/2012.

The CQC undertook a review of 
compliance at the Southampton 
General Hospital (SGH) site in April 
2013 and reported that the Trust 
was fully compliant with the five 
standards. Patients were positive 
about their experiences. They said 
they were happy with the way they 
were cared for. One person stated” 
This is a brilliant hospital: I would 
recommend it to any of my friends 
and family as a good place to be 
cared for”.

Registration with the 
Care Quality Commission
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In December 2013 the CQC also 
undertook their first mental health 
inspection at the SGH site. By law, 
the CQC is required to monitor the 
use of the Mental Health Act 1983 
(MHA) to provide a safeguard for 
individual patients whose rights are 
restricted under the Act. Mental 
Health Act Commissioners do this 
on behalf of CQC, by interviewing 
detained patients or those who have 
their rights restricted under the Act 
and discussing their experience. They 
also talk to relatives, carers, staff, 
advocates and managers, and they 
review records and documents.
Whilst aspects of this visit were 
positive the CQC found some areas 
for improvement and the Trust 
produced a statement of the actions 

that they will take as a result of the 
monitoring visit. These actions will be 
completed by the end of 2013/14. 

Deanery Visit
In July 2013, Wessex Deanery 
raised concerns about training and 
supervision for junior doctors in 
trauma and orthopaedics, requesting 
actions to address the issues. At 
a revisit to check progress, the 
Deanery felt that although most 
issues had been addressed there 
had been insufficient progress 
overall and therefore arranged a 
further visit in February 2014. The 
Trust performed an internal review 
looking at the quality of care provided 
across the whole of trauma and 

orthopaedics. This generated several 
recommendations that are now 
being implemented and which have 
been shared with the Deanery and 
commissioners.
 
At this review, the Deanery 
acknowledged that the Trust had 
made tremendous efforts to address 
the concerns, however they gave 
notice that if all the training issues 
had not been addressed to their 
satisfaction then steps would be 
taken to remove training posts after 
a review in the summer 2014. 
We have managed to address the 
majority of issues raised and continue 
to work on improvement of the 
service and the training experience it 
offers for doctors.

 SGH - Standards Reviewed CQC Judgement

Care and welfare of people who use services Met this standard

Management of medicines Met this standard

Staffing Met this standard

Assessing and monitoring the quality of service  provision Met this standard

Records Met this standard
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From 2012/13, all trusts are 
required to report against a core 
set of indicators relevant to the 
services they provide, for at least 
the last two reporting periods, 
using a standardised statement set 
out in the NHS (Quality Accounts) 
Amendment Regulations 2012, this 
data is presented in the same way 
in all quality accounts published in 
England. This allows the reader to 
make a fair comparison between 
hospitals if they choose to.

As required by point 26 of the NHS 
(Quality Accounts) Amendment 
Regulations 2012, where the 
necessary data is made available 
by the Health and Social Care 
Information Centre, a comparison is 

made of the numbers, percentages, 
values, scores or rates of each 
of the NHS foundation trust’s 
indicators with

a) the national average for the 
same; and 

b) those NHS trusts and NHS 
foundation trusts with the 
highest and lowest of the same. 

Our hospital mortality rating
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
foundation trust by the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre with 
regard to—

a) the value and banding of the 
summary  hospital-level mortality 
indicator (“SHMI”)   for the trust 
for the reporting period; and

b) the percentage of patient deaths 
with palliative care coded at 
either diagnosis or specialty level 
for the trust for the reporting 
period is included to give context

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this data is as described for 
the following reasons, taken 
from national dataset using 
data provided.

Our standard core indicators of quality

 Reporting Period

 P01648 - July 2012 - June 2013

uploaded Jan-14 next version 

due Apr-14

P01638 - April 2012 - March 2013

uploaded Oct-13 next version due 

Jan-14

P01619 - Jan 2012 - Dec 2012

uploaded Jul-13 next version due 

Oct-13

Value OD Banding Value OD Banding Value OD Banding

UHS 0.9856 2 0.9751 2 0.9517 2

National Ave 1.0007 2 0.9273 2 1.0009 2

Highest Trust Score 1.1563 1 1.1697 1 1.1919 1

Lowest Trust Score 0.6259 3 0.6523 3 0.7031 3

http://nww.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/
OD Banding: 1 Greater than OD_UL, 2 between OD_LL & OD UL, 3 Less than OD_LL 

A) The value and banding of the summary hospital-level mortality indicator (“SHMI”)
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 Reporting Period

 P01650 - July 2012 – Jun 2013

uploaded Jan-14 next version due 

Apr-14

P01640 - April 2012 - Mar2013

uploaded Oct-13 next version due 

Jan-14

P01621 - Jan 2012 - Dec 2012

uploaded Jul-13 next version due 

Oct-13

Treatment 

Rate

Diagnosis 

Rate

Combined 

Rate

Treatment 

Rate

Diagnosis 

Rate

Combined 

Rate

Treatment 

Rate

Diagnosis 

Rate

Combined 

Rate

UHS 13.8 22.9 25.0 13.3 22.1 24.0 13.6 22.7 24.5

National Ave 1.52 20.50 20.64 1.48 20.25 20.38 1.40 19.30 19.47

Highest Trust Score 17.4 44.1 44.1 16.9 43.9 44.0 16.0 42.7 42.7

Lowest Trust Score 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.1 0 0.2 0.2

b) the percentage of patient deaths with palliative care coded at either diagnosis or specialty level

Treatment Rate % of observed deaths with treatment specialty code 315

Diagnosis Rate % of observed deaths with any diagnosis code of Z515

Combined Rate % of observed deaths with treatment specialty code 315 or any diagnosis code of Z515

The figures below provide some 
context in understanding how the 
Trust’s integrated hospice (Countess 
Mountbatten House) impacts on 
the provision of specialist palliative 

medicine/care within the Trust.  The 
treatment rate (specialist palliative 
medicine/care) in the three quarters 
has risen by 1.47% in the Trust 
compared to a national rise of 

8.57% and the diagnosis rate 
(provision of specialist palliative 
care) has risen by 0.88% at the 
Trust compared to the national rise 
of 6.22%.  

http://nww.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/
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Our Patient Reported Outcomes Measures (PROMS) following hip or knee replacement surgery 

 Reporting Period

 Apr 2013 - Sept 2013
(Provisional, published Feb 14)

Apr 2012 - Mar 2013
(Published Oct13)

Apr 2011 - Mar 2012
(Published Oct13)

UHS Eng. Ave. UHS Eng. Ave. UHS Eng. Ave.

National Ave 0.387* 0.447* 0.413 0.438 0.417 0.416

Highest Trust Score 0.304* 0.339* 0.339 0.319 0.290 0.302

 Reporting Period

 Apr 2013 - Sept 2013
(Provisional, published Feb 14)

Apr 2012 - Mar 2013
(Published Oct13)

Apr 2011 - Mar 2012
(Published Oct13)

UHS Eng. Ave. UHS Eng. Ave. UHS Eng. Ave.

Overall 74% 72.7% 70.1% 74.9% 79.7% 74.7%

Hips 53.9% - 55.6% - 67.6% -

Knees 111.7%** - 104%** - 99.7% -

Adjusted health gain

Participation rates 

Data source http://www.hscic.gov.uk/proms 25.04.2014

Varicose vein and groin hernia data not recorded as the numbers of procedures at UHS are very low. 
*Adjusted health gain data unavailable due to low numbers, therefore figures reflect unadjusted health gain data
**Participation rates above 100% occurs when the number of questionnaires returned for a period exceeds the 
number of cases undertaken. 

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust has taken the 
following actions to improve this 

percentage and so the quality of its 
service.
•  Increasing clinical engagement

•  Identify medical leads to promote 
collection of PROMS data for hips 
and knees.

The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
Foundation trust by the health and 
Social Care Information centre with 
regards to the trusts patient reported 
outcomes measures scores for 

•  Hip replacement surgery, and 
•  Knee replacement surgery, during 

the period 2012/13.

The university Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation trust 

considers that this percentage  is 
as described for the reason that it 
is taken from the National dataset 
using data provided.
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Our readmission rate for 
children and adults
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or 
NHS foundation trust by the Health 

and Social Care Information Centre 
with regard to the percentage of 
patients aged: 
(i)  0 to 15
(ii) 16 or over

who are readmitted to a hospital 
which forms part of the trust within 
28days of being discharged from 
the hospital which forms part of the 
trust during the reporting period. 

 Reporting Period (all uploaded Dec-12 next Dec-13)

 Apr 2011 -  Mar 2012 
standardised to persons 
2007/08

Apr 2010 -  Mar 2011 
standardised to persons 
2007/08

Apr 2009 -  Mar 2010 
standardised to persons 
2007/08

Indirectly age, sex, method of admission, diagnosis, procedure standardised percent

UHS 10.81 10.40 10.40

National Ave 10.26 10.45 10.43

Highest Trust Score 14.94 16.05 23.01

Lowest Trust Score 0 0 0

Lowest Trust Score 
(non-zero)

3.75 4.04 4.29

 Reporting Period (all uploaded Dec-12 next Dec-13)

 Apr 2011 -  Mar 2012 
standardised to persons 
2007/08

Apr 2010 -  Mar 2011 
standardised to persons 
2007/08

Apr 2009 -  Mar 2010 
standardised to persons 
2007/08

Indirectly age, sex, method of admission, diagnosis, procedure standardised percent

UHS 11.51 11.34 11.09

National Ave 11.45 11.43 11.18

Highest Trust Score 41.65 22.76 21.83

Lowest Trust Score 0 0 0

Lowest Trust Score 
(non-zero)

3.35 2.44 3.36

Readmissions within 28 days <16

Readmissions within 28 days 16+

The University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
has taken the following actions to 
improve this percentage and so the 
quality of its service.
•  7 day readmissions audit and 

improvement cycle underway in 
emergency medicine

•   Improvements in clinical coding 
categorisation of un/planned 
admissions

•  Psychiatric Liaison Officer recruited

•  Service development planned for 
Palliative Care in Heart Failure

These actions have been developed 
following the 30day readmission 
audit from 13/14.

Note: This is the most recent data available.
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Our patient experience score for 
responsiveness to the personal 
needs of patients
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust of NHS 
foundation trust by the health and 
Social Care Information Centre with 
regards to the trust responsiveness 

to the personal needs of its patients 
during the period 2012/13.

University hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust considers that this 
data is as described for the reason 
that it is taken from the National 
dataset using data provided.

Each year UHS participates in 
the National Inpatient survey. 
A random sample of 1700 
patients was sent a nationally 
agreed questionnaire and the 
results analysed independently 
by the National Co-ordination 
centre.

The percentage of our staff who 
would recommend this trust as a 
provider of care, to their family 
and friends
Supporting and listening to our staff 
that work within UHS is essential 
to ensure we provide a safe, 
effective and quality service. From 

the national staff survey we have 
improved on the percentage of staff 
who would recommend the Trust 
as a provider of care to their family 
and friends.

UHS staff were asked: 
“Staff recommendation of 

the Trust as a place to work or 
receive treatment”.

For 2012/13 the response rate 
was 3.64% and in 2013/14 there 
was a slight increase to 3.79%, 
which is also higher than the 
national average. 

Question UHS 2013 National Average for all 
Acute Trusts 2013

UHS 2012

Q12c – I would recommend my 
organisation as a place to work

63% 59% 64%

Q12d – If a friend or relative 
needed treatment, I would be 
happy with the standard of care 
provided by this organisation 

71% 64% 67%

KF24 – Staff recommendation of 
the Trust as a place to work or 
receive treatment

3.79 (on a scale of 1-5) 3.68 3.64%

The staff survey will continue in 2014/15 and in addition the Friends and Family test question will be asked to 
all staff working with UHS.

 Reporting Period

 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11

Composite Score

UHS 6.8 6.42 6.48

National Ave 7.0 6.74 6.73

Highest Trust Score 8.6 8.5 8.26

Lowest Trust Score 5.4 5.65 5.67

The University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
has taken the following actions to 
improve this percentage and so the 
quality of its service.

• Continue to eliminate mixed sex 
accommodation.

• Improving the discharge process 
for our patients.

• Involving patients more about 

decisions about their care.
• Improve meal time assistance to 

patients, ensuring they receive 
appropriate nutrition and 
hydration.
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 Reporting Period

 2013/14 Q4 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q1

UHS 95.99% 95.37% 95.23% 95.38%

National Ave (Acute Providers) Not yet avaiable 95.84% 95.74% 95.45%

Highest Trust Score (Acute Providers) Not yet avaiable 100.00% 100.0% 100.0%

Lowest Trust Score (Acute Providers) Not yet avaiable 77.70% 81.70% 78.78%

 Reporting Period

 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11

UHS 11.3 18.9 25.8

National Ave 17.3 22.2 29.7

Highest Trust Score 30.8 58.2 71.2

Lowest Trust Score 0 0 0

Lowest Trust Score (non-zero) 1.2 1.2 2.6

Percentage of patients who 
were admitted to hospital 
and who were risk assessed 
for venous thromboembolism 
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
Foundation trust by the health and 

Social Care Information 
centre with regards to the 
percentage of patients who 
were admitted to hospital and 
were risk assessed for venous 
thromboembolisim during the 
period 2012/13.

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this percentage is as 
described for the reason that it is 
taken from the National dataset 
using data provided.

Rate per 100,000 bed days of 
cases of C.difficile infection 
reported in our trust
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
Foundation trust by the health and 

Social Care Information centre with 
regards to the rate per 100,000 bed 
days of cases of C. difficile infection 
reported within the trust amongst 
patients aged 2 or over during the 
period 2012/13.

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation trust considers 
that this data is as described for 
the reason that it is taken from 
the National dataset using 
data provided.

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
the following actions to improve 
this percentage and so the quality 
of its service.
• The Thrombosis group will review 

performance and work with 
clinical teams in areas where 
performance should 

 be improved.
•  Provide thromboprophylaxis to 

Emergency department fracture 

patients with a BMI>30, in line 
with NICE guidance

•  Ensure patients are given VTE 
information on discharge as per 
NICE guidance

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust has taken the 
following actions to improve this 
percentage and so the quality of 
its service.
•  Improve compliance with 

standards of isolation care within 

clinical areas
•  Review Trust hand hygiene 

strategy: Engage staff in strategy 
review through use of focus 
groups, surveys etc.

•  Review cleaning products in 
Trust, including latest cleaning 

technologies.
•  All UHS attributed cases of 

Clostridium difficile (isolates 
obtained >3 days after 
admission) will be investigated, 
with evidence of learning and 
action plan where appropriate.
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Oct 12 to Mar 13 Apr 12 to Sep 12 Oct 11 to Mar 12

 Rates 
per 100 
admissions

Severe 
and death

Severe 
and 
death %

Rates 
per 100 
admissions

Severe 
and death

Severe 
and death 
%

Rates 
per 100 
admissions

Severe 
and death

Severe 
and 
death %

UHS 5.69 53 1.44 6.42 22 0.5 6.2 33 0.8

National Ave
(Acute 
Teaching 
Trusts)

7.72 23 0.44 7.03 28 0.5 6.9 31 0.6

Highest Trust 
Score (Acute 
Teaching 
Trusts)

13.7 74 1.44 12.12 86 1.6 10.7 144 2.8

Lowest Trust 
Score (Acute 
Teaching 
Trusts)

3.21 2 0.06 2.77 1 0 0.94 0 0

The rate per 100 admissions, 
of patient safety incidents 
reported in our trust 
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
Foundation trust by the health and 
Social Care Information centre with 

regards to the number and, where 
available, rate of patient safety 
incidents reported within the trust 
during the reporting period, and 
the number and percentage of such 
patient safety incidents that resulted 
in severe harm or death. 

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this data is as described for 
the reason that it is taken from 
the National dataset using data 
provided.

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust has taken the 
following actions to improve this 
percentage and so the quality of 
its service.

•  To ensure E reporting is 
implemented in all areas 

 across UHS.
•  Embed safety walkabouts within 

the matrons weekly walkabout, 

providing leadership to 
 clinical teams.
•  Continue safety conversation 

training across all disciplines.
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The information below summarises our achievement for performance across all of the performance indicators chosen 
in our patient improvement framework since 2008/09 and the Monitor Compliance Framework requirements. These 
are reported fully each month in our trust board performance reports.

Other information about the quality of care offered by University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust

Key Performance Indicators

Key targets 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2013/14 Comment

Targets    Targets  

A&E patients, % admitted, 
transferred or discharged < 4 
hours (UHS & Partners)

95.10% 94.30% 93.30% >= 95%  

18 weeks - Admitted patients 
treated within 18 weeks

90.00% 92.38% 88.62% Maintain >= 
90%

 

18 weeks - Non admitted 
patients treated within 18 weeks

95.00% 95.24% 88.56% Maintain >= 
95%

 

18 weeks - Patients currently 
waiting on an 18 week pathway 
within 18 weeks (Incomplete 
pathways)

Not measured 91.45% 90.57% Achieve 92%  

6 weeks - Maximum waiting 
times for 15 key diagnostics tests

0.07% 0.06% 0.03% <1%  

Cancers: 2 week wait (Urgent 
GP/ GDP referral) to first hospital 
assessment

95.80% 95.35% 94.20% 93.00%  

All breast symptoms: referral to 
first hospital assessment

98.50% 96.83% 94.74% 93.00%  

Cancers: 31 days (Decision to 
treat) to first treatment

97.70% 98.53% 96.25% 96.00%  

Cancers: 31 days (decision to 
treat) to 2nd or subsequent 
treatment (drugs)

99.90% 99.69% 99.90% 98.00%  

Cancers: 31 days (decision to 
treat) to 2nd or subsequent 
treatment (surgery)

96.50% 97.73% 97.61% 94.00%  

Cancers: 31 days (decision to 
treat) to 2nd or subsequent 
treatment (radiotherapy)

98.90% 99.03% 99.47% 94.00%  

Cancers: 62 days Urgent GP 
referral to treatment

88.20% 90.11% 87.23% 85.00%  
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These are both national and local mandated indicators of quality.

Outcomes, experience and safety performance indicators 

Outcomes Performance Indicators

Key targets 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2013/14
Target

Met/ 
not met

Comment

Hospital Standardised 
Mortality Rate (HSMR) University 
Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust

98.54 102.04 100.01 
(Incomplete 

Year)

<96.8 7 And also prioritised 
for 2014/15

Hospital Standardised Mortality
Rate (HSMR)
Southampton General Hospital

91.44 95.27 94.23 
(Incomplete 

Year)

<90.1 7 And also prioritised 
for 2014/15

Hospital Mortality Rate 1.71% 1.84% 1.82
(Incomplete 

Year)

<1.65% 7 Monitored as 
part of early alert 
system

Emergency Re-admissions
Within 28 days (as average of 
monthly %)

11.0% 10.3% 10.7% 7.5% 7 UHS KPI 13/14 is 
based on published 
Monitor guidance.  
Target rebased

Patient Reported outcome 
measures: PROMS
Hip replacement data
Contributed

Knee replacement data
contributed

67.6%

99.7%

55.6%

104%

53.9%*

117%*

80%

80%

*2013/14 data 
only available for 
April – Sept 2013 
(Published Feb 
2014)
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Patient Experience Indicators (These are both national and local mandated indicators of quality)

Key targets 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2013/14
Target

Met/ 
not met

End of Year 

Total Complaints 687 585 578 <=600 4 Achieved

Percentage of complaints
closed in target time
(due this month) (As average of 
monthly %)

87% 92% 96.7% >=90% 4 Achieved

Monthly Picker Survey
Recommend hospital to family 
and friends (as average of 
monthly %)

94.3% 94.3% N/A >=85% This question is no 
longer included in 
the real time picker 
survey and has 
been superseded by 
the National Friends 
and Family Test.

National Friends & Family Test

Response Rate

Net Promoter Score*

21.7%

70

20%

75

4 Achieved

Prioritised 14/15

Monthly Picker Survey
Have you ever shared a sleeping 
area with patients of the opposite 
sex during this stay in hospital? 
(Those who gave an answer, as 
average of monthly %)

11.1% 7% 13% <=5% 7 Further work is 
underway to
understand and 
improve the 
mismatch between 
perceived and 
actual experience.

Same Sex Accommodation
(Non Clinically Justified Breaches)

85 10 16 <= 360
(<=30 
per 
month)

4 Achieved

Nutrition
% Patients with MUST Screening 
in 24 hours (as average of 
monthly %)

89.4% 91.9% 89.1% >=98% 7 Prioritized for 
2013/14

From the performance indicators for patient experience there is a mismatch between perceived and actual 
experience by patients associated with mixed sex accommodation. Within UHS patients are cared for 
in single sex bays their care pathway may include a clinical area where male and females share sleeping 
accommodation such as within an intensive care or acute care unit. Due too this patients often report that 
they have shared sleeping accommodation when it is appropriate for their care.
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Patient Safety Indicators

Key targets 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2013/14
Target

Met/ 
not met

Comment

Serious Incidents Requiring
Investigation (SIRI) 

159 127 195 <=156 7 We have exceeded the target 
due to changes in reporting 
since November 2013. Both 
avoidable and unavoidable 
harm falls and grade 3/4 
HAPU are now reported

Never Events 3 2 2 =0 7 Please refer to supporting 
information for more details.

Healthcare Associated 
Infection    
MRSA bacteraemia 
reduction

4 3 5 <=4 7 DoH target is 0 cases for 
13/14. Monitor performance 
limit is for no more than 4 
cases for 2013/14

Healthcare Associated 
Infection    
Census”)
(as average of monthly %)

388% 375% 354% >=100% 4 Achieved

Healthcare Associated 
Infection 
Clostridium difficile 
reduction

66 40 33 43 4 Achieved

Avoidable Hospital 
Acquired 33*
Grade III and IV Pressure 
Ulcers

33* 41 42 <=24 7 Prioritized for 2014/15. 
21 still to be confirmed 
25/04/14

Falls 
Avoidable Falls

13 5 19 <8 7 Prioritized for 2014 /15
Reporting has improved Each 
fall is reviewed in depth, for 
root cause and learning. 9 
remain to be confirmed if 
avoidable or unavoidable

Falls 
Assessment tool) 
Compliance (as average of 
monthly %)

94.7% 94.5% 95% >=95% 4 Achieved

Thromboprophylaxis (VTE)
% Patients Assessed 
(CQUIN)

91.21% 95.31% 95.41% >=95% 4 Achieved

Thromboprophylaxis 
(VTE) Pharmacological 
prophylaxis (as average of 
monthly %)

93.6% 96.16% 97.32 >=95% 4 Achieved

Figures correct and the data source have been included. For thromboprophylaxis CQUIN, this information 
is obtained from the VTE CQUIN Data and for VTE pharmacological prophylaxis, safety thermometer.
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Conclusion
Quality is central to everything 
we do at University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust. 
Good quality healthcare depends 
on getting the basics right for our 
patients, and we can achieve this by 
listening to our patients needs and 
working in partnership with patients 

and carers to achieve a safe and 
effective patient experience of their 
hospital journey. 

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust is committed 
to working in partnership with our 
patients and stakeholders over the 

coming year to further develop, 
improve and monitor the quality 
of services that are provided. 
Providing quality care to our patients 
means ensuring we deliver good 
clinical outcomes for our patients, 
maintaining their safety while 
delivering care with compassion.



82

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

Response to the quality account from Southampton City 
and West Hampshire clinical commissioning groups

Southampton City and West 
Hampshire Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs) would like to thank 
University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust (UHSFT) for the 
opportunity to review and provide a 
statement response to their 2013/14 
quality account. The Trust need 
to be congratulated on improving 
the outcomes for the deteriorating 
patient with the reduction in the 
number of cardiac arrests, the 
successful hospital project to improve 
the care of older patients with 
delirium and/or dementia and the 
continued improvement in patient 
experience demonstrated through 
the implementation of the Friends 
and Family test and the national Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) survey 
results. It is encouraging to read 
of the systems being developed by 
the Trust to improve the reporting, 
management processes and 
organisational learning from patient 
safety incidents.

Both CCGs support the priorities 
identified for 2014/15 especially the 
continued focus on reducing hospital 
acquired pressure ulcers and harm as 
a result of a fall.

Reviewing the quality account 
commissioners confirm that as far 
as it can be ascertained the quality 
account complies with the national 
requirements for such a report and 
the following are of specific note:

• The report provides information 
across the three domains of 
quality – patient safety, clinical 
effectiveness and patient 
experience.

• The mandated elements are 
incorporated into the report.

• There is evidence within the report 
that the Trust has used both 
internal and external assurance 
mechanisms.

• Commissioners are satisfied 
with the accuracy of the quality 
account, as far as they can be 
based on the information available 
to them.

• It is also of note that the Trust 
has included details of the 
collaborative activities undertaken 
with the Patient’s Association and 
the University of Southampton 
following the publication and 
national discussion around 
compassionate care.

It is disappointing to note that the 
Trust has had another two never 
events this year. However the CCGs 
have seen the reports relating to 
the incidents and undertaken visits 
to UHSFT for additional assurance 
and as such are confident that 
measures have been put in place 
to prevent them happening again. 
As both these events related to 
surgery, the Trust has continued with 
its safer surgery action plan which 
commissioners will continue to 
monitor via monthly clinical quality 
review meetings.

Although identified in the 
performance section of the Patient 
Improvement Framework (PIF), the 
CCGs would have expected more 
details to have been included in the 
Trust’s 2014/15 priorities in terms of: 

• The quality of services experienced 
by patients within the emergency 
department with the continued 
pressures in relation to the long 
waiting times. 

• The continued progress to ensure 

adherence to national guidance 
in relation to eliminating mixed 
sex accommodation breaches and 
reporting serious incidents within 
48 hours.

The CCGs are surprised that the 
Trust has not included a specific 
priority with regards the trauma and 
orthopaedics (T&O) service where 
concerns have been raised by the 
Deanery with regards to the support 
for trainee doctors and the resulting 
actions from the departments’ 
participation in a comprehensive 
internal quality review process.

It is of note the number of clinical 
audits the Trust is participating 
in, which appears to reflect the 
diversity of services provided and 
the summaries provided of actions 
undertaken from the 36 local clinical 
audits reviewed.

Overall Southampton City and West 
Hampshire Clinical Commissioning 
Groups are satisfied that the plans 
outlined in the Trust’s quality account 
will maintain and further improve 
the quality of services delivered to 
patients and both CCGs look forward 
to working closely with the Trust over 
the coming year to further improve 
the quality of Iocal health services.

Heather Hauschild                
Chief Officer                         

John Richards
Chief Officer



83

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

On behalf of the council of 
governors, I am pleased to 
comment on the Trust’s quality 
account for 2013/14.

The report reflects the challenges 
faced by the Trust in terms of 
resource versus demand, which 
do not get any easier year on year. 
Despite this, the Trust has been able 
to celebrate many successes, which 
reflects the tremendous expertise, 
commitment and sheer hard work 
from the staff at every level and 
group within the hospital.

It is pleasing to see that feed back 
from patients and families has 
been acted upon and changes 
implemented, in particular those 
from complaints and incidents that 
required investigation.

Several issues raised by governors 
have been considered and are 
included in the work streams and 
priorities for next year, in particular 
patient nutrition.

The work that has been introduced 
in the ward areas to improve, 
patient safety, experience and 

outcomes is to be commended and 
as governors we look forward to 
seeing this initiative rolled out to all 
areas treating patients whether in-
patients or out-patients.

The biggest challenge has been 
to address the failure to meet 
the A&E targets. Despite several 
action plans this problem is yet to 
be resolved. It is encouraging to 
see there are intentions to work 
more collaboratively with external 
partners, especially social care 
service and offers some optimism 
for improvement.

The report states the intentions to 
achieve national targets, however 
we believe that the Trust should 
be more ambitious and strive for 
better, as those stated are generally 
a minimum standard only.

Patient access times are already a 
challenge and governors will want 
to see that the actions intended to 
keep control on this are working.

We understand that this report 
has to be compiled in accordance 
with external guidelines, however 

we feel strongly that in its 
present format this document 
is cumbersome and less than 
straightforward to interpret by the 
less than expert eye. We ask that 
consideration is given to reviewing 
the present format and pressure put 
upon those who can influence this.

In the meantime we strongly 
request that a more user friendly 
document is made available to 
the residents of Southampton and 
beyond, which enables them to 
draw their own conclusions about 
whether the University Hospital of 
Southampton is safe, provides a 
good outcome for their needs and 
ensures a positive experience.

On behalf of the council of 
governors I would like to thank 
those involved in producing 
the document for giving us the 
opportunity to comment

 

Margaret Wheatcroft
Chair patient experience group, 
council of governors, UHS FT

Response to the quality account from our council of governors
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Healthwatch Southampton is 
pleased once again to comment 
on the quality account of the 
Trust for the year. Southampton 
Link continued to provide the 
public engagement activities of 
Healthwatch until July 2013 and 
a number of members are now 
involved with the Strategy group of 
Healthwatch, so are in a position to 
comment on the full year’s activities. 

We are aware that of necessity, 
the quality account of a major 
NHS provider is a long and 
complex document containing a 
number of mandatory statements.  
Nevertheless we are content that 
the Trust has made a good attempt 
to ensure that it is clearly presented 
and understandable to the patients 
and public. Our overall impression 
is that it gives good coverage of the 
trust’s services and as far as 
we can judge there are no 
significant omissions. 

We welcome the appointment 
of the new chief executive and 
endorse her comment about the 
pride and commitment of the staff.  
Members of LINk/Healthwatch are 
involved in the clinical accreditation 
scheme and for this and other 
reasons have visited many wards 
and departments. We have found 

that staff, at all levels and over 
a wide range of roles, show a 
genuine desire to improve 
patient satisfaction.

In her statement, the chief executive 
refers to deliver the national targets 
of patients waiting no longer 
than four hours in the emergency 
department and patients being 
treated within 18 weeks. We are 
pleased that the Trust has ‘opened 
additional capacity to support 
future delivery’ but we would have 
wished to see more detail and plans 
to tackle this within the quality 
account particularly as this has been 
an issue for the past two years. It is 
essential that every effort is made to 
further improve the situation.

Overall, a review of the ‘key targets’ 
for clinical outcomes, patient 
safety and patient experience is 
very positive with the Trust having 
achieved eight of the nine targets.  
In particular we are pleased that 
the Trust has given significant 
prominence to the ‘Friends and 
family’ test and the display of the 
results on each ward.  However it 
is disappointing that the Trust has 
again reported two ‘never events’ 
and the number of avoidable 
hospital acquired pressure ulcers 
and avoidable falls continues to 

be of concern. The one priority 
not achieved was “Making 
improvements in mortality rates and 
the way mortality is measured and 
evaluated”. This is of concern as in 
setting the priorities for 2014/15 
the Trust confirms that this “can be 
an indicator of things going wrong 
in a hospital and it is important to 
ensure that the data is robust and 
outcomes accurately coded and 
then utilise the data to review by 
speciality and by day of treatment”. 
The Trust has correctly identified this 
as a priority for 2014/15; we would 
wish to see the Trust rated better 
than its current rating for HSMR. 

As an acute hospital and regional 
provider, UHS faces a year on year 
increase in patient levels and it is 
hoped that they are able to achieve 
their targets for 2014/15. 

We are pleased to report that the 
trust has reaffirmed that it wishes 
to involve Healthwatch on a 
number of issues and maintain the 
relationship previously enjoyed with 
LINk for the benefit of patients.

Harry Dymond MBE
Strategy group member lead 
for UHS FT, Healthwatch 
Southampton

Response to the quality account from Healthwatch Southampton



85

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

The directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National 
Health Service Quality Accounts 
Regulations to prepare quality 
accounts for each financial year. 
Monitor has issued guidance to 
NHS foundation trust boards on 
the form and content of annual 
quality reports (which incorporate 
the above legal requirements) and 
on the arrangements that NHS 
foundation trust boards should put 
in place to support data quality 
for the preparation of the 
quality report. 

In preparing the quality report, 
directors are required to take steps 
to satisfy themselves that: 

• the content of the quality report 
meets the requirements set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2013/14; 

• the content of the quality 
report is not inconsistent with 
internal and external sources of 
information including: 
- board minutes and papers for 

the period April 2013 to June 
2014 

- papers relating to Quality 
reported to the Board over 
the period April 2013 to June 
2014 

- feedback from commissioners 
dated [28/04/2014] 

- feedback from governors 
dated [07/04/2014] 

- feedback from local 
Healthwatch organisations 
dated [23/04/2014] 

- the trust’s complaints report 
published under regulation 18 
of the Local Authority Social 
Services and NHS Complaints 
Regulations 2009, dated 
[2013/14] 

- [latest] national patient survey 
[March 2014] 

- [latest] national staff survey 
[2013] 

- the head of internal audit’s 
annual opinion over the trust’s 
control environment dated 
[23/04/2014] 

- CQC quality and risk profiles 
dated [2013 and 2014]. 

• the quality report presents a 
balanced picture of the NHS 
foundation trust’s performance 
over the period covered; 

• the performance information in 
the quality report is reliable and 
accurate; 

• there are proper internal controls 
over the collection and reporting 
of the measures of performance 
included in the quality report, 
and these controls are subject to 
review to confirm that they are 
working effectively in practice; 

• the data underpinning the 
measures of performance in 

the quality report is robust and 
reliable, conforms to specified 
data quality standards and 
prescribed definitions, is subject 
to appropriate scrutiny and 
review; and 

• The quality report has been 
prepared in accordance with 
Monitor’s annual reporting 
guidance (which incorporates the 
Quality Accounts Regulations) as 
well as the standards to support 
data quality for the preparation 
of the quality report. 

The directors confirm to the best 
of their knowledge and belief they 
have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the 
quality report. 

By order of the board 

28 May 2014

Chair

28 May 2014

Chief executive

Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the quality report 
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We have been engaged by the 
council of governors of University 
Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust to perform an 
independent assurance engagement 
in respect of University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust’s quality report for the year 
ended 31 March 2014 (the “quality 
report”) and certain performance 
indicators contained therein. 

Scope and subject matter
The indicators for the year ended 
31 March 2014 subject to limited 
assurance consist of the national 
priority indicators as mandated by 
Monitor: 

For acute NHS foundation trusts: 
• Clostridium Difficile – all cases 

of Clostridium Difficile positive 
diarrhoea in patients aged two 
years or over   that  are attributed 
to the Trust; and 

• 62 day cancer waits – the 
percentage of patients treated 
within 62 days of referral from GP. 

We refer to these national priority 
indicators collectively as the 
“indicators”.

Respective responsibilities of the 
directors and auditors 
The directors are responsible for 
the content and the preparation 
of the quality report in accordance 
with the criteria set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual issued by Monitor
. 
Our responsibility is to form a 
conclusion, based on limited 
assurance procedures, on whether 
anything has come to our attention 
that causes us to believe that: 

• the quality report is not prepared 
in all material respects in line 
with the criteria set out in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual; 

• the quality report is not 
consistent in all material respects 
with the sources - specified in the 
Detailed Guidance for External 
Assurance on Quality Reports; 
and. 

• the indicators in the quality report 
identified as having been the 
subject of limited assurance in the 
quality report are not reasonably 
stated in all material respects 
in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual and the six dimensions of 
data quality set out in the Detailed 
Guidance for External Assurance 
on Quality Reports. 

We read the quality report and 
consider whether it addresses the 
content requirements of the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual, and consider 
the implications for our report 
if we become aware of any 
material omissions. 

We read the other information 
contained in the quality report and 
consider whether it is materially 
inconsistent with:

• Board minutes for the period 
April 2013 to April 2014;

• Papers relating to quality 
reported to the Board over the 
period April 2013 to April 2014;

• Feedback from the 
Commissioners dated May 2014;

• Feedback from local Healthwatch 
organisations dated May 2014; 

• The Trust’s complaints report 
published under regulation 18 
of the Local Authority Social 

Services and NHS Complaints 
Regulations 2009, 2013/14;

• The 2013/14 national patient 
survey;

• The 2013/14 national staff 
survey;

• Care Quality Commission quality 
and risk profiles/intelligent 
monitoring reports 2013/14; and

• The 2013/14 Head of Internal 
Audit’s annual opinion over the 
Trust’s control environment.

We consider the implications for 
our report if we become aware 
of any apparent misstatements 
or material inconsistencies with 
those documents (collectively, the 
“documents”). Our responsibilities 
do not extend to any other 
information. 

We are in compliance with the 
applicable independence and 
competency requirements of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales (ICAEW) 
Code of Ethics. Our team comprised 
assurance practitioners and relevant 
subject matter experts.

This report, including the conclusion, 
has been prepared solely for the 
council of governors of University 
Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust as a body, to assist 
the council of governors in reporting 
University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust’s quality 
agenda, performance and activities. 
We permit the disclosure of this 
report within the Annual Report for 
the year ended 31 March 2014, to 
enable the council of governors to 
demonstrate they have discharged 
their governance responsibilities 
by commissioning an independent 
assurance report in connection with 
the indicators. To the fullest extent 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the council of governors of University 
Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust on the Quality Report 
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permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the council of governors 
as a body and University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
for our work or this report save where 
terms are expressly agreed and with 
our prior consent in writing. 

Assurance work performed 
We conducted this limited assurance 
engagement in accordance with 
International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 (Revised) – 
‘Assurance Engagements other 
than Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information’ issued by the 
International Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). 
Our limited assurance 
procedures included: 

• Evaluating the design and 
implementation of the key 
processes and controls for 
managing and reporting the 
indicators.

• Making enquiries of management.
• Testing key management controls.
• Limited testing, on a selective 

basis, of the data used to calculate 
the indicator back to supporting 
documentation.

• Comparing the content 
requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual to the categories reported 
in the Quality Report.

• Reading the documents.

A limited assurance engagement is 
smaller in scope than a reasonable 
assurance engagement. The nature, 
timing and extent of procedures 
for gathering sufficient appropriate 
evidence are deliberately limited 
relative to a reasonable assurance 
engagement.

Limitations 
Non-financial performance 
information is subject to more 
inherent limitations than 
financial information, given the 
characteristics of the subject 
matter and the methods used for 
determining such information.

The absence of a significant body of 
established practice on which to draw 
allows for the selection of different 
but acceptable measurement 
techniques which can result in 
materially different measurements 
and can impact comparability. The 
precision of different measurement 
techniques may also vary. 
Furthermore, the nature and methods 
used to determine such information, 
as well as the measurement criteria 
and the precision thereof, may 
change over time. It is important to 
read the quality report in the context 
of the criteria set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual.

The scope of our assurance work 
has not included governance over 
quality or non-mandated indicators 
which have been determined locally 
by University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust.

Conclusion 
Based on the results of our 
procedures, nothing has come to 
our attention that causes us to 
believe that, for the year ended 31 
March 2014: 

• the quality report is not prepared 
in all material respects in line 
with the criteria set out in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual; 

• the quality report is not 
consistent in all material respects 
with the sources specified above; 
and 

• the indicators in the quality 
report subject to limited 
assurance have not been 
reasonably stated in all material 
respects in accordance with the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual.

KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
15 Canada Square
London E14 5GL
United Kingdom

May 2014
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Regulation and inspection 
of our services
We are determined to ensure 
that our patients receive the 
highest quality care and we work 
continually to achieve this. By 
looking carefully at our internal 
processes and information and 
through learning from national 
assessments we are able to assure 
ourselves that our care is high 
quality and we are using our 
resources responsibly.

Care Quality Commission
The Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) was formed on 31 March 
2009 to ensure that hospitals and 
other NHS providers meet essential 
standards through its registration 
system and drive improvement by 
conducting reviews of services and 
commissioning. 

In January 2011, the Trust was 
registered with the CQC without 
conditions to provide services at 
five locations. It is now a legal 
requirement of our registration that 
we continually monitor and ensure 
compliance with the essential 
standards of quality and safety. The 

standards are grouped into five key 
outcome areas:

• Involvement and information
• Personalised care, treatment and 

support
• Safeguarding and safety
• Suitability of staffing
• Quality and management

Responsibility for ensuring adequate 
processes are in place sits with the 
nursing directorate under director 
of nursing Judy Gillow.
 
The report of the latest inspection 
visit can be viewed at 
www.cqc.org.uk

Health and safety
Ensuring the health and safety 
of our patients, staff and visitors 
is a top priority and we regularly 
promote this to our staff. The Trust 
has a positive relationship with the 
Health and Safety Executive and has 
received no improvement notices 
during this reporting period.

Clinical audit
Several hundred clinical audits are 

registered every year with our clinical 
effectiveness department. This 
important work, which assures us 
that our care is of a high standard, is 
celebrated every year in the annual 
clinical effectiveness conference. 

We take part in a range of national 
and local audits in line with our 
priorities for improving care as well 
as those of our commissioners. 
Details of the audits we are currently 
participating in can be seen in our 
quality account 2012/13 on page 38 
of this report.

Dr Foster Real Time Monitoring 
(RTM) continues to be widely used 
across the Trust and this means 
we can monitor our outcomes 
compared with those of other similar 
hospitals in England. Data relating 
to mortality is routinely explored 
in specialties and discussed by our 
divisional management teams. 

The Trust’s Hospital Standardised 
Mortality Ratio (HSMR) as well as the 
newly developed Summary Hospital 
Level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) 
statistics are reviewed on a quarterly 
basis. The Trust’s HSMR is within the 
expected range.  

Governing our hospitals
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Our regulator, Monitor, uses risk 
ratings to assess whether or not we 
are meeting the commitments we 
have made as a foundation trust to 
run our hospitals effectively.

The process for this was changed 
by Monitor during the year. For 
quarters one and two, the financial 
risk rating is based on five key 
financial metrics as set out in the 
Monitor Compliance Framework. 
These provide measures of the 

Trust’s financial efficiency, liquidity, 
underlying performance and 
achievement of plan. The Trust 
achieved a consistent risk-rating of 
three (out of a possible four with 
four being best-performing) for 
these quarters.

For quarters three and four, the 
continuity of service rating focused 
on liquidity and capital service 
capacity as set out in  the Monitor 
Risk Assessment Framework. The 

Trust achieved a risk rating of 
three.The governance risk rating
is based on our performance in 
access targets including the 
18 week referral to treatment 
target, the four-hour wait in 
ED target and a range of other 
measures including our infection 
rates. It also encompasses whether 
we are legally constituted with the 
required representation on our 
council of governors.

Our governance risk-rating
During 2013/14, the difficult 
pressures across the health economy 
meant that the Trust continued to 
experience difficulty in achieving 
some performance targets in the 
emergency department and in our 
ability to treat people within 18 
weeks of their GP referral.  
During the year, the Trust was 

investigated by Monitor. During 
this time the Trust was unrated for 
governance. The Trust has plans 
to achieve regulatory performance 
moving forward and has agreed 
these with our local clinical 
commissioners. Therefore, Monitor 
has rated the Trust as green in 
quarter four.

The Trust has continued to seek 
assistance from national groups at 
the Department of Health which 
specialise in resolving problems in 
emergency and treatment pathways.

During 2013/14, we invested in 59 
additional beds to increase capacity in 
order to address this issue. 

Monitor risk ratings

 Annual plan
2013/14

Q1
2013/14

Q2
2013/14

Q3
2013/14

Q4
2013/14

Under the compliance framework

Financial risk rating 3 3 3

Governance risk rating Amber-red  Red No rating

Under the risk-assessment framework

Continuity of service 
rating

3 3

Governance rating No rating Green

 Annual plan
2012/13

Q1
2012/13

Q2
2013/14

Q3
2013/14

Q4
2013/14

Financial risk rating  3 3 3 3 3

Governance risk rating Amber Amber-red Green Amber-red Red

Risk ratings during 2013/14 

Risk ratings during 2012/13 under the compliance framework 
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Our council of governors continues 
to play a vital part in involving our 
community in the work we do. They 
represent our 10,300 members 
which are made up of staff, patients, 
local people and carers to give them 
a voice at the highest level of our 
organisation.

Enabling our members to help shape 
our future and have a say in what 
we do remains a priority and we 
achieve this through a programme 
of engagement events throughout 
the year. 

This year we held events on children’s 
research, prostate cancer and for 
the first time we held a joint event 
with South Central Ambulance NHS 
Foundation Trust and Solent NHS Trust 
on emergency care. This event gave 
our members a behind-the-scenes 
look at health emergencies as well 
as informing the audience about 
alternative emergency care services.

We also held our annual hospital 
open day with more than 50 
departments holding interactive 
demonstrations, hands-on activities, 
videos and talks all about life-saving 
science. 

At the beginning of the year, we 
carried out a members’ survey to 
find out what they expect from 
being a member and how we can 
improve their experience. The results 
were useful in helping to prepare 
for the governor elections during 
summer 2013.

The governor elections were held 
for the Southampton City and Isle 
of Wight constituencies, as well as 
staff governor elections for the nurses 
and midwives and non-clinical and 
support staff groups. We also held 
a by-election for the New Forest, 
Eastleigh and Test Valley constituency. 
In total, nearly 3,000 members 
voted in these elections and our new 

governors took up their posts on 
1 October 2013 after an extensive 
induction process.

We also recruited two young 
person representatives for the 
council of governors to support our 
engagement strategy for under 21’s. 
Over the coming year, they will be 
vital in attracting more young people 
to become members and providing 
meaningful engagement events.

At the end of the year, we upgraded 
our membership database to enhance 
our partnership with our membership 
community. Our new database 
allows us to analyse and compare 
our membership demographics with 
our local population. It provides a 
way to communicate instantly with 
our members as well as ensuring our 
members’ data is completely secure 
and up to date.

Our community

Constituency Number Percentage

Southampton City 3442 34

New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley 4379 42

Rest of England 1515 15

Isle of Wight 973 9

Age ranges Number Percentage

16 3 0.03

17-21 34 0.33

22+ 10233 99.3

Not known 39  

Gender Number Percentage

Male 4766 46

Female 5543 54

Ethnicity Number Percentage

White 9881 96

Mixed 36 0.3

Asian/Asian Black 207 2

Black/Black British 86 0.7

Other (inc Chinese) 71 0.7

Not stated 28 0.3

Our public members
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There are 13 publically elected 
governors who represent our 
membership. In addition, there 
are four elected staff governors 
representing our staff groups. 
Finally, six local organisations 
have appointed a governor. All 

elected governors serve a three 
year term of office, however, in 
our initial period as a Foundation 
Trust the governors representing 
Southampton City, Isle of Wight, 
nursing and midwifery staff, and 
non-clinical and support staff 

retired after two years at the end 
of September 2013. This ensured 
some continuity of governors on 
the council.

The composition is as follows:

In 2013/14 the council of 
governors has considered a number 
of items including:

• Remuneration of the non-
executive directors and the chair 

• Strategy of the Trust
• Children’s Hospital
• Membership engagement

• Performance of the Trust, 
including HSMR

• Changes to the constitution.

They have also been involved in 
the appointment of the new chief 
executive and asked a number of 
questions of non-executive directors 
on subjects such as workforce and 

estates issues.

The lead governor, Margaret 
Wheatcroft, plays a role in 
facilitating direct communciation 
between Monitor and the council 
of governors.

Council of governors

Composition of council of governors

Public elected governors (13)

Southampton City (coterminous with the Southampton City Council area) 5 governors

New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley (coterminous with the local authority areas of New Forest 

District Council, Eastleigh Borough Council and Test Valley Borough Council)

4 governors

Isle of Wight (coterminous with the Isle of Wight County Council area) 1 governor

Rest of England and Wales 3 governors

Staff elected governors (4)

Medical practitioners and dental staff 1 governor

Nursing and Midwifery staff 1 governor

Other clinical staff 1 governor

Non-clinical and support staff 1 governor

Appointed governors (6)

Southampton City Clinical Commissioning Group 1 governor

West Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group 1 governor

Southampton City Council 1 governor

University of Southampton 1 governor

Hampshire County Council 1 governor

Business South 1 governor
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Attendance at Council of Governors 2013/14

Governor   Term of office Attendance
actual/possible

Publically elected governors

Southampton City

Chris Andrews Elected to 2016 2/3

Rosemary Bynam Elected to 2013 2/3

Sue Daniel Elected to 2013 3/3

Eddie Leach Elected to 2013 2/3

Terry Matthews Elected to 2016 3/3

Caroline Powell Elected to 2016 3/3

Colin Pritchard Re-elected to 2016 5/6

Leon Spender Elected to 2016 3/3

New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley

Nichola Goom Resigned September 2013 2/3

Chris Harris Elected to 2014 0/3

Heather Parsons Elected to 2014 3/3

David Rutter Elected to 2014 3/3

Ann Short Elected to 2014 5/6

Isle of Wight

Estelle Thomas Elected to 2013 2/3

Rose Wiltshire Elected to 2016 3/3

Rest of England and Wales

Paul Cantlie Elected to 2014 6/6

Aelwen Emmett Elected to 2014 5/6

Jean Mallows Elected to 2014 3/6

Staff elected governors

Brian Birch, Medical practitioners and dental staff Elected to 2014 4/6

Pat Kemish, Nursing and midwifery staff Re-elected to 2016 6/6

Kieran Hand, Other clinical staff Elected to 2014 5/6

Gordon Kemish, Non-clinical and support staff Elected to 2013 1/3

Anita Beer, Non-clinical and support staff Elected to 2016 3/3

Continued on next page
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Governor   Term of office Attendance
actual/possible

Appointed governors

Margaret Wheatcroft, Southampton City Clinical Commissioning Group Appointed to 2014 6/6

Ian Green, West Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group Resigned July 2013 0/2

Simon Hunter, (from December 2013), West Hampshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Appointed to 2016 1/2

Cllr Andrew Gibson, Hampshire City Council Appointed to 2014 1/6

Cllr Jacqui Rayment, Southampton City Council Resigned June 2013 0/1

Cllr Sarah Bogle (from September 2013), Southampton City Council Appointed to 2016 2/4

Victoria Snellgrove, Business South Resigned November 2013 2/4

Kate Thompson (from December 2013), Business South Appointed to 2016 2/2

Prof Jessica Corner, University of Southampton Appointed to 2014 2/6

Council meeting dates: 2 July, 3 September, 17 December, 12 February and study sessions on 17 April and 
14 November.

The two under-21 representatives who had been appointed in 2011 came to the end of their term of office in 
2013. Two further under-21 representatives were appointed.
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Rosemary Bynam
Southampton City 
(until 30/09/13): Nil

Sue Daniel
Southampton City 
(until 30/09/13): Nil

Eddie Leach
Southampton City 
(until 30/09/13): Trustee 
Southampton Mencap

Professor Colin Pritchard 
Southampton City:
Visiting Professor, Department of 
Psychiatry and Emeritus Professor, 
School of Medicine, University of 
Southampton; Research Professor 
in Psychiatric Social Work, School 
of Health and Social Care, 
Bournemouth University. Undertake 
a range of clinical and policy 
research analysis that is often health 
related linked to my University posts

Terry Matthews
Southampton City 
(from 1/10/13): Nil

Caroline Powell
Southampton City 
(from 1/10/13): Freelance project for 
Academic Health Science network 
involving overview of health 
organisations in Wessex including 
University Hospital Southampton 

(until 2/2/14 when offered 
temporary contract with University 
of Southampton Health Sciences)

Christopher Andrews
Southampton City 
(from 1/10/13): Nil

Leon Spender
Southampton City 
(from 1/10/13): Nil

Nichola Goom
New Forest, Eastleigh and Test 
Valley (until 30/9/13): Nil

Ann Short
New Forest, Eastleigh and 
Test Valley: Nil

Heather Parsons
New Forest, Eastleigh and Test 
Valley (from 1/10/13): Affiliated with 
Where There’s A Will charity which 
supports the general intensive care 
unit at the Trust

David Rutter
New Forest, Eastleigh and Test 
Valley (from 1/10/13): Nil 

Christopher Harris
New Forest, Eastleigh and 
Test Valley (from 1/10/13): 
Research Professor, University of 
Southampton

Estelle Thomas
Isle of Wight (until 30/9/13): CEO 
Isle of Wight (IW) Society for the 
Blind; Member Eye Care Forum 
(IW); In receipt of funding from 
(IW) NHS/PCT for Cafe Climes; 
Funding applications for NHS/PCT 
(IW); Maintain register for Visual 
Impairment 

Rose Wiltshire
Isle of Wight (from 1/10/13): 
Volunteer on Enter and View Panel 
for Health Watch, Isle of Wight 

Aelwen Emmett
Rest of England and Wales: Nil 

Paul Cantlie
Rest of England and Wales: 
Member of UHS Cancer Patient 
and Cancer Carers Group; Member 
of CRUK Cancer Research Patients 
Group; Wessex Cancer Network’s 
Head and Neck representative with 
the site specific group; Member of 
UHS Chemotherapy Operations and 
Strategy Group

Jean Mallows
Rest of England and Wales: Nil

Declaration of business interests 2013/14

Elected public governors:
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Brian Birch 
Medical and dental: Occasional ad 
hoc work for companies for which I 
get paid an honorarium; involvement 
with some bodies e.g. the District 
Prescribing Committee and hospital 
pharmacy providing advice on drug 
usage in certain conditions. This has 
also involved formulary applications 
(unpaid) by pharmaceutical 
companies; involvement in research 
some of which is company funded. 
Educational funding by drug 
companies to attend urological 
meetings (previously declared on 
the Trust’s register of sponsorships); 
acted as a paid advisor to Janssen 
and Astellas; sees choose and book 
patients at Wessex Nuffield Hospital; 

member of the National Research 
Ethics Service (NRES) Research Ethics 
Committee

Pat Kemish 
Nursing and midwifery: Member 
of Royal College of Nursing and 
Midwifery

Gordon Kemish 
Non-clinical and support 
(until 30/9/13): Nil

Anita Beer
Non-clinical and support 
(from 1/10/13): Nil

Kieran Hand 
Other clinical: Member of the 

UHSFT Drugs Committee; member 
of the Royal Pharmaceutical 
Society; member of Union Unite/
Amicus; member of Department 
of Health Advisory Committee 
on Antimicrobial Resistance and 
Healthcare-Associated Infection 
(ARHAI); post-doctoral Clinical 
Academic Fellow at the University 
of Southampton; occasional 
ad hoc consultancy work for 
pharmaceutical companies about 
marketing of new antibiotics; 
occasional sponsorship by 
pharmaceutical companies to 
attend research conferences; 
member of the UK Clinical 
Pharmacy Association

Ian Green 
West Hampshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) (until 
31/7/13): Appointed Lay Member, 
West Hampshire CCG; Director, 
Wandle Housing Association

Simon Hunter
West Hampshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) (from 
1/12/13): Board member for West 
Hants CCG – clinical lead for quality; 
GP Testvale Surgery Totton

Margaret Wheatcroft 
Southampton City Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG): 
Appointed lay member 
Southampton City CCG with lead 
for patient and public experience 
and involvement; Chair Clinical 
Commissioning Group Clinical 
Governance Committee

Victoria Snellgrove 
Business South (HAYS Recruiting 
experts worldwide) (until 19/11/3): 
Employed by specialist recruitment 
company

Kate Thompson
Business South (editor, Business 
South Publications) (from 9/12/13): 
Nil

Professor Jessica Corner 
University of Southampton: Dean 
of faculty of health science, 
University of Southampton (main 
employment); chief clinician , 
Macmillan Cancer Support (second 
employment); member of  HEFCE 
Ref 2014 Sub-panel 3, Allied Health 
Professions, Dentistry, Nursing and 
Midwifery and Pharmacy; co-chair 
of NHS England Cancer Patient 
Experience Advisory Group; vice-
chair of the Council of Deans for 
Health; chair of the Wessex Health 

Innovation and Education Cluster 
(until 3/12/13); member Wessex 
Academic Health Sciences Network 
Interim Board

Councillor Jacqui Rayment 
Southampton City Council (until 29 
June 2013): Member of the Labour 
Party; member of UNITE the Union; 
cabinet member for communities; 
chair of Health and Wellbeing Board

Councillor Sarah Bogle
Southampton City Council (from 
21/8/13): Member of Labour 
Party; Employee of University of 
Southampton (from 29/11/13); 
member of Health and Wellbeing 
Board (until 17/12/13); member of 
the Health Overview Scrutiny Panel 
(from 19/3/14)

Councillor Andrew Gibson
Hampshire County Council: Nil

Elected staff governors:

Appointed stakeholder members
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Governor expenses
Governors participating in events 
such as council meetings are 
entitled to claim expenses. Expenses 
are paid at rates agreed by the 
Council of Governors and 
include travel by car or public 
transport, and carer costs. 
All expenses should be receipted.  

During the year eight governors 
claimed expenses of £1,500 in total.

Engagement with members 
The governors canvassed the 

opinion of trust members on the 
Trust’s forward plan (including its 
objectives priorities and strategy). 
This was done through the council 
of governors strategy sub group. 
All governors shared the proposals 
with their colleagues and the 
membership and fed back any 
comments to the Board.

Engagement with Trust Board
The Council of Governors is 
chaired by the Trust chair which 
provides a link between the board 
and Council of Governors. The 

senior independent director and 
deputy chair, chief executive and 
company secretary and head of 
corporate affairs attend all Council 
of Governor meetings. In addition, 
non-executive directors and 
executive directors attend on an ad 
hoc basis or when an item within 
their portfolio is being presented to 
the Council of Governors.
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Trust Board 
The board comprises the chair, 
seven non-executive directors and 
seven executive directors including 
the chief executive. Together they 
bring a wide range of different skills 
and experience to the Trust, such 
that the board achieves balance and 
completeness at the highest level. 

The non-executive directors, 
including the chair, are people who 
live or work in the local area and 
have shown a genuine interest in 
helping to improve the health of 
local people. The non-executive 
directors are determined by the 
board to be independent in both 
character and judgement. 

The chair, executive directors and 
non-executive directors have 
declared any business interests that 
they have. The board is satisfied that 
no conflicts of interest are indicated 
in any external involvement. The 
register of board members’ interests 
is updated at least annually and is 
maintained by the company secretary 
and head of corporate affairs. It is 
available for public inspection from 
the company secretary and head of 
corporate affairs. 

The ‘reservation of powers to the 
board and delegation of powers 
policy’ sets out the business to be 
conducted by the board, or by one 
of its committees. It also details 
the roles and responsibilities of the 
council of governors and how it and 
the board will work together.

Any enquiries should be made 
to: Company secretary and 
head of corporate affairs, Trust 
Headquarters, Mailpoint 18, 
University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust, Tremona 

Road, Southampton, SO16 6YD or 
telephone 023 8120 6829.

Senior independent director
The role of senior independent 
director has been established and 
was held by Nick Marsden, a non-
executive director, until December 
2013 when Nick left the Trust. Since 
January the role is held by Peter 
Hollins, a non-executive director.  
The senior independent director 
role provides a channel through 
which foundation trust members 
and governors are able to express 
concerns, other than the normal 
route of the chair or chief executive.

Appointments
Non-executive directors are appointed 
via open advertisement in accordance 
with the ‘Appointment of a foundation 
trust non-executive director good 
practice guide’ procedure adopted 
by the Trust. The process is managed 
through the governors’ nomination 
committee, a sub-committee of the 
council of governors. This committee 
also determines the remuneration and 
terms and conditions of the non-
executive directors.

Development of the board
The board held a number of study 
sessions in 2013/14 where strategic 
issues along with emerging issues 
were discussed.

Meetings of the board
The board meets once a month in 
public. Additional private meetings 
with only the board, and associated 
employees of the Trust making 
presentations to the board in 
attendance, are held as required. 

Other committees of the board 
include: appointments and 
remuneration committee, strategy 
and finance committee, quality 
and performance committee and 
charitable funds committee.

Generally the other committees of 
board meet monthly. The audit and 
assurance committee meets five 
times a year and the appointment 
and remuneration committee meets 
every other month. The frequency 
of the meetings is set out in each 
committee’s the terms of reference.  
These terms of reference are reviewed 
at least annually.

The performance of individual 
board members is reviewed as set 
out in the remuneration report.

Engagement with council 
of governors
The Trust Board engages with the 
Council of Governors through 
the chair and senior independent 
director. Non-executive and executive 
directors engage with sub-groups of 
the council where these are related 
to their portfolios. Board members 
meet regularly with governors. 

Performance evaluation of the 
Board and its committees
The board undertook a reflective 
review of the effectiveness of 
its committees including their 
membership, frequency of meeting 
and terms of reference. The board 
was satisfied with the effectiveness 
of its existing committees and in 
addition decided to introduce a 
quality and performance committee 
to consider in greater depth issues 
of quality and performance. This 
committee first met in January 2014.  

Introducing the board of directors
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John Trewby, chair  
John joined the Trust on 1 April 2008. He brings with him a wealth of leadership experience 
after a distinguished career in the Navy where he rose to the rank of rear admiral and became 
the first chief executive of the Naval Bases and Supply Agency. After 36 years in the Navy, John 
joined the defence company British Aerospace (latterly BAE Systems) where he was their chief 
naval advisor for eight years. He is an associate of Group4Securicor and chair of Exelis Defence 
Ltd. He is a fellow of the Royal Academy of Engineering, sitting on its Proactive Membership 
Committee and in 2009 chaired a study into “ICT for the UK’s Future”. He is currently chairing 
a study on wind turbines. He is a council member of the University of Southampton.

Professor Iain Cameron 
Iain Cameron is professor of obstetrics and gynaecology and dean of the faculty of medicine 
at the University of Southampton. After graduating in Medicine at the University of Edinburgh, 
he underwent postgraduate clinical and research training in Edinburgh, Melbourne and 
Cambridge. He held the regius chair of obstetrics and gynaecology at the University of Glasgow 
from 1993 and moved to Southampton in 1999. His main clinical and research interests are 
reproductive endocrinology and investigation of the impact of the maternal environment 
on early pregnancy. Iain is Chair of Medical Schools Council and a member of the UKCRC 
(UK Clinical Research Collaboration) Board; the NIHR (National Institute for Health Research) 
Advisory Board; the Health Education England Medical Advisory Group; and the Wessex 
Academic Health Science Network Delivery Board.

Gareth Davies   
Gareth is a customer management consultant, having set up and run three marketing 
operations and rolled out a customer-centric business model across six European countries.  
Now specialising in the management of corporate change affecting customers, Gareth has 
managed customer-facing teams, developed new customer solutions, and re-engineered 
distribution for a major international group in the UK, Switzerland and France. Being active in 
causes which help to give people power over their own lives, Gareth has held national roles 
in Amnesty International, and been deputy chairman of a health service public forum. He is 
currently a trustee of One Community, a major charity providing care, transport and voluntary 
sector services in the region. Gareth brings to the board particular expertise on membership, 
patient and public involvement, and how to recognise the needs of individuals.

Peter Hollins  
Peter Hollins graduated in chemistry from Hertford College, Oxford. Joining Imperial 
Chemical Industries in 1973, he undertook a series of increasingly senior roles in marketing 
and then general management. Following three years in the Netherlands as general manager 
of ICI Resins BV, he was in 1992, appointed chief operating officer of EVC in Brussels - a 
joint venture between ICI and Enichem of Italy. He played a key role in the flotation of the 
company in 1994, returning in 1998 to the UK as chief executive officer of British Energy 
where he remained until 2001. From 2001, he held various chairmanships and non-executive 
directorships. In 2003, he decided to return to an executive role as chief executive of the 
British Heart Foundation in which post he remained until retirement in March 2013.

The people

Non-executive directors 
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Lynne Lockyer 
Lynne’s background is in human resource management and strategic management. She 
became a non-executive director for Southampton and South West Hampshire Health 
Authority in 1996 and the vice-chair in 2000. She was chair of Eastleigh and Test Valley 
South PCT from its inception in 2002 until its disestablishment in 2006. She has taken 
many roles in the local health economy including being a member of Hampshire’s Local 
Area Agreement Board and nationally was a member of the NHS Confederation Council 
and the National NHS Leaders Steering Group. She was until recently a course director at 
the University of Portsmouth and is now an organisation development consultant. She is a 
trustee of the Brendoncare Foundation.

Simon Porter 
Simon was born and educated in Southampton and then Oxford, graduating with a degree in 
modern languages (Italian and French). He is a qualified chartered accountant, having spent most 
of his career with the London office of Ernst & Young, where he specialised first in audit, then 
in transactions and finally risk management. He was a partner with Ernst & Young from 1994 to 
2010. He joined the Trust Board on 1 January 2011 as a designate non-executive director and 
became non-executive director and co-chair of the audit and assurance committee from 1 June 
2011. He has chaired the quality and performance committee since it was established in January 
2014. He also holds non-executive board positions in the social housing sector.

Lena Samuels  
Lena started her professional career as a lecturer for further and higher education, 
rapidly moving into education management shortly after qualifying to become one of the 
youngest managers in the UK of a government-funded independent training organisation. 
She brings corporate governance skills as an independent member of Hampshire Police 
Authority, through her time as governor and chair of the board of Southampton City 
College, and in her current trustee roles at Wheatsheaf Trust and The Hampshire and IOW 
Community Foundation. She runs a media and PR business as well as working locally in 
Southampton at BBC Radio Solent.
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Fiona Dalton, chief executive   
Fiona was appointed as chief executive in 2013. Prior to rejoining the Trust she held the 
combined position of deputy chief executive and chief operating officer at Great Ormond 
Street Hospital for Children. Fiona joined the NHS management training scheme after 
graduating from Oxford University with a degree in human sciences and began her 
career in hospital management at Oxford Radcliffe Hospitals NHS Trust in 1996. She then 
spent four years at UHS as director of strategy and business development before moving 
to GOSH.   

Judy Gillow, director of nursing  
Prior to joining the Trust, Judy was director of nursing, organisational development and 
assistant chief executive at Winchester and Eastleigh Healthcare NHS Trust. She has worked 
in the health service for many years in a variety of roles in the acute, primary care and 
educational settings. Qualifying as a registered adult and paediatric nurse at The Hospital 
for Sick Children, Great Ormond Street, London, Judy’s career has covered a wide range 
of areas including senior clinical management and board leadership positions. She now 
leads the Trust’s governance and patient experience agenda and already has implemented 
strategies and new systems to demonstrate sustainable improvement. Judy also leads on 
human resources and organisational development.
  
Jane Hayward, director of transformation and improvement
Jane joined the Trust in 2000 as clinical services manager for the cardiothoracic directorate 
after spending two years in Hertfordshire as director of performance and 11 years at Barts 
and the London Hospitals in various roles including planning, finance and commissioning. 
Jane has led on human resources, information management and technology, improvement 
and modernisation and has been chief operating officer. Jane joined the Trust Board in 
February 2008 and became director of transformation and improvement in January 2014.

Dr Michael Marsh, medical director  
Michael is a consultant in paediatric intensive care. He qualified in medicine at the 
University of London and undertook postgraduate studies in paediatrics in Oxford and 
London. He undertook research on the effects of maternal smoking on fetal lung growth 
and development at St Thomas’. He was appointed consultant in paediatric intensive 
care at Guy’s Hospital in 1995 and helped establish it as a leading centre. In 1998 he 
became director of paediatric intensive at Southampton and led the development of the 
service. In 2006 he was appointed clinical lead for child health leading on the integration 
and modernisation of paediatric services. In 2007 he became divisional clinical director 
for women and children’s services. His research interests include cardiac and respiratory 
function in critically ill children with a particular interest in surfactant. From 2002 until 
2008 he served as honorary secretary for the Paediatric Intensive Care Society providing 
leadership and specialist advice on children’s intensive care. 

Executive directors 
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Caroline Marshall, interim chief operating officer
Caroline joined the Trust in 1997 as a consultant hepatobiliary and neuroanaesthetist. She has 
held the posts of college tutor for the Royal College of Anaesthetists and UHS mentoring and 
coaching lead, and became clinical service director for critical care in 2008. She held the post of 
division clinical director between 2010 and 2013 and took up the interim chief operating officer 
post in January 2014. 

Alastair Matthews, finance director and deputy CEO
Alastair joined the Trust in August 2007. Before then, he was finance director at Ordnance 
Survey from 2003 and prior to that was vice-president, finance and administration at 
Computer Sciences Corporation where he worked from 1997. A fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, Alastair initially trained and worked in 
public practice with Price Waterhouse. He has an economics degree and for two years until 
July 2007 was also a member of the Financial Reporting Advisory Board, an independent 
advisory Board to HM Treasury on how financial reporting principles are applied in the 
public sector. Alastair leads on finance and estates and is an executive lead for the 
Southampton Hospital Charity. He also serves as a director of the Trust’s wholly owned 
subsidiary company, UHS Pharmacy Limited.
  
Mike Murphy, director of strategy
Mike joined the Trust in February 2010 as deputy director of strategy and business 
development. Prior to that, Mike held senior strategy, marketing and finance positions 
in the retail, financial services, utilities and motor service industries. Mike has a degree in 
mathematical science and an MBA. He is an executive lead for the Southampton Hospital 
Charity and also serves as a director of the Trust’s wholly owned subsidiary company, UHS 
Pharmacy Limited.
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Attendance at board meetings in 2013/14 

Board member   

John Trewby 
Chair 

 4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  7  4  4

Iain Cameron 
NED 

 7  4  4  4   4  4  7  4   4   4  4  4

Gareth Davies 
NED

 4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4   4  4  4

Peter Hollins NED
SID and deputy chair (from 1/1/14)

 4  4  4  4   4  4  7  4  4  4  4  4

Nick Marsden NED
SID and deputy chair (until 31/12/13)

 4  4  4  4  4   4  4  4

Lena Samuels 
NED

 4  4  4  7  4  4   4  4  4   4  4  4

Simon Porter 
NED 

 4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4

Lynne Lockyer 
NED

 4  4  4  4  4  4   4  4  4  4  4

Mark Hackett 
CEO (until 28/6/13)

 4  4

Fiona Dalton 
CEO (from 4/11/13)

 4  4  4  4  4

Alastair Matthews 
Finance director and deputy CEO (Interim CEO 
from 29/6/13-3/11/13)

 4  4  4  4  7  4  4  4  4  4  4  4

Paul Goddard
Interim finance director (from 29/6/13-3/11/13)

 4  4   4  4  4

Michael Marsh 
Medical director

 4  4  4  4   4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4

Judy Gillow 
Director of nursing and organisational 
development 

 4  7  4  4   4  4  4  4  4  4  7  4

Caroline Marshall 
Interim chief operating officer (from 13/1/14) 

 4  4  4  4

Jane Hayward 
Chief operating officer (director of 
transformation and improvement from 13/1/14)

 4  4  4  4   4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4

Mike Murphy 
Director of strategy and business development 

 4  4  4  4   4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4
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John Trewby
Council member University of 
Southampton; Chair Exelis Defence 
Ltd; Associate of Group 4 Securicor 

Nick Marsden (until 31/12/13)
Lay advisor to Wessex Deanery (until 
30/06/13)

Gareth Davies
Trustee of One Community; Director 
of Firwood SCI Ltd; Lay Advisor 
to Wessex Deanery; trustee of the 
Amnesty International UK section 
charitable trust (from 1/2/14)

Peter Hollins
Chair of Charles A Blatchford & 
Son Ltd; partner in the Jubilee Film 
Partnership 

Lena Samuels
Trustee of the Wheatsheaf Trust; 
trustee of Hampshire and Isle of 
Wight Community Foundation; 
magistrate of Southampton Bench; 
member of Staff at BBC; director 
of Hot Buzz Media Ltd; director of 
Wessex Creative Media Ltd; director 
of Solent India Business Network; 
marketing and PR manager for 
Hampshire Air Ambulance Trust; 
Chair of Pylewell Park Cricket Club; 
trustee Cultural Development Trust 
(from 28/1/14) 

Iain Cameron
Dean of Faculty of Medicine, 
University of Southampton; trustee 
of Wessex Medical Trust

Lynne Lockyer
Voluntary trustee of the 
Brendoncare Foundation (until 
31/7/13); voluntary trustee of the 
Nuffield Theatre Trust 

Simon Porter
Former partner in Ernst & Young 
LLP; non-executive director and 
chair of Audit Committee Octavia 
Housing; independent member of 
Audit Committee AmicusHorizon 

Mark Hackett (until 28/6/13)
Married to Penny Venables, chief 
executive, Worcestershire Acute 
Hospitals NHS Trust; voluntary 
director NHS Interim Management 
and Support; fellow of University 
of Southampton; member of 
Medtronic Hospital Executive 
Advisory Board; chair of Department 
of Health National Homecare 
Medicines Committee (NHMC); 
chair of NHS Employers’ Junior 
Doctors and Clinical Excellence 
Awards Review

Fiona Dalton (from 4/11/13)
Trustee of Gingerbread, the national 
charity for one-parent families

Judy Gillow
Voluntary trustee of Naomi House 
Children’s Hospice

Caroline Marshall
Nil

Jane Hayward
Father is Mental Health Act 
manager, Hampshire Partnership 
Trust (voluntary position), member 
of Mental Health Act Committee, 
Hampshire Partnership Trust 
(voluntary position), member of 
Assessment Committee for Clinical 
Excellence Awards (lay member), 
and UHSFT Simulated Patient 
(voluntary position); Neil Harvey 
(partner) is a simulated patient 
(voluntary position)

Michael Marsh
Married to Sarah Marsh, works 
within Specialised Commissioning 
of NHS Commissioning Board; 
Self-employed Medico Legal Expert 
on ad hoc basis independently to 
solicitors, Medical Defence Union 
(MDU) and NHS Litigation Authority 

Alastair Matthews
Board member of NHS Innovations 
South East 

Paul Goddard  (from 29/06/13 
until 03/11/13) Partner is PA to 
the Trust’s director of research 
and development

Mike Murphy
Chair of governors, Hardmoor 
Early Years Centre, Southampton; 
parent governor, Mountbatten 
School, Romsey

Trust Board declarations of interest 
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Audit and assurance committee 
The audit and assurance committee is 
appointed by the board and consists 
of seven non-executive directors. The 
financial and core assurance session 
is chaired by Simon Porter, who is a 
qualified accountant, and the clinical 
quality and outcome assurance 
session is chaired by Iain Cameron, 
who is a qualified clinician.

The finance director, head of internal 
audit and a representative from 
external audit attend the financial 
and core assurance session. The 
medical director and director 
of nursing and organisational 
development attend the clinical 
quality and outcome assurance 
session. The company secretary and 
head of corporate affairs attends 
both sessions.

The audit and assurance committee 
considers internal control and 
management reporting, internal 
audit, external audit, special 
assignments, corporate governance 

and clinical performance and 
outcomes. It meets regularly (not less 
than four times a year), is authorised 
by the board to investigate any 
activity within its terms of reference 
and is authorised to seek any 
information it requires from a Trust 
employee in achieving this objective. 
Outside legal or other independent 
professional advice may also be 
sought if considered necessary by 
the committee. 

The committee considered various 
matters regarding the finance, 
operations and compliance issues 
through the year. Actions were 
agreed with Trust executives and 
senior managers and followed up at 
subsequent meetings.

The committee undertook a review 
of the performance of the external 
auditors who were appointed by 
the Council of Governors in October 
2012. This was the second year of 
a three year appointment and the 
committee was satisfied with the 

value added by the current firm in 
its audits and information provided.  
The committee agreed to endorse 
the performance of the auditors to 
the council of governors. The cost of 
external audit services for the year was 
£72,000 excluding VAT.

Governance code
The board has considered the 
Monitor Code of Governance 
and is compliant. So far as the 
board is aware, all possible steps 
have been taken to ensure that all 
relevant audit information has been 
disclosed in full to the auditors.

Remuneration
Further details of remuneration are 
given in the remuneration report on 
page 107. The accounting details 
for pensions and other retirement 
benefits are set out in the accounts 
on page 146.

Audit and assurance committee attendance 2013/14 

A&AC member   

Simon Porter NED and co-chair  4  4  4  4  4

Iain Cameron NED and co-chair  4  4  4  4  4

Gareth Davies NED  4  4  4  4  4

Peter Hollins NED (SID and deputy chair from 1/1/14)  4  4  7  4  4

Nick Marsden SID and deputy chair (until 31/12/13)  4  4  4

Lena Samuels NED  4  4  4  4  7

Lynne Lockyer NED  7  4  7  4  4

Alastair Matthews finance director & deputy CEO (Interim CEO from 29/6/12 to 3/11/13)  4  4  4

Paul Goddard interim finance director from 29/6/13 to 3/11/13  4  4

Michael Marsh medical director  4  4  4  4  7

Judy Gillow director of nursing and organisational development  4  4  7  4  4
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Countering fraud and corruption
The board remains committed to 
maintaining an honest and open 
atmosphere within the Trust; ensuring 
all concerns involving potential fraud 
have been identified and rigorously 
investigated. In all cases appropriate 
civil, disciplinary and/or criminal 
sanctions have been applied, where 
guilt has been proven. The local 
counter fraud specialist has been 
instrumental in creating an anti-fraud 
culture, which has enabled maximum 
deterrent and prevention measures to 
become embedded in the Trust. Fraud 
against the NHS is never acceptable 
and any concerns may be reported 
via the Fraud and Corruption Hotline 
on 0800 028 4060. By maintaining 
fraud levels at an absolute minimum 
the Trust ensures that more funds are 
available to provide better patient 
care and services.

Independence of external auditor
This is the second year of three for 
the external auditors’ appointment. 
The committee considered the 
independence principles set out 
by the Auditing Practices Board in 
relation to the work of our external 
auditor undertaking non-audit work. 
We did not identify any risks in 
this respect, particularly in relation 
to self-review and familiarity. Our 
auditors will not be relying on any of 
the work undertaken when forming 
their opinion and we do not believe 
there to be a threat of familiarity. We 
will continually assess and address 
any risks to independence 
as appropriate.

Internal Audit Service
We outsource internal audit to 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who 

are in the fourth year of a five-
year appointment.

The internal auditors consider the 
Trust’s system of internal control and 
agree an annual work programme 
with the audit and assurance 
committee. This is based on an 
evaluation of the Trust’s profile and 
risk register.

A formal update report goes to the 
audit and assurance committee at 
each of its meetings.

Better Payment Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code 
requires the Trust to aim to pay all 
valid invoices by the due date or 
within 30 days of receipt of a valid 
invoice, whichever is later. The Trust’s 
performance is set out below.

2013-14 2013-14 2012-13 2012-13

Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 95.573 232,191 90,343 262,269

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 89,968 220,372 80,912 187,153

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 94.1 94.9 89.5 90.7

NHS Payables

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 6,615 48,057 6,643 51,319

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 5,597 43,030 5,829 46,028

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 84.6 89.7 87.7 89.7
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Remuneration report
Appointment and 
remuneration committee 
The appointment and remuneration 
committee is a formally appointed 
committee of the board. Its terms of 
reference comply with the Secretary 
of State’s “Code of Conduct and 
Accountability for NHS Boards”.
The membership of the committee 
comprises the Trust chair, the non-

executive directors and the chief 
executive (except where matters 
relating to the chief executive are 
under discussion).

The remuneration of executive 
directors is considered through pay 
benchmarking and other relevant 
information.

The director of human resources is 
in attendance at all meetings to 
advise the committee. The 
company secretary and head of 
corporate affairs is in attendance 
to keep an appropriate record of 
proceedings. Neither are members 
of the committee.

Board Member   

John Trewby Chair  4  4  4  4  4  4

Iain Cameron NED  7  4  4  4  4  4

Gareth Davies NED  4  4  4  4  4  4

Peter Hollins NED (SID and deputy chair from 1/1/14)  4  4  4  4  4  4

Nick Marsden SID and deputy chair (until 31/12/13)  4  4  4  4

Lena Samuels NED  4  4  4  4  4  7

Simon Porter NED  4  4  4  4  4  4

Lynne Lockyer NED  4  4  4  4  4  4

Mark Hackett CEO (until 28/6/13)  4  4

Alastair Matthews Interim CEO from 29/6/12 to 3/11/13  4

Fiona Dalton CEO (from 4/11/13)  4  4  4
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Process for board appointments
The process for recruiting executive 
directors is considered by the 
appointment and remuneration 
committee as the need arises and 
involves an analysis of the skills 
required by the next appointee to the 
vacancy both at board and functional 
level. The recruitment process will 
always involve external advertisement 
and generally includes an executive 
search. A chief executive has been 
appointed this year.

Also the portfolios of executive 
directors have been reviewed and 
the chief operating officer role 
split to create a new director of 
transformation and improvement. 
The new chief operating officer role 
has been filled by an interim.

Non-executive directors are 
appointed by the governors’ 
nomination committee of the 
council of governors in accordance 
with the ‘Recruitment Process 
NEDs and Chair Policy’ as agreed 
by the council of governors in 
December 2011. Although no new 
non-executive director has been 
appointed this year, two non-
executive directors have 
been appointed for a second term 
and one for a third term. 
No competitive process was 
undertaken for these appointments.

Remuneration of the chair and 
non-executive directors
The remuneration of the chair 
and non-executive directors is 

determined by the governors’ 
nomination committee. The 
decisions of the governors’ 
nomination committee are passed 
to the full council of governors as 
recommendations for the council of 
governors to endorse or reject as it 
sees appropriate.

The committee comprises five 
governors and the chair. The chief 
executive and director of human 
resources are in attendance at all 
meetings to advise the committee. 
The company secretary and head 
of corporate affairs is in attendance 
to keep an appropriate record of 
proceedings. None of these officers 
are members of the committee.

The chair does not attend any part 
of meetings when matters relating 
to the chair’s remuneration are 
discussed. This part of the meeting 
is chaired by the senior independent 
director or an independent chair 
from another Trust.  

Assessment of performance 
All executive and non-executive 
directors are subject to individual 
annual appraisals. This involves the 
setting and agreeing of objectives 
for a 12 month period running from 
1 April to the following 31 March.

There is an end of year review 
to assess achievements and 
performance. The executive directors 
are assessed by the chief executive 
and the chief executive is assessed by 
the chair. The outcomes of appraisals 

are fed back to the appointment and 
remuneration committee. Individual 
executive performance appraisals 
and development plans are well 
established within the Trust and 
follow agreed Trust procedures.

Also, the chair undertakes the 
performance review of the non-
executive directors. The senior 
independent director will appraise 
the chair. The performance reviews 
and appraisals of the chair and 
non-executive directors are fed 
back to the governors’ nomination 
committee. This process was agreed 
by the council of governors in 
December 2011.  

Performance pay
No element of the executive and non-
executive directors’ remuneration is 
performance related at present.

Duration of contracts
All executive directors have 
a substantive contract of 
employment. The medical director 
has a fixed term addendum purely 
for the post of medical director for 
three years until 2015.

The chair and non-executive directors 
are appointed for a term of three 
years; prior to becoming a foundation 
trust the term of office was four 
years. All may be reappointed for a 
further term of office should they 
wish and with the approval of the 
governors’ nomination committee 
and Council of Governors. 
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Table 1: For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2014, for more than £220 per day    
and that last for longer than six months       

No. of existing engagements as of 31 March 2014    2

Of which…

No. that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting. 2

In both cases assurances regarding tax liability have been sought and received.

Table 2: For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 
1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, for more than £220 per day and that last for longer than six months 

No. of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014      

6

No. of the above which include contractual clauses giving the trust the right     
to request assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations   

6

No. for whom assurance has been requested   6

Of which…

No. for whom assurance has been received   6

Off-payroll engagements
The Trust is required to see assurances regarding the income tax and national 
insurance obligations of any senior staff engagements not paid through payroll and 
to report any engagements of more than £220 per day for more than six months.

There are no off-payroll engagements of Board members or senior officials with significant financial responsibility.



110

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

The chair and the non-executive director appointments are due for renewal as shown:

*Gareth was appointed for a six to nine month third term of office to provide a balance of non-executive directors 
on the board while two new non-executive directors were recruited.

Name Position Term of office commenced Term of office ends

John Trewby Chair 1 October 2012 
(This is his second term. His first term was 
1 April 2008 to 30 September 2012)

30 September 2015

Nick Marsden Senior independent director 1 June 2011
(This is his second term. His first term was 
1 June 2007 to 31 May 2011)

Resigned 31 
December 2013

Lena Samuels Non-executive director 1 March 2013 
(This is her second term. Her first term was 
1 March 2009 to 28 February 2013)

28 February 2016

Peter Hollins Non-executive director 15 October 2013
(This is his second term. His first term was 
15 October 2010 to 14 October 2013)

14 October 2016

Gareth Davies Non-executive director 1 December 2013
(This is his third term*. His first term was 1 
December 2005 to 30 November 2009 and 
second term was 1 December 2009 to 30 
November 2013)

31 August 2014

Lynne Lockyer Non-executive director 1 October 2011 30 September 2014

Iain Cameron Non-executive director 19 December 2011 18 December 2014

Simon Porter Non-executive director 1 June 2011 31 May 2015
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Mr M Hackett left the organisation on 28th June 2013   
Mr A Matthews - Acting chief executive from 1st July 2013 until 4th November 2013   
Mr P Goddard - Acting finance director from 1st July 2013 to 4th November 2013 
Ms F Dalton - Chief executive from 4th November 2013   
Dr C Marshall - Interim chief operating officer from 13th January 2014   
Ms J Hayward - Chief operating officer until 12th January 2014, thereafter Director of Transformation and Improvement 
Mr N Marsden - Deputy chairman and senior independent director until 31 December 2013 

During the year 14 (14 in 2012/13) senior managers incurred expenses in the course of business totalling £23,400 
(£48,900 in 2012/13). These relate mainly to travel and subsistance.      
  

Name and title 2013-14

Salary

(bands of £5000)

£000

Taxable 
benefits

Rounded to the 

nearest £100

Annual 
performance 
related bonus
(bands of £5000)

£000

Long term 
performance 
related bonus
(bands of £5000)

£000

Pension 
benefits

(bands of £2500)

£000

Total

(bands of £5000)

£000

Prof I Cameron 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

Mr G Davies 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Ms J Gillow 135-140 0 0 0 20-22.5 155-160

Mr M Hackett 50-55 0 0 0 20-22.5 70-75

Ms J Hayward 130-135 0 0 0 25-27.5 155-160

Mr P Hollins 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Ms L Lockyer 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Mr N Marsden 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Dr MJ Marsh 180-185 0 0 0 5-7.5 185-190

Mr A Matthews 165-170 0 0 0 42.5-45 210-215

Mr M Murphy 120-125 0 0 0 27.5-30 150-155

Mr S Porter 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Ms L Samuels 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Mr J Trewby 45-50 0 0 0 0 45-50

Mr P Goddard 35-40 0 0 0 30-32.5 65-70

Ms F Dalton 75-80 0 0 0 (5-7.5) 70-75

Dr C Marshall 35-40 0 0 0 0-2.5 40-45

Remuneration of senior managers
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Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest paid director in their 
organisation and the median remuneration of the workforce.

Figures 2012/13 are shown in brackets:
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director for the year to 31 March 2013 was £190.0k (£206.5k). This was 
6.6 (7.1) times the median remuneration of the workforce which was £29.0k (£29.3k).

For the year three (one) employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director. Remuneration ranged 
from £12.5k.to £213.4k (£14.0k to £210.5k).

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay, benefits in kind as well as severance 
payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
      

Name and title 2012-13

Salary

(bands of £5000)

£000

Taxable 
benefits

Rounded to the 

nearest £100

Annual 
performance 
related bonus
(bands of £5000)

£000

Long term 
performance 
related bonus
(bands of £5000)

£000

Pension 
benefits

(bands of £2500)

£000

Total

(bands of £5000)

£000

Prof I Cameron 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

Mr G Davies 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Ms J Gillow 130-135 0 0 0 (10-12.5) 120-125

Mr M Hackett 205-210 0 0 0 (47.5-50) 155-160

Ms J Hayward 125-130 0 0 0 7.5-10 130-135

Mr P Hollins 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

Ms L Lockyer 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Mr N Marsden 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Dr MJ Marsh 190-195 0 0 0 15-17.5 205-210

Mr A Matthews 150-155 0 0 0 22.5-25 175-180

Mr M Murphy 115-120 0 0 0 47.5-50 165-170

Mr S Porter 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Ms L Samuels 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Mr J Trewby 35-40 0 0 0 0 35-40

Mr P Goddard 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ms F Dalton 0 0 0 0 0 0

Dr C Marshall 0 0 0 0 0 0



113

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

As non-executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there are no entries in respect of pensions for 
non-executive members.       
       
** Mr M Murphy is a member of the 2008 Pension Scheme and therefore the benefits are calculated at age 65 years. 
      
       
       
       
Fiona Dalton 
Chief executive
28 May 2014    
      

Name and title Real 
increase 

in pension 
at age 60
(bands of 
£2,500)

Real 
increase 

in pension 
lump sum 
at age 60
(bands of 
£2,500)

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
age 60 at 
31 March 

2014
(bands of 
£5,000)

Lump Sum 
at age 60
related to 
accrued 

pension at 
31 March 

2014
(bands of 
£5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 

2014

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 

2013

Real 
Increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value

Employers 
Contribution 

to 
Stakeholder 

Pension

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Ms F Dalton 0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 95-100 447 427 2  0

Mrs J Gillow 0-2.5 5-7.5 60-65 190-195 1,439 1,329 41  0

Mr P Goddard 0-2.5 2.5-5 30-35 90-95 506 415 15  0

Mr M Hackett 0-2.5 2.5-5 80-85 240-245 1,490 1,331 16 0

Ms J Hayward 0-2.5 5-7.5 40-45 130-135 761 692 28 0

Dr MJ Marsh 0-2.5 2.5-5 45-50 135-140 815 758 21 0

Dr C Marshall 0-2.5 0-2.5 55-60 170-175 1,187 1,102 7  0

Mr A Matthews 2.5-5 7.5-10 10-15 40-45 256 192 31  0

M Murphy** 0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 0-5 93 66 13 0

Pension benefits of senior managers
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The NHS Act 2006 states that the 
chief executive is the accounting 
officer of the NHS foundation trust. 
The relevant responsibilities of the 
accounting officer, including their 
responsibility for the propriety and 
regularity of public finances for 
which they are answerable, and for 
the keeping of proper accounts, are 
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum 
issued by Monitor.

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor 
has directed University Hospital 
Southampton NHS foundation trust 
to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form 
and on the basis set out in the 
Accounts Direction. The accounts 
are prepared on an accruals basis 
and must give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of University 
Hospital NHS foundation trust and 
of its income and expenditure, total 
recognised gains and losses and 
cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the 
Accounting Officer is required to 

comply with the requirements of 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual and in 
particular to:
 
• observe the Accounts Direction 

issued by Monitor, including 
the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and 
apply suitable accounting policies 
on a consistent basis;

• make judgements and estimates 
on a reasonable basis;

• state whether applicable 
accounting standards as set out 
in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual have 
been followed, and disclose and 
explain any material departures in 
the financial statements;

• ensure that the use of public 
funds complies with the relevant 
legislation, delegated authorities 
and guidance; and

• prepare the financial statements 
on a going concern basis.

The accounting officer is responsible 
for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with 

reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the NHS 
foundation trust and to enable him/
her to ensure that the accounts 
comply with requirements outlined 
in the above mentioned Act. 
The Accounting Officer is also 
responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the NHS foundation trust 
and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

To the best of my knowledge and 
belief, I have properly discharged 
the responsibilities set out in 
Monitor’s NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum.
 

Fiona Dalton 
Chief executive
28 May 2014 

Statement of the chief executive’s responsibilities as the accounting 
officer of University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust
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Scope of responsibility
As accounting officer, I have 
responsibility for maintaining a 
sound system of internal control that 
supports the achievement of the 
NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding 
the public funds and departmental 
assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me. I am 
also responsible for ensuring that the 
NHS foundation trust is administered 
prudently and economically and that 
resources are applied efficiently and 
effectively. I also acknowledge my 
responsibilities as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 
Memorandum.

The purpose of the system of 
internal control
The system of internal control 
is designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is based on an ongoing 
process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement 
of the policies, aims and objectives of 
University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust (UHS), to evaluate 
the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they 
be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically. 
The system of internal control has 
been in place in UHS for the year 
ended 31 March 2014 and up to the 
date of approval of the annual report 
and accounts.

Capacity to handle risk 
The chief executive has overall 
responsibility for risk management 
within the Trust whilst the Trust 
Board has overall responsibility 
for setting the strategic direction 
of the Trust and managing the 
risks to delivering that strategy. 
The director of nursing and 
organisational development has lead 
responsibility for the development 
and implementation of the risk 
management policy and procedures 
and associated areas of internal 
control. The policy has been subject 
to minor review during 2013/14 to 
ensure it remains appropriate and 
current and takes account of the 
Trust’s longer-term vision. 
 
Risk management leadership 
is overseen by the executive team 
via the executive risk scrutiny 
group (ERSG) and the divisional 
management teams. Quarterly 
corporate, trust HQ and divisional 
risk register review meetings are held 
to review, scrutinise and update risk 
registers and provide an escalation 
route directly to the ERSG. The 
executive directors review and 
monitor progress through the regular 
divisional performance reviews 
and quarterly ERSG meetings. This 
provides a structure for Trust HQ 
departments and divisions/care 
groups to escalate department/
divisional risk management issues 
that are proving difficult to resolve at 
local level to the ERSG and onward 
to the Trust’s executive committee 
(TEC), audit and assurance 
committee (AAC) and the Trust 
Board. The corporate governance 
statement is also considered by the 
board as part of the year end and 
year start processes. Board also 

review this once a quarter when 
considering the declarations to make 
to Monitor.

Governance and risk 
management training is included 
as part of corporate induction for 
all new Trust staff. In support of 
this approach each division has a 
responsibility to develop specific 
local induction programmes for 
staff based on the risks and control 
mechanisms specific to that area. 
Additional support is provided by the 
governance and risk department, 
health and safety and patient 
safety teams. A risk management 
training needs analysis has been 
reviewed during the reporting 
period and defines all statutory and 
mandatory training required by 
different staff groups. There is also a 
specific training programme on risk 
assessments. Monitoring delivery 
of the programme is the role of the 
Trust’s education strategy group, the 
divisional boards and executive leads. 

To support the training there is 
documented guidance on risk 
and safety management including 
comprehensive policies and 
procedures. There is also a Trust 
‘raising concerns/whistle blowing’ 
policy and helpline in place.

The risk and control framework 
- the risk management policy and 
procedures set out the Trust’s attitude 
to risk and defines the structures for 
the management and ownership of 
risk throughout the organisation. 
The key objectives of the policy are to 
ensure that the Trust has in place:

• Clear accountability arrangements 
for the management of risk 

Annual governance statement 2013-14
Year end 2013/14 covering the period 1 April 2013 – 31March 2014
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throughout the organisation, 
leading up to the Trust Board

• Clear organisational arrangements 
which ensure a comprehensive 
and co-ordinated approach to 
the management of risk and 
governance

• An effective system of risk 
management at divisional/care 
group/department level with 
department risk registers which 
are monitored by the executive 
team as part of the performance 
reviews and divisional and 

 ERSG meetings
• The integration of risk 

management into overall 
planning, contracting and 
performance management 
activities 

• An increased awareness and 
ownership of risk and liabilities

• A risk management education and 
training programme for managers 
and staff 

• An effective system to ensure that 
all staff are involved in identifying, 
preventing, assessing, controlling 
and reporting risk in order to 
create a safer environment for 
staff, patients and visitors

• A comprehensive understanding 
of the risks that the Trust faces, 
their cause and control, the cost 
of risk to the organisation and 
potential impact on the Trust’s key 
objectives

• Guidance on what is an 
acceptable level of risk (risk 
appetite) to the organisation

• Processes for ensuring lessons 
are learned, acted on and 
disseminated

Information security and risks - 
the management of risks associated 
with information and information 
flows is seen as key within the 
overall assurance process. The Trust 
has a range of controls in place to 
provide assurance that the risks 
are being managed appropriately 
and effectively.

Public involvement - the way 
in which public stakeholders are 
involved in managing risks which 
impact on them is outlined in more 
detail within our quality account and 
annual report.

Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
- the Foundation Trust is fully 
compliant with the registration 
requirements of the CQC. The 
Trust routinely obtains assurance of 
compliance with CQC regulations 
and outcomes and these processes 
are subject to annual internal audit. 

Monitor - as of 5 March 2014 the 
Trust’s Monitor governance rating 
is green (no evident concerns). 
During 2013/14 Monitor opened 
an investigation due to the Trust’s 
repeated failure to meet the 
emergency access 4 hour standard. 
Following meetings with Monitor, 
an APR 2 (annual plan review) 
by Deloitte and consideration of 
RTT (treating patients within 18 
weeks of referral) related concerns, 
Monitor confirmed it had closed 
its investigation and rated the Trust 
with a green governance rating 
in early 2014. Achieving these 
standards will remain a challenge 
for the Trust in 2014/15 but robust 
action plans are in place to mitigate 
the risk of non compliance and 
these will be rigourously monitored 
throughout the coming year. 

Quality and Improvement - 
the Trust’s Patient Improvement 
Framework (PIF) forms the basis of 
the Quality Governance Framework.  
The PIF is updated and reviewed 
annually and focuses on patient 
safety, patient experience, patient 
clinical outcomes, performance 
and regulatory assurance. This 
common theme is also mirrored 
in the Trust’s committee structures 
and high level reporting practices. 
This integrated approach ensures 
that staff understanding of the 

quality governance framework, 
operationalised through the PIF 
is embedded throughout the 
organisation and reflected in 
the Trust’s dashboards and key 
performance indicators.

The Trust’s quality governance 
Strategy supports the Trust’s 
2020Vision and sets out the 
objectives and scope of quality 
governance (including clinical 
governance) within the Trust. It also 
reflects the internal and external 
agenda that has quality governance 
implications for the Trust. Further 
detail on our quality, safety, 
effectiveness and performance is 
included within our quality account 
and annual report.

The quality governance steering 
group (QGSG) and its sub groups 
(including divisional/care group 
governance groups) allow the 
opportunity for new guidance, 
lessons learned and good practice 
to be shared. This is further 
supported by the Trust’s quarterly 
regulatory assurance report and 
an aggregate analysis and learning 
report, which are scrutinised by 
the TEC, AAC and Trust Board and 
disseminated through the divisions 
to ensure learning. These reports 
will be subject to further review and 
development to improve learning 
during 2014/15.

How we monitor data and 
report on quality - We review 
the implementation status of 
all National Institute for Clinical 
Excellence (NICE) guidance; National 
Confidential Enquiries (NCE) and 
Central Alerting System guidance to 
risk assess any development areas at 
UHS and take action to implement 
recommendations. 

There is regular reporting of our 
hospital standardised mortality rate 
(HSMR) to Trust Board. 
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We continue to support the use of 
clinical outcome data to assess and 
improve services with participation in 
national audits; the patient reported 
outcome measures programme 
(PROMS) as well as undertaking 
local audits to continue our cycle of 
quality improvement. Our annual 
clinical effectiveness conference, 
celebrates audits that have led to 
improved patient outcomes, safety 
and experience.

During 2014/15 we will further 
develop our use of data systems 
and reporting to build in further 
improvements in our early alerting 
systems and intelligent reporting.

NHS pensions - As an employer 
with staff entitled to membership 
of the NHS Pension Scheme, control 
measures are in place to ensure all 
employer obligations contained 
within the Scheme regulations 
are complied with. This includes 
ensuring that deductions from 
salary, employer’s contributions and 
payments into the Scheme are in 
accordance with the Scheme rules, 
and that member Pension Scheme 
records are accurately updated in 
accordance with the timescales 
detailed in the Regulations. 

Equality and diversity - Control 
measures are in place to ensure that 
all the organisation’s obligations 
under equality, diversity and human 
rights legislation are complied with. 

Carbon reduction - The foundation 
trust undertakes risk assessments and 
carbon reduction delivery plans will 
soon be in place in accordance with 
emergency preparedness and civil 
contingency requirements, as based 
on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, 
to ensure that this organisation’s 
obligations under the Climate Change 
Act and the adaptation reporting 
requirements are complied with.

Review of economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness of the use 
of resources
The Trust has the following 
arrangements to ensure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness: 

Service improvement
The Trust has an active and 
successful service improvement team 
which supports divisional teams 
deliver improvements in quality, 
cost and performance. The team 
runs an outpatient and inpatient 
transformation programme as well as 
a service improvement training and 
development programme. Projects 
support the cost improvement 
programme (CIP) and patient 
improvement framework priorities 
and are governed by executive led 
steering groups (patient flow steering 
group, executive CIP reviews).

The cost improvement 
programme
The Trust has a successful cost 
improvement programme 
management office (PMO). A core 
team of three works with divisions 
to identify monitor and deliver 
savings. There is a three year savings 
programme and in 2013/14 savings 
of over £28m are projected to 
be delivered. Cost improvement 
programmes are reviewed for any 
impact on quality, performance or 
occupancy. Performance is monitored 
at divisional performance reviews as 
well as a monthly CIP review meetings. 

Procurement efficiency plays an 
important part in delivering savings. 
The Trust’s internal procurement 
team deliver £1.6m of savings 
annually by effectively negotiating 
contracts with suppliers.

Service line reporting and 
patient level costing
For several years the Trust has 
produced service line reporting on an 

annual and now quarterly basis, to 
assess the profitability of each care 
group within the Trust. 

The Trust has a patient level costing 
(PLiCS) system, which provides 
timely, regular and accurate 
information on profitability at 
divisional, care group and individual 
patient level. This data is used to 
identify areas of differing practice 
and areas of opportunity to 
improve profitability.

The Trust uses a number of 
indicators to monitor that it is 
efficient. Some of the key ones 
form part of the Trust’s performance 
management framework, which is 
reported to the Board. The 
indicators include:

• Better Care Better Value indicators
• Reference costs
• Service Line reporting
• Patient survey results
• Estates indicators
• CIP progress

The Trust Board and TEC regularly 
review the Trust’s performance 
in relation to principal risks to 
achievement of and controls in 
place to assist in the delivery of 
its key objectives and targets. The 
Board proactively seeks support in 
commissioning reviews, support 
and external assessments in order 
to improve its overall performance. 
Each month the Board reviews the 
performance of the Trust and this is a 
standard agenda item. In addition to 
this there is a Board subcommittee 
to discuss performance in more 
detail (oversight committee Apr-
Dec and quality and performance 
committee Jan-Mar). The AAC also 
review performance data quality. 

Internal audit - The AAC reviews 
the Trust’s systems of internal 
control, including the governance 
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arrangements, as part of the audit 
programme, assisting the Board with 
its responsibilities to strengthen and 
improve the effectiveness of the 
board assurance framework (BAF).

In the period 1 April 2013 to 
31 March 2014 the Trust has 
reported two ‘Level 2’ information 
governance incidents to the 
Department of Health and the office 
of the Information Commissioner. 
One incident related to the 
publication of data relating to 
equality and diversity on the Trust 
websites.  Some of the published 
statistical information on the 
protected characteristics of members 
of staff, which should have been 
fully anonymised, was inadvertently 
published in a way that could lead 
to the identity of individual members 
of staff being revealed. The second 
incident involved the inappropriate 
disclosure of personal information 
about a group of service users 
to another service user in error. 
Appropriate action has been taken in 
relation to these incidents.

Annual quality account
The directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National 
Health Service (Quality Accounts) 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) to 
prepare quality accounts for each 
financial year.

Monitor has issued guidance to 
NHS foundation trust boards on the 
form and content of annual quality 
accounts which incorporate the 
above legal requirements in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual.

Our quality report for this year 
represents a balanced view of the 
Trust, providing commentary on both 
the areas where we have performed 
well and where there are still areas 
for improvement.  The Trust Board 

gains assurance on quality in various 
ways, via: 

• Board visits to divisions to review 
delivery of the quality agenda

• the monthly key performance 
indicator (dashboard) quality 
report;

• the rolling program of patient 
improvement framework (PIF) 
reports covering: 
- patient experience/ patient
  feedback/ patient complaints
- patient safety
- clinical outcomes / effectiveness
- regulatory assurance
- performance targets 

In addition, the AAC and the TEC 
receive summaries from the Trust’s 
Quality Governance Steering Group 
(QGSG). The Board members all 
review and provide comments on 
the quality account prior to inclusion 
in our Annual Report.

Review of effectiveness
As accounting officer, I have 
responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is informed by the work of the 
internal auditors, clinical audit and 
the executive managers and clinical 
leads within the NHS foundation 
trust that have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework. I have 
drawn on the content of the quality 
account attached to this Annual 
Report and other performance 
information available to me. My 
review is also informed by comments 
made by the external auditors in their 
management letter and other reports. 

I have been advised on the 
implications of the result of my 
review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control by the 
Trust Board, the AAC, TEC and 

QGSG, and a plan to address 
weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in 
place.

The Trust Board, TEC and the 
AAC have been actively engaged 
in the ongoing development 
and monitoring of the BAF and 
compliance with CQC Essential 
Standards. These bodies will 
continue to shape the iterative 
development of the BAF for 
2014/15 and undertake regular 
reviews of the risks and the action 
plans in place to address gaps in 
controls and/or assurance.  

The Trust Board and TEC regularly 
review the Trust’s performance in 
relation to principal risks to the 
achievement of and the controls 
in place to assist in the delivery of 
its key objectives and targets. The 
Board proactively seeks support in 
commissioning reviews, support 
and external assessments in order to 
improve its overall performance. 

Recently the Trust has reviewed the 
recommendations arising from Hard 
Truths - the Francis Report and the 
Keogh Review. We have identified 
key areas where plans have been 
put in place to further improve 
quality of care, through a number of 
work streams that address relevant 
recommendations, focussing on:

• Culture
• Staff engagement
• Quality standards
• Working with our stakeholders

The QGSG ensures that there is an 
annual comprehensive programme 
of quality improvement for the care 
of patients, reporting on a regular 
basis to the Trust Board and TEC on 
the full range of its activities. The 
committee also ensures that clear 
lines of governance accountability 
exist within the Trust for the 
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overall quality of clinical care and 
clinical audit. Its role has been 
strengthened during 2013/14 with 
further development of the Trust’s 
patient safety steering group and 
safeguarding vulnerable adults 
group both of which report 
into QGSG and assist with the 
comprehensive management of 
the Trust’s safety issues. The scope, 
membership and reporting of the 
QGSG supporting feeder groups is 
subject to regular review.

The head of internal audit provides 
me with an opinion on the overall 
arrangements for gaining assurance 
through the BAF and on the controls 
reviewed as part of internal 
audit’s work.  

For the period 1 April 2013 to 
31 March 2014 the internal audit 
opinion states:

Based on the work we have 
completed this year, we believe that 
there is some risk that management 
objectives may not be fully achieved. 
Improvements are required in those 
areas to enhance the adequacy 
and/or effectiveness of governance, 
risk management and control.

It should be noted that the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards 

superseded the NHS Internal Audit 
Standards on 1 April 2013 which 
has resulted in the wording of the 
opinion changing from the prior 
year. In the prior year we awarded 
the equivalent of ‘significant 
assurance’ and our opinion this 
year is consistent with that. When 
formulating our opinion we consider 
all reports issued, their overall 
risk rating and the risk rating of 
individual findings. We also consider 
the follow-up of internal audit 
actions issued throughout the course 
of the year.

No significant issues have been 
raised by our internal auditors, 
PwC. However some internal audit 
findings have identified areas where 
improvements could be made, 
for example in relation to overall 
efficiencies, information technology, 
medical equipment, financial 
systems and corporate planning/
performance. The head of internal 
audit opinion finding, from the 
results of internal’s audit work, in 
terms of the number and relative 
priority of findings has identified no 
high risk areas. Agreed action plans 
have been developed and followed 
up by internal audit, who have no 
outstanding concerns.

In addition, a nominated local 

counter fraud specialist with a remit 
of building a strong anti-fraud 
culture throughout the organisation 
is commissioned and provides 
regular reports to the finance 
director and the AAC.

Our external auditors, KPMG, 
also undertake work around our 
financial systems to inform their 
audit opinion, work on our quality 
report to inform their opinion and 
provide an opinion on our use of 
resources. No significant concerns 
have been raised as part of this 
work and unqualified opinions have 
been provided.

Conclusion
No significant control issues have 
been identified and the head of 
Iinternal audit opinion finding from 
the results of internal’s audit work 
in terms of the number and relative 
priority of findings has identified no 
high risk areas.

Fiona Dalton 
Chief executive
28 May 2014 



Finance
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Financial statements
Sustainability report 2013/4
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These accounts for the period to 31 
March 2014, have been prepared by 
University Hospital Southampton NHS 

Foundation Trust in accordance with 
paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 
7 to the National Health Services Act 

2006, in the form whichMonitor 
(the Independent Regulator of NHS 
Foundation Trusts) has directed.  

Foreword to the accounts 

Fiona Dalton 
Chief executive
28 May 2014 
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We have audited the financial 
statements of University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 
on pages 124-164. These financial 
statements have been prepared 
under applicable law and the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2013/14. 

This report is made solely to the 
council of governors of University 
Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust in accordance 
with Schedule 10 of the National 
Health Service Act 2006. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the council of 
governors of the Trust, as a body, 
those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than 
the council of governors of the 
Trust, as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report or for the opinions 
we have formed.

Respective responsibilities 
of the accounting officer and 
the auditor
As described more fully in the 
statement of accounting officer’s 
responsibilities on page 114 the 
accounting officer is responsible 
for the preparation of financial 
statements which give a true and 
fair view. Our responsibility is to 
audit, and express an opinion 
on, the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and 
International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the 

Auditing Practice’s Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the 
financial statements
An audit involves obtaining 
evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of 
whether the accounting policies 
are appropriate to the Trust’s 
circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed, the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates 
made by the accounting officer 
and the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

In addition we read all the financial 
and non-financial information 
in the annual report to identify 
material inconsistencies with the 
audited financial statements and 
to identify any information that 
is apparently materially incorrect 
based on, or materially inconsistent 
with, the knowledge acquired by 
us in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.  

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial 
statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the 
state of the Group’s and the 
Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 

2014 and of the Group’s and the 
Trust’s income and expenditure 
for the year then ended; and

•  have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2013/14.  

Opinion on other matters 
prescribed by the Audit Code 
for NHS Foundation Trusts
In our opinion the information 
given in the Strategic Report 
and the Directors’ Report for 
the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the financial 
statements.

Matters on which we are 
required to report by exception
We have nothing to report where 
under the Audit Code for NHS 
Foundation Trusts we are required 
to report to you if, in our opinion, 
the Annual Governance Statement 
does not reflect the disclosure 
requirements set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2013/14, is misleading or is 
not consistent with our knowledge 
of the Trust and other information 
of which we are aware from our 
audit of the financial statements. 

We are not required to assess, nor 
have we assessed, whether all risks 
and controls have been addressed 
by the Annual Governance 
Statement or that risks are 
satisfactorily addressed by 
internal controls.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed 
the audit of the accounts of 

Independent auditor’s report to the council of governors of 
University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust
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University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust in accordance 
with the requirements of Chapter 
5 of Part 2 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 and the Audit 
Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 
issued by Monitor.

Neil Thomas for and on behalf 
of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants                 
15 Canada Square, 
London, 
E14 5GL                                                                                                                                   

May 2014
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 
the year ended 31 March 2014

NOTE

Group Trust

 Year ended 
31 March 

2014 

 Yearended 
31 March 

2013 
(restated) 

 Year ended 
31 March 

2014 

 Year ended 
31 March 

2013 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Operating income from continuing operations 3.1  618,066  583,325  615,994  581,027 

Operating expenses of continuing operations * 4  (609,795)  (574,220)  (607,280)  (572,361)

OPERATING SURPLUS  8,271  9,105  8,714  8,666 

FINANCE COSTS

Finance income 8  198  174  150  107 

Finance expenses 9  (1,622)  (1,267)  (1,622)  (1,267)

PDC Dividends payable  (6,465)  (6,755)  (6,465)  (6,755)

NET FINANCE COSTS  (7,889)  (7,848)  (7,937)  (7,915)

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR  382  1,257  777  751 

Other comprehensive income

Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:

Impairments charged to reserves 10  0  (1,724)  0  (1,724)

Revaluations 26  2,091  1,544  2,091  1,544 

May be reclassified to income and expenditure 
when certain conditions are met:

Fair Value gains on Available-for-sale financial investments  101  321  0  0 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  2,574  1,398  2,868  571 

* Included within operating expenses of continuing operations (Group and Trust) is a non-recurrent charge in relation to 
the termination of a lease of £3.9m.
     
The notes on pages 129 to 164 form part of these accounts.    
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Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 March 2013

NOTE

Group Trust

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013 

(restated)

1 April 
2012

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets     

Intangible assets 11  4,299  5,328  7,074  4,299  5,328 

Property, plant and equipment 12  291,373  276,094  275,688  291,242  276,094 

Investment property 14  100  100  100  0  0 

Other investments 14  2,679  2,578  2,257  0  0 

Trade and other receivables 17  3,191  2,572  2,244  3,401  2,572 

Total non-current assets  301,642  286,672  287,363  298,942  283,994 

Current assets

Inventories 16  12,634  11,282  12,306  12,088  11,282 

Trade and other receivables 17  40,445  25,302  21,104  40,950  25,235 

Other financial assets 15  0  757  0  0  257 

Cash and cash equivalents 19  35,298  29,950  31,519  33,577  28,465 

Total current assets  88,377  67,291  64,929  86,615  65,239 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 20  (65,630)  (52,783)  (53,957)  (65,604)  (52,783)

Borrowings 21  (7,564)  (7,151)  (6,277)  (7,564)  (7,151)

Provisions 24  (4,607)  (1,225)  (537)  (4,607)  (1,225)

Other liabilities 23  (7,059)  (7,214)  (8,465)  (7,059)  (7,214)

Total current liabilities  (84,860)  (68,373)  (69,236)  (84,834)  (68,373)

Total assets less current liabilities  305,159  285,590  283,056  300,723  280,860 

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 20 0 0  (210) 0 0

Borrowings 21  (46,390)  (33,339)  (31,986)  (46,390)  (33,339)

Provisions 24  (2,672)  (2,606)  (2,817)  (2,672)  (2,606)

Other liabilities 23  (1,280)  0  (166)  (1,280)  0 

Total non-current liabilities  (50,342)  (35,945)  (35,179)  (50,342)  (35,945)

Total assets employed  254,817  249,645  247,877  250,381  244,915 

Financed by

Taxpayers' equity

Public Dividend Capital  188,319  185,721  185,351  188,319  185,721 

Revaluation reserve 26  24,561  23,150  23,770  24,561  23,150 

Income and expenditure reserve  37,926  36,377  34,853  37,501  36,044 

Charitable fund reserves  4,011  4,397  3,903  0  0 

Total taxpayers' equity  254,817  249,645  247,877  250,381  244,915 

The financial statements on pages 124 to 164 were approved by the Board on 27 May 2014 and signed on its behalf by:  
   
Signed: ………………………………… (chief executive) Date: 28 May 2014     
      
The notes on pages 129 to 164 form part of these accounts.    
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Consolidated statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity 
for the year ended 31 March 2014

Group

NHS Charitable 
Funds Reserves

Public 
Dividend 

Capital

Revaluation 
Reserve

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' and Others' Equity at 01 April 2013  4,397  185,721  23,150  36,377 249,645 

Surplus/ (Deficit) for the year  (388)  0  0  769  381 

Transfers between reserves  0  0  (673)  673  0 

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment  0  0  2,092  0  2,092 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets  0  0  (8)  8  0 

Fair Value gains on Available-for-sale financial investments  101  0  0  0  101 

Public Dividend Capital received  0  2,598  0  0  2,598 

Other reserve movements - charitable funds 
consolidation adjustment

 (99)  0  0  99  0 

Taxpayers' and Others' Equity at 31 March 2014  4,011  188,319  24,561  37,926 254,817 

Taxpayers' and Others' Equity at 01 April 2012  0  185,351  23,770  34,853 243,974 

Prior period adjustment  3,903  0  0  0  3,903 

Taxpayers' and Others' Equity at 01 April 2012- restated  3,903  185,351  23,770  34,853 247,877 

Surplus for the year  506  0  0  751  1,257 

Transfers between reserves  0  0  (438)  438  0 

Impairments  0  0  (1,724)  0  (1,724)

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment  0  0  1,544  0  1,544 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets  0  0  (2)  2  0 

Fair Value gains on Available-for-sale financial investments  321  0  0  0  321 

Public Dividend Capital received  0  370  0  0  370 

Other reserve movements - charitable funds consolidation 
adjustment

 (333)  0  0  333  0 

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2013  4,397  185,721  23,150  36,377 249,645 

Continued 
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Trust

Public 
Dividend 

Capital

Revaluation 
Reserve

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' Equity at 01 April 2013  185,721  23,150  36,044 244,915 

Surplus for the year  0  0  776  776 

Transfers between reserves  0  (673)  673  0 

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment  0  2,092  0  2,092 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets  0  (8)  8  0 

Public Dividend Capital received  2,598  0  0  2,598 

Taxpayers' and Others' Equity at 31 March 2014  188,319  24,561  37,501 250,381 

Taxpayers' Equity at 01 April 2012  185,351  23,770  34,853 243,974 

Surplus for the year  0  0  751 751

Transfers between reserves  0  (438)  438  0 

Impairments  0  (1,724)  0  (1,724)

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment  0  1,544  0  1,544 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets  0  (2)  2  0 

Public Dividend Capital received  370  0  0  370 

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2013  185,721  23,150  36,044 244,915 

The notes on pages 129 to 164 form part of these accounts.    
 

Consolidated statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 (continued)
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 
31 March 2014

NOTE

Group Trust

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013 

(restated)

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Operating surplus   8,271  9,105  8,714  8,666 

Non-cash income and expense:  

Depreciation and amortisation 11/12.1  20,532  20,849  20,517  20,849 

Impairments 10  1,687  5,792  1,687  5,792 

Reversals of impairments 10  (1,201)  0  (1,201)  0 

Losses on disposal 4  88  14  88  14 

Interest accrued and not paid 9  0  (2)  0  (2)

(Decrease) in Dividends accrued and not paid or received  0  (151)  0  (151)

(Increase) in Trade and Other Receivables 17  (15,957)  (4,526)  (16,739)  (4,609)

(Increase)/Decrease in Other Assets 15  758  (757)  258  (257)

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories 16  (1,352)  1,024  (806)  1,024 

Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables 20  13,398  (1,393)  13,372  (810)

Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities 23  1,125  (1,418)  1,125  (1,418)

Increase in Provisions 24  3,387  407  3,387  407 

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS  30,736  28,944  30,402  29,505 

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 8  198  174  150  107 

Purchase of intangible assets 11  (1,221)  (1,651)  (1,221)  (1,651)

Sales of intangible assets 11  0  87  0  87 

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment 12  (25,600)  (20,061)  (25,454)  (20,061)

Net cash (used in) investing activities  (26,623)  (21,451)  (26,525)  (21,518)

Cash flows from financing activities

Public dividend capital received  2,598  370  2,598  370 

Loans received from the Foundation Trust Financing Facility  15,000  5,000  15,000  5,000 

Loans repaid to the Foundation Trust Financing Facility  (2,056)  (1,000)  (2,056)  (1,000)

Loans repaid to the Department of Health 21  (2,370)  (2,369)  (2,370)  (2,369)

Other loans repaid 21  (11)  (19)  (11)  (19)

Capital element of finance lease rental payments  (3,884)  (3,026)  (3,884)  (3,026)

Capital element of Private Finance Initiative Obligations  (280)  (219)  (280)  (219)

Interest paid 9  (904)  (862)  (904)  (862)

Interest element of finance lease 9  (418)  (197)  (418)  (197)

Interest element of Private Finance Initiative obligations 9  (185)  (136)  (185)  (136)

PDC Dividend paid  (6,255)  (6,604)  (6,255)  (6,604)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities  1,235  (9,062)  1,235  (9,062)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  5,348  (1,569)  5,112  (1,075)

Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April  29,950  31,519  28,465  29,540 

Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March  35,298  29,950  33,577  28,465 

The notes on pages 129 to 164 form part of these accounts.   
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1 Accounting policies
Monitor has directed that the financial 
statements of NHS Foundation 
Trusts shall meet the accounting 
requirements of the Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual (FT 
ARM) which shall be agreed with HM 
Treasury. Consequently, the following 
financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the FT 
ARM 2013/14 issued by Monitor. The 
accounting policies contained in that 
manual follow International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM 
Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) to the extent that they are 
meaningful and appropriate to NHS 
Foundation Trusts. The accounting 
policies have been applied consistently 
in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts.  

Accounting convention
These accounts have been 
prepared under the historical cost 
convention modified to account for 
the revaluation of property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets, 
inventories and certain financial 
assets and financial liabilities. 

Prior year comparator
The prior year comparator used in 
the accounts relates to the 6 months 
October 2011 to March 2012. The 
Trust was authorised as a Foundation 
Trust on 1st October 2011 and 
became a legal entity on that date.

1.1  Consolidation
NHS Charitable Fund
Southampton Hospital Charity  
(“SHC”) is a registered charity. 
University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust (“the Trust”) is the 
sole trustee of SHC. The Trust has 

determined that SHC is a subsidiary 
of the Trust because the Trust has 
control of the financial, operational 
and other policies of SHC. However, 
as trustee of SHC the Trust is legally 
obliged to act exclusively in the 
interests of the charity’s beneficiaries 
– NHS patients – and not (insofar as 
they diverge) in the interests of the 
Trust itself or its staff.

Before 2013/14 the FT ARM 
allowed the Trust not to consolidate 
SHC’s accounts with its own. From 
2013/14 the Trust has consolidated 
SHC’s accounts and has applied this 
as a change in accounting policy. In 
consolidating the accounts the Trust 
has made a prior year adjustment for 
the 2012/13 financial year in order 
to provide consistency between the 
accounts for the two years.

SHC’s accounts are prepared to 
31 March in accordance with 
Part 8 of the Charities Act 2011 
and with “Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities: Statement 
of Recommended Practice”, 
which is based on UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice. 
On consolidation, necessary 
adjustments are made to SHC’s 
assets, liabilities and transactions to:

•  recognise and measure them in 
accordance with the Foundation 
Trust’s accounting policies; and 

•  eliminate intra-group transactions, 
balances, gains and losses. 

Other subsidiary
The Trust wholly owns UHS 
Pharmacy Ltd which began trading 
in September 2013 and forms 
part of the consolidated accounts. 
The company provides outpatient 

pharmacy services. Its turnover for 
the period ended 31st March 2014 
was £3.0m.

Subsidiary entities are those over 
which the Trust has the power 
to exercise control or a dominant 
influence so as to gain economic 
or other benefits. The income, 
expenses, assets, liabilities, equity 
and reserves of subsidiaries are 
consolidated in full into the 
appropriate financial statement lines. 
The amounts consolidated are drawn 
from the financial statements of UHS 
Pharmacy Ltd. Inter-entity balances, 
transactions and gains/losses are 
eliminated in full on consolidation.

1.2  Income
Income in respect of services 
provided is recognised when, and to 
the extent that, performance occurs 
and is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration receivable. The 
main source of income for the Trust 
is contracts with commissioners in 
respect of healthcare services. 

Revenue from patient care spells 
that are part completed at the year 
end are apportioned across financial 
years on the basis of the number 
of occupied bed days and average 
revenue per bed day.

Where income is received for a 
specific activity which is to be 
delivered in the following financial 
year, that income is deferred. 

Income from the sale of non-current 
assets is recognised only when all 
material conditions of sale have been 
met, and is measured as the sums 
due under the sale contract. 

Notes to the accounts
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The Trust receives income under the 
NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, 
designed to reclaim the cost of 
treating injured individuals to whom 
personal injury compensation has 
subsequently been paid e.g. by an 
insurer. The Trust recognises the 
income when it receives notification 
from the Department of Work and 
Pension’s Compensation Recovery 
Unit that the individual has lodged 
a compensation claim. The income 
is measured at the agreed tariff 
for the treatments provided to the 
injured individual, less a provision for 
unsuccessful compensation claims 
and doubtful debts.

The Trust sells some goods, such as 
drugs, to other NHS Trusts. Income is 
recognised on delivery of the goods 
to the customer. 

Grants and donations are recognised 
as income on receipt. Where the 
funder imposes a condition that the 
grant or donation must be used to 
acquire or construct an asset the 
income is deferred until that asset is 
brought into use.

1.3  Expenditure on 
employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefits 
Salaries, wages and employment-
related payments are recognised in 
the period in which the service is 
received from employees. The cost 
of annual leave entitlement earned 
but not taken by employees at the 
end of the period is recognised 
in the financial statements to the 
extent that employees are permitted 
to carry-forward leave into the 
following period. 

Pension costs 
NHS Pension Scheme 
Past and present employees are 
covered by the provisions of the NHS 
Pension Scheme. The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme 

that covers NHS employers, general 
practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of Secretary of 
State, in England and Wales. It is 
not possible for the NHS 
Foundation Trust to identify its 
share of the underlying scheme 
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme 
is accounted for as a defined 
contribution scheme. 

Employers’ pension cost 
contributions are charged to 
operating expenses as and when 
they become due. Additional 
pension liabilities arising from early 
retirements are not funded by the 
scheme except where the retirement 
is due to ill-health. The full amount 
of the liability for the additional costs 
is charged to operating expenses 
at the time the trust commits itself 
to the retirement, regardless of the 
method of payment. 

1.4  Expenditure on other 
goods and services 
Expenditure on goods and services 
is recognised when, and to the 
extent that they have been received, 
and is measured at the fair value 
of those goods and services. 
Expenditure is recognised in 
operating expenses except where 
it results in the creation of a non-
current asset such as property, plant 
and equipment. 

1.5  Property, plant 
and equipment 
Recognition 
Property, plant and equipment is 
capitalised where: 
•  it is held for use in delivering 

services or for administrative 
purposes; 

•  it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to, or 
service potential be provided to, 
the Trust; 

•  it is expected to be used for more 

than one financial year; and 
•  the cost of the item can be 

measured reliably. 
•  the item has a cost of at least 

£5,000 or
•  collectively, a number of items 

have a cost of at least £5,000 
and individually have a cost 
of more than £250, where 
the assets are functionally 
interdependent, they had broadly 
simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous 
disposal dates and are under 
single managerial control. 

Where a large asset, for example 
a building, includes a number of 
components with significantly 
different asset lives e.g. plant and 
equipment, then these components 
are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful 
economic lives. 

Measurement 
Valuation 
All property, plant and equipment 
assets are measured initially 
at cost, representing the costs 
directly attributable to acquiring or 
constructing the asset and bringing 
it to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended 
by management. All assets are 
measured subsequently at fair value. 

Land and buildings used for the 
Trust’s services or for administrative 
purposes are stated in the statement 
of financial position at their revalued 
amounts, being the fair value at 
the date of revaluation less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. Revaluations 
are performed with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that carrying 
amounts are not materially different 
from those that would be determined 
at the end of the reporting period. 
Fair values are determined as follows:
•  Land and non-specialised 
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buildings – market value for 
existing use
• Specialised buildings – 
depreciated replacement cost 
HM Treasury currently adopts a 
standard approach to depreciated 
replacement cost valuations based 
on modern equivalent assets and, 
where it would meet the location 
requirements of the service being 
provided, an alternative site can 
be valued.

A full revaluation was carried out 
as at 31 March 2010; interim 
valuations must be carried out as 
required and a full valuation within 
5 years. The Trust has undertaken 
an interim valuation of the estate 
at 31 March 2014. The next full 
valuation is due in March 2015.

Properties in the course of construction 
for service or administration purposes 
are carried at cost, less any impairment 
loss. Cost includes professional fees 
but not borrowing costs, which are 
recognised as expenses immediately, 
as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held 
at fair value. Assets are revalued and 
depreciation commences when they 
are brought into use.

• Fixtures and equipment - carried 
at depreciated historic cost as this 
is considered to be not materially 
different from fair value. Fixtures 
and equipment acquired before 1 
April 2008 were indexed and the 
carrying value of those assets at 
that date is being written off over 
their useful lives.

Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure relating 
to an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an 
increase in the carrying amount 
of the asset when it is probable 
that additional future economic 
benefits or service potential deriving 
from the cost incurred to replace a 
component of such item will flow 

to the enterprise and the cost of the 
item can be determined reliably. 

Where a component of an 
asset is replaced, the cost of the 
replacement is capitalised if it meets 
the criteria for recognition above. 
The carrying amount of the part 
replaced is de-recognised. Other 
expenditure that does not generate 
additional future economic benefits 
or service potential, such as repairs 
and maintenance, is charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
in the period in which it is incurred.

Depreciation 
Items of property, plant and 
equipment are depreciated over 
their remaining useful economic 
lives in a manner consistent with 
the consumption of economic or 
service delivery benefits. Freehold 
land is considered to have an 
infinite life and is not depreciated. 

Property, plant and equipment 
which has been reclassified as ‘Held 
for Sale’ ceases to be depreciated 
upon the reclassification. Assets 
in the course of construction and 
residual interests in off-Statement of 
Financial Position PFI contract assets 
are not depreciated until the asset 
is brought into use or reverts to the 
Trust, respectively.  

Revaluation gains and losses 
Revaluation gains are recognised 
in the revaluation reserve, except 
where, and to the extent that, 
they reverse a revaluation decrease 
that has previously been recognised 
in operating expenses, in which 
case they are recognised in 
operating income. 

Revaluation losses are charged to 
the revaluation reserve to the extent 
that there is an available balance for 
the asset concerned, and thereafter 
are charged to operating expenses. 
Gains and losses recognised in the 

revaluation reserve are reported in 
the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as an item of ‘other 
comprehensive income’. 

Impairments 
In accordance with the FT ARM, 
impairments that are due to a 
loss of economic benefits or 
service potential in the asset are 
charged to operating expenses. 
A compensating transfer is made 
from the revaluation reserve to the 
income and expenditure reserve of 
an amount equal to the lower of (i) 
the impairment charged to operating 
expenses; and (ii) the balance in the 
revaluation reserve attributable to 
that asset before the impairment. 

An impairment arising from a loss 
of economic benefit or service 
potential is reversed when, and to 
the extent that, the circumstances 
that gave rise to the loss is reversed. 
Reversals are recognised in 
operating income to the extent 
that the asset is restored to the 
carrying amount it would have 
had if the impairment had never 
been recognised. Any remaining 
reversal is recognised in the 
revaluation reserve. Where, at the 
time of the original impairment, 
a transfer was made from the 
revaluation reserve to the income 
and expenditure reserve, an 
amount is transferred back to 
the revaluation reserve when the 
impairment reversal is recognised. 

Other impairments are treated as 
revaluation losses. Reversals of 
‘other impairments’ are treated as 
revaluation gains.  

De-recognition 
Assets intended for disposal are 
reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once 
all of the following criteria are met: 
•  the asset is available for 

immediate sale in its present 
condition subject only to terms 
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which are usual and customary 
for such sales;

•  the sale must be highly probable 
i.e. management are committed 
to a plan to sell the asset; 

•  an active programme has begun 
to find a buyer and complete 

 the sale; 
•  the asset is being actively 

marketed at a reasonable price; 
•  the sale is expected to be 

completed within 12 months of 
the date of classification as ‘Held 
for Sale’; and 

•  the actions needed to complete 
the plan indicate it is unlikely 
that the plan will be dropped or 
significant changes made to it.  

Following reclassification, the 
assets are measured at the lower of 
their existing carrying amount and 
their ‘fair value less costs to sell’. 
Depreciation ceases to be charged. 
Assets are de-recognised when all 
material sale contract conditions 
have been met. 

Property, plant and equipment which 
is to be scrapped or demolished does 
not qualify for recognition as ‘Held 
for Sale’ and instead is retained as 
an operational asset and the asset’s 
economic life is adjusted. The asset 
is de-recognised when scrapping or 
demolition occurs. 

Donated, government grant and 
other grant funded assets 
Donated and grant funded 
property, plant and equipment 
assets are capitalised at their fair 
value on receipt. The donation/
grant is credited to income at the 
same time, unless the donor has 
imposed a condition that the future 
economic benefits embodied in 
the grant are to be consumed in 
a manner specified by the donor, 
in which case the donation/grant 
is deferred within liabilities and is 
carried forward to future financial 
years to the extent that the 

condition has not yet been met. 

The donated and grant funded 
assets are subsequently accounted 
for in the same manner as other 
items of property, plant and 
equipment. 

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
transactions 
PFI transactions which meet the 
IFRIC 12 definition of a service 
concession, as interpreted in HM 
Treasury’s FReM, are accounted 
for as ‘on-Statement of Financial 
Position’ by the Trust. In accordance 
with IAS 17 the underlying assets 
are recognised as property, plant 
and equipment at their fair value 
together with an equivalent 
finance lease liability. Subsequently, 
the assets are accounted for as 
property, plant and equipment and/
or intangible assets as appropriate

The annual contract payments 
are apportioned between the 
repayment of the liability, a finance 
cost and the charges for services. 

The service charge is recognised in 
operating expenses and the 
finance cost is charged to 
Finance Costs in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

The annual unitary payment is 
separated into the following 
component parts, using 
appropriate estimation 
techniques where necessary:

a) Payment for the fair value of 
services received;

b) Payment for the PFI asset, 
including finance costs; and

c)  Payment for the replacement 
of components of the asset 
during the contract ‘lifecycle 
replacement’.

Services received
The fair value of services received 

in the year is recorded under the 
relevant expenditure headings 
within ‘operating expenses’.

PFI Asset
The PFI assets are recognised as 
property, plant and equipment, 
when they come into use. The 
assets are measured initially at 
fair value in accordance with the 
principles of IAS 17. Subsequently, 
the assets are measured at fair 
value, which is kept up to date 
in accordance with the Trust’s 
approach for each relevant class 
of asset in accordance with the 
principles of IAS 16.

PFI liability
A PFI liability is recognised at the 
same time as the PFI assets are 
recognised. It is measured initially at 
the same amount as the fair value 
of the PFI assets and is subsequently 
measured as a finance lease liability 
in accordance with IAS 17. 

An annual finance cost is calculated 
by applying the implicit interest 
rate in the lease to the opening 
lease liability for the period, and is 
charged to ‘Finance Costs’ within 
the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

Lifecycle replacement
Components of the asset replaced 
by the operator during the 
contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) 
are capitalised where they meet 
the Trust’s criteria for capital 
expenditure. They are capitalised at 
the time they are provided by the 
operator and are measured initially 
at their fair value.

The element of the annual unitary 
payment allocated to lifecycle 
replacement is pre-determined for 
each year of the contract from the 
operator’s planned programme of 
lifecycle replacement. Where the 
lifecycle component is provided 
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earlier or later than expected, a 
short-term finance lease liability 
or prepayment is recognised 
respectively. 

Where the fair value of the lifecycle 
component is less than the amount 
determined in the contract, the 
difference is recognised as an 
expense when the replacement is 
provided. If the fair value is greater 
than the amount determined in the 
contract, the difference is treated 
as a ‘free’ asset and a deferred 
income balance is recognised. The 
deferred income is released to the 
operating income over the shorter 
of the remaining contract period 
or the useful economic life of the 
replacement component.

Assets contributed by the 
Trust to the operator for use 
in the scheme
Assets contributed for use in the 
scheme continue to be recognised 
as items of property, plant and 
equipment in the Trust’s Statement 
of Financial Position.
 

1.6  Intangible assets
Recognition 
Intangible assets are non-monetary 
assets without physical substance 
which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the 
Trust’s business or which arise from 
contractual or other legal rights. 
They are recognised only where it 
is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to, or service 
potential be provided to, the Trust 
and where the cost of the asset can 
be measured reliably and the cost is 
at least £5,000.

Internally generated 
intangible assets 
Internally generated goodwill, 
brands, mastheads, publishing titles, 
customer lists and similar items are 
not capitalised as intangible assets.  

Expenditure on research is 
not capitalised. 
 
Expenditure on development is 
capitalised only where all of the 
following can be demonstrated: 
•  the project is technically feasible 

to the point of completion and 
will result in an intangible asset 
for sale or use;

•  the Trust intends to complete the 
asset and sell or use it; 

•  the Trust has the ability to sell or 
use the asset; 

•  how the intangible asset will 
generate probable future 
economic or service delivery 
benefits e.g. the presence of a 
market for it or its output, or 
where it is to be used for internal 
use, the usefulness of the asset;

•  adequate financial, technical and 
other resources are available to 
the Trust to complete the 

    development and sell or use the 
asset; and 

•  the Trust can measure reliably the 
expenses attributable to the asset 
during development.  

 
Software 
Software which is integral to the 
operation of hardware (e.g. an 
operating system) is capitalised 
as part of the relevant item of 
property, plant and equipment. 
Software which is not integral to 
the operation of hardware (e.g. 
application software) is capitalised 
as an intangible asset. 
 
Measurement 
Intangible assets are recognised 
initially at cost, comprising all 
directly attributable costs needed 
to create, produce and prepare 
the asset to the point that it is 
capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. 

Subsequently intangible assets are 
measured at fair value. Revaluations 
gains and losses and impairments 

are treated in the same manner as 
for Property, Plant and Equipment. 

Intangible assets held for sale are 
measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount or ‘fair value less 
costs to sell’.  
 
Amortisation 
Intangible assets are amortised over 
their expected useful economic lives 
in a manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or service 
delivery benefits.

1.7  Revenue government and 
other grants 
Government grants are grants from 
Government bodies other than 
income from commissioners for the 
provision of services. Where a grant 
is used to fund revenue expenditure 
it is taken to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income to match 
that expenditure. 
 

1.8  Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the 
lower of cost and net realisable 
value. The cost of inventories is 
measured using the weighted 
average cost method.  

1.9  Financial instruments and 
financial liabilities 
Recognition 
Financial assets and financial liabilities 
which arise from contracts for the 
purchase or sale of non-financial 
items (such as goods or services), 
which are entered into in accordance 
with the Trust’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements, are 
recognised when, and to the extent 
which, performance occurs i.e. when 
receipt or delivery of the goods or 
services is made. 

Financial assets or financial liabilities 
in respect of assets acquired or 
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disposed of through finance leases 
are recognised and measured in 
accordance with the accounting 
policy for leases described below.
All other financial assets and financial 
liabilities are recognised when the 
Trust becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. 
 
De-recognition 
All financial assets are de-
recognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the assets 
have expired or the Trust has 
transferred substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership. 

Financial liabilities are de-recognised 
when the obligation is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 
 
Classification and measurement 
Financial assets are categorised as 
loans and receivables.
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments which 
are not quoted in an active market. 
They are included in current assets. 

The Trust’s loans and receivables 
comprise: cash and cash equivalents, 
NHS receivables, accrued income 
and ’other receivables’.    
              
Loans and receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value, net of transaction 
costs, and are measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that discounts 
exactly estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the 
financial asset or, when appropriate, 
a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset. 

Interest on loans and receivables 
is calculated using the effective 
interest method and credited to 

the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

Trust receivables are current and 
therefore the transaction value is 
deemed to be the fair value and 
amortised cost.
 
Financial liabilities 
All financial liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value, net of transaction 
costs incurred, and measured 
subsequently at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that 
discounts exactly estimated future 
cash payments through the expected 
life of the financial liability or, when 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the 
net carrying amount of the financial 
liability. 

They are included in current 
liabilities except for amounts 
payable more than 12 months after 
the Statement of Financial Position 
date, which are classified as long-
term liabilities. 

Interest on financial liabilities carried 
at amortised cost is calculated using 
the effective interest method and 
charged to Finance Costs. Interest 
on financial liabilities taken out 
to finance property, plant and 
equipment or intangible assets is 
not capitalised as part of the cost of 
those assets. 

Impairment of financial assets 
At the Statement of Financial 
Position date, the Trust assesses 
whether any financial assets are 
impaired. Financial assets are 
impaired and impairment losses are 
recognised if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events 
which occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and which 
has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the asset. 

For financial assets carried at 
amortised cost, the amount of the 
impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of the 
revised future cash flows discounted 
at the asset’s original effective interest 
rate. The loss is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account/bad debt provision.

Provision for the impairment 
of receivables is maintained 
based on the age of the 
receivable or if otherwise believed 
to be irrecoverable.    

1.10  Leases               
Trust as lessee
Finance leases 
Where substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership of a leased asset 
are borne by the NHS Foundation 
Trust, the asset is recorded as 
property, plant and equipment and a 
corresponding liability is recorded. The 
value at which both are recognised is 
the lower of the fair value of the asset 
or the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease. 

The asset and liability are recognised 
at the commencement of the lease. 
Thereafter the asset is accounted for 
as an item of property plant 
and equipment.

The annual rental is split between 
the repayment of the liability and 
a finance cost so as to achieve a 
constant rate of finance over the 
life of the lease. The annual finance 
cost is charged to Finance Costs in 
the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The lease liability is de-
recognised when the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.  
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Imaging Infrastructure 
Support Service (IISS)
During 2012/13 the Trust entered 
an agreement  for the provision 
of a comprehensive replacement 
and maintenance service contract  
for all major radiological imaging  
equipment, the contract term is 13 
years with a fixed unitary payment  
covering  asset  replacement  and 
on-going maintenance . The asset 
replacements are treated as finance 
leases and accounted for as above. 
Where the element of the unitary 
payment relating to asset replacement 
is made in advance of the actual asset 
acquisition that payment is treated 
as a prepayment. The element of the 
unitary charge relating to maintenance 
is charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Operating leases 
Other leases are regarded as 
operating leases and the rentals are 
charged to operating expenses on a 
straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. Operating lease incentives 
received are added to the lease 
rentals and charged to operating 
expenses over the life of the lease.  

Leases of land and buildings 
Where a lease is for land and 
buildings, the land component 
is separated from the building 
component and the classification 
for each is assessed separately. 

The Trust as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under 
finance leases are recorded as 
receivables at the amount of the 
Trust’s net investment in the leases.  
Finance lease income is allocated 
to accounting periods so as to 
reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return on the Trust’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating 
leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the 

lease.  Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating and arranging an 
operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset 
and recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

1.11  Provisions 
The Trust recognises a provision 
where it has a present legal or 
constructive obligation of uncertain 
timing or amount; for which it is 
probable that there will be a future 
outflow of cash or other resources; 
and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount. The amount 
recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Position is the best 
estimate of the resources required 
to settle the obligation. Where the 
effect of the time value of money 
is significant, the estimated risk-
adjusted cash flows are discounted 
using the discount rates published 
and mandated by HM Treasury.

Clinical negligence costs 
The NHS Litigation Authority 
(NHSLA) operates a risk pooling 
scheme under which the Trust 
pays an annual contribution , and 
in return the NHSLA settles all 
clinical negligence claims. Although 
the NHSLA is administratively 
responsible for all clinical negligence 
cases, the legal liability remains with 
the Trust.  

Non-clinical risk pooling 
The Trust participates in the 
Property Expenses Scheme and the 
Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. 
Both are risk pooling schemes under 
which the Trust pays an annual 
contribution to the NHSLA and in 
return receives assistance with the 
costs of claims arising. The annual 
membership contributions, and 
any ‘excesses’ payable in respect 
of particular claims are charged 
to operating expenses when the 
liability arises.    

1.12  Contingencies  
Contingent assets (that is, assets 
arising from past events whose 
existence will only be confirmed 
by one or more future events not 
wholly within the entity’s control) 
are not recognised as assets, but are 
disclosed in note 25 where an inflow 
of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not 
recognised, but are disclosed in 
note 25, unless the probability of 
a transfer of economic benefits is 
remote. Contingent liabilities are 
defined as: 
•  possible obligations arising from 

past events whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly 
within the entity’s control; or 

•  present obligations arising from 
past events but for which it is 
not probable that a transfer of 
economic benefits will arise or 
for which the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured 
with sufficient reliability.

1.13  Public dividend capital 
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a 
type of public sector equity finance 
based on the excess of assets over 
liabilities at the time of establishment 
of the predecessor NHS Trust. HM 
Treasury has determined that PDC is 
not a financial instrument within the 
meaning of IAS 32. 

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital 
utilised by the NHS Foundation Trust, 
is payable as public dividend capital 
dividend. The charge is calculated at 
the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 
3.5%) on the average relevant net 
assets of the NHS Foundation Trust 
during the financial year. Relevant 
net assets are calculated as the 
value of all assets less the value of all 
liabilities, except for (i) donated assets 
(including lottery funded assets), (ii) 
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average daily cash balances held with 
the Government Banking Services 
(GBS) and National Loans Fund (NLF) 
deposits, excluding cash balances 
held in GBS accounts that relate to 
a short-term working capital facility, 
and (iii) for 2013/14 only, net assets 
and liabilities transferred from bodies 
which ceased to exist on 1 April 2013, 
and (iv) any PDC dividend balance 
receivable or payable. In accordance 
with the requirements laid down 
by the Department of Health (as 
the issuer of PDC), the dividend for 
the year is calculated on the actual 
average relevant net assets as set out 
in the ‘pre-audit’ version of the annual 
accounts. The dividend thus calculated 
is not revised should any adjustment to 
net assets occur as a result of the audit 
of the annual accounts. 

1.14  Value Added Tax 
Most of the activities of the Trust 
are outside the scope of VAT and, in 
general, output tax does not apply 
and input tax on purchases is not 
recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is 
charged to the relevant expenditure 
category or included in the capitalised 
purchase cost of fixed assets. Where 
output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated 
net of VAT.  

1.15  Corporation Tax 
Foundation Trusts are exempt from 
corporation tax. The Group has no 
Corporation Tax liability for the period.

1.16  Foreign exchange 
The functional and presentational 
currencies of the Trust are sterling. 

A transaction which is denominated 
in a foreign currency is translated 
into the functional currency at the 
spot exchange rate on the date of 
the transaction.                      
Where the Trust has assets or 

liabilities denominated in a foreign 
currency at the Statement of 
Financial Position date:  
•  monetary items are translated at 

the spot exchange rate on 
 31 March; 
•  non-monetary assets and 

liabilities measured at historical 
cost are translated using the spot 
exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction 

Exchange gains or losses on monetary 
items (arising on settlement of the 
transaction or on re-translation at the 
Statement of Financial Position date) 
are recognised in income or expense 
in the period in which they arise. 

Exchange gains or losses on non-
monetary assets and liabilities are 
recognised in the same manner as 
other gains and losses on these items. 

1.17  Third party assets 
Assets belonging to third parties 
(such as money held on behalf of 
patients) are not recognised in the 
accounts since the NHS Foundation 
Trust has no beneficial interest in 
them. However, they are disclosed 
in a separate note to the accounts in 
accordance with the requirements of 
HM Treasury’s FReM. 

1.18  Losses and special 
payments 
Losses and special payments are 
items that Parliament would not 
have contemplated when it agreed 
funds for the health service or passed 
legislation. By their nature they are 
items that ideally should not arise. 
They are therefore subject to special 
control procedures compared with 
the generality of payments. They 
are divided into different categories, 
which govern the way that individual 
cases are handled. Losses and special 
payments are charged to the relevant 
functional headings in expenditure 

on an accruals basis, including losses 
which would have been made good 
through insurance cover had NHS 
Trusts not been bearing their own 
risks (with insurance premiums then 
being included as normal revenue 
expenditure).    
   
However the losses and special 
payments note is compiled directly 
from the losses and compensations 
register which reports on an 
accrual basis with the exception of 
provisions for future losses. 

1.19  Critical accounting 
judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the Trust’s 
accounting policies, management 
is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from those 
estimates and the estimates and 
underlying assumptions are continually 
reviewed. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period or in 
the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 
  
Critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies
The following are the critical 
judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations (see below) that 
management has made in the process 
of applying the Trust’s accounting 
policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Impairment of assets
At each balance sheet date, the 
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Trust checks whether there is any 
indication that any of its tangible or 
intangible non-current assets have 
suffered an impairment loss.  
If there is indication of an 
impairment loss, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated 
to determine whether there has 
been a loss and, if so, its amount.  
Intangible assets not yet available 
for use are tested for impairment 
annually. The impairment value 

recognised in the year ending 31st 
March 2014 is disclosed at Note 10. 
    
Carbon reduction scheme 
The Trust is required to participate in 
the Carbon Reduction Commitment 
(CRC) Energy Efficiency Scheme. This 
scheme completed its first phase 
on 31 March 2014. The authority is 
required to purchase and surrender 
allowances, currently retrospectively, 
on the basis of emissions i.e. carbon 

dioxide produced as energy is 
used. As carbon dioxide is emitted 
(i.e. as energy is used), a liability 
and an expense are recognised. 
The liability will be discharged by 
surrendering allowances. The liability 
is measured at the best estimate of 
the expenditure required to meet 
the obligation, normally at the 
current market price of the number 
of allowances required to meet 
the liability at the reporting date, 

Asset lives and residual values.
The range of asset lives for intangible assets is as follows:

The ranges of asset lives for property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Min Life
Years

MAX Life

Years

Software 3 10

Min Life
Years

MAX Life

Years

Buildings excluding dwellings 5 75

Dwellings 24 43

Plant & Machinery 4 20

Transport Equipment 7 10

Information Technology 5 15

Furniture & Fittings 5 10

Classification of Leases
Under IAS 17 a finance lease is 
one that transfers to the lessee 
‘substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset’. 
This requires the consideration of a 
number of factors  for each lease such 
as the lease transferring ownership 
of the asset to the lessee by the end 
of the lease term; the lessee having 
the option to purchase the asset at 
a price sufficiently lower than fair 
value at the date the option becomes 
exercisable for it to be reasonably 
certain at the inception of the lease 
that the option will be exercised; the 
lease term being for the major part of 
the economic life of the asset even if 

economic title is not transferred; the 
present value of the minimum lease 
payments amounting at the inception 
of the lease to at least substantially 
all of the fair value of the leased 
asset; and the lease assets being of 
such a specialised nature that only 
the lessee can use them without 
major modifications; or lessor’s losses 
associated with cancelling the lease 
being borne by the lessee; gains or 
losses from fluctuations in the fair 
value of the residual accruing to the 
lessee; and the ability to continue the 
lease for a secondary period at a rent 
substantially lower than market rent. 
The total outstanding commitment 
for operating leases at 31st March 

2014 is £3.5m, and for finance 
leases £10.2m. 
  
Asset lives and residual values
Property, plant and equipment 
is depreciated over its useful life 
taking into account residual values, 
where appropriate. The actual lives 
of the assets and residual values 
are assessed annually and may vary 
depending on a number of factors. 
In reassessing asset lives, factors 
such as technological innovation 
and maintenance programmes are 
taken into account. Residual value 
assessments consider issues such as 
the remaining life of the asset and 
projected disposal values. 
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Change published Published by 
IASB 

Financial year for which the 
change first applies 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments May 2010 Uncertain. Not likely to be adopted by the 
EU until the IASB has finished the rest of its 
financial instruments project

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements May 2011 Effective from 2014/15*

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements May 2011 Effective from 2014/15*

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities May 2011 Effective from 2014/15*

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by HM Treasury

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements May 2011 Effective from 2014/15*

IAS 28 Associates and joint ventures May 2011 Effective from 2014/15*

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - amendment December 2011 Effective from 2014/15

* This reflects the EU-adopted effective date rather than the effective date in the standard.  
  
The adoption of these standards in future periods is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

but currently set at a fixed price by 
the government. The cost to the 
Trust is recognised and reported in 
Note 4 (Operating expenses) under 
Establishment costs. 

Recoverability of receivables 
Provision for non payment is made 
against all non-NHS receivables that 
are greater than 180 days old unless 
recoverability is certain. Provision 
is made against more recent 
receivables where there is some 
doubt concerning recoverability. The 
provision for impaired receivables at 
31st March 2014 was £5.922m (see 
note 18.1).

Provisions  
The Trust regularly monitors the 
position regarding provisions, including 
legal claims and restructuring, to 
ensure that it accurately reflects at 
each balance sheet date the current 
position in providing for potential 
future costs from past events, 
including board resolutions. The total 
provision for liabilities and charges at 
31st March 2014 was £7.279m 
(see note 24.2).
 
Key sources of estimation 
uncertainty   
There are no key assumptions 
concerning the future, or other key 

sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the balance sheet date, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial period.   

1.20  Accounting standards 
that have been issued but 
not adopted.  
The following accounting standards, 
amendments and interpretations 
have been issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
but not yet required to be adopted. 
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2 Operating 
segments

Trust activity is organised into four 
clinical divisions as follows:  
     
Division A 
Surgery, Cancer Care and 
Critical Care    
    
Division B 
Specialist Medicine, Emergency 
Medicine, Medicine for Elder 
People, Pathology and Radiology  

Division C 
Women and Newborn, Child 
Health, Clinical Support and Non 
Clinical Support    
   
Division D 
Trauma and Orthopaedics, 
Cardiothoracic and Neurosciences 
    
Each Division has its own senior 
management team.   
     
The Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(CODM)  of the Trust is the Trust 
Board which is required to approve 

the budget and all major 
operating decisions.  
    
The Monthly performance report 
to the CODM reports the 
performance of each Divisions 
operating costs against approved 
budgets. The financial information 
below is consistent with the 
monthly reporting.   
     
    

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 

31 March 

2013

£000 £000

Division A  132,285  115,867 

Division B  134,585  119,215 

Division C  114,574  102,554 

Division D  100,290  86,257 

Total Divisions  481,734  423,893 

Adjustment for income included above  61,448  77,881 

Headquarters and corporate costs  37,790  44,260 

Total Operating Expenses excl charity  580,972  546,034 

Depreciation, amortisation, impairments etc  26,148  26,327 

Charity  2,675  1,859 

Total Operating Expenses incl charity  609,795  574,220 

The income above relates to divisional incomes that are deducted from operating costs for the purposes of 
reporting to the CODM.          
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3.1 Operating Income by activity

Group Trust

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 
31 March 

2013
(restated)

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Total Total Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Income from Activities 

Elective income  105,844  103,030  105,844  103,030 

Non elective income  138,130  147,586  138,130  147,586 

Outpatient income  63,190  56,831  63,190  56,831 

A & E income  15,657  12,983  15,657  12,983 

Other NHS clinical income  187,962  135,777  187,962  135,777 

Private patient income  5,078  4,988  5,078  4,988 

Other non-protected clinical income  3,924  3,014  3,924  3,014 

Total income from activities  519,785  464,209  519,785  464,209 

Other operating income  

Research and development  17,388  30,491  17,388  30,491 

Education and training  37,925  41,528  37,925  41,528 

Receipt of grants/donations for capital acquisitions  4,231  825  4,231  825 

Other charitable and other contributions to expenditure  520  2,390  520  2,390 

Non-patient care services to other bodies  13,823  13,923  13,907  13,923 

Reversal of impairments of property, plant and equipment  1,201  0  1,201  0 

Rental revenue from operating leases  132  119  132  119 

NHS Charitable Funds: Incoming Resources excluding 
investment income

 2,214  2,298  0  0 

Car parking  3,506  3,358  3,506  3,358 

Staff accommodation rentals  60  53  60  53 

Crèche services  1,419  1,389  1,419  1,389 

Clinical excellence awards  3,905  3,820  3,905  3,820 

Other  11,957  18,922  12,015  18,922 

Total other operating income  98,281  119,116  96,209  116,818 

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME  618,066  583,325  615,994  581,027 
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3.3  Analysis of income from activities by source

Group Trust

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS England  500,297  0  500,297  0 

Primary Care Trusts  0  445,936  0  445,936 

Non NHS: Private patients  5,078  4,988  5,078  4,988 

Non NHS: Overseas patients (non-reciprocal)  455  396  455  396 

NHS injury scheme (was RTA)  3,469  2,618  3,469  2,618 

Devolved administrations and Channel Islands  10,486  10,271  10,486  10,271 

Total income from activities  519,785  464,209  519,785  464,209 

3.2  Operating lease income

Group Trust

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Total Total Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Rental revenue from operating leases - minimum lease receipts  132  119 132 119

Future minimum lease payments due on leases of buildings 
expiring - later than five years

 1,000  1,968 1,000 1,968

Of the total income from activities, £500.297k relates to Commissioner Requested Services and £19.488k to non 
Commissioner Requested Services.
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Group Trust

4  Group Operating expenses
Year ended 31 

March 2014
Year ended 31 

March 2013
(restated)

Year ended 31 
March 2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013

(restated)

£000 £000 £000 £000

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts  4,105  2,734  4,105  2,734 

Services from NHS Trusts  8,903  6,829  8,903  6,829 

Services from PCTs  0  1,630  0  1,630 

Services from CCGs and NHS England  10  0  10  0 

Services from other NHS Bodies  1,529  4,619  1,529  4,619 

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies  8,865  3,693  8,865  3,693 

Employee Expenses - Executive directors  1,194  1,230  1,194  1,230 

Employee Expenses - Non-executive directors  133  118  133  118 

Employee Expenses - Staff  362,910  337,600  362,711  337,600 

NHS Charitable funds - employee expenses  398  562  0  0 

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs)  70,717  62,603  70,717  62,603 

Supplies and services - general  16,095  14,963  16,069  14,963 

Establishment  3,778  4,008  3,765  4,008 

Research and development  4,728  15,362  4,728  15,362 

Transport  1,338  1,081  1,338  1,081 

Premises  18,992  17,300  18,966  17,300 

Increase in provision for impairment of receivables  154  2,342  154  2,342 

Change in provisions discount rate(s)  138  0  138  0 

Inventories written down  22  51  22  51 

Drug costs (non inventory drugs only)  1,463  1,397  1,463  1,397 

Drugs Inventories consumed  59,815  46,914  60,320  46,914 

Rentals under operating leases  640  896  631  896 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  18,495  17,764  18,480  17,764 

Amortisation on intangible assets  2,037  3,085  2,037  3,085 

Impairments of property, plant and equipment  1,687  5,630  1,687  5,630 

Impairments of intangible assets  0  162  0  162 

Audit fees:

Audit services- statutory audit  72  70  63  62 

Other auditor remuneration  216  63 216  63 

Clinical negligence  8,258  9,082  8,258  9,082 

Loss on disposal of other property, plant and equipment  88  14  88  14 

Legal fees  1,108  1,258  1,079  1,258 

Consultancy costs  638  543  616  543 

Training, courses and conferences  1,665  1,659  1,665  1,659 

Patient travel  136  751  136  751 

Car parking & Security  493  490  493  490 

Redundancy  76  195  76  195 

Insurance  671  621  671  621 

External financial services  963  1,275  963  1,275 

Losses, ex gratia & special payments  333  179  333  179 

Other  4,665  4,158  4,658  4,158 

NHS Charitable funds: Other resources expended  2,267  1,289  0  0 

TOTAL  609,795  574,220  607,280  572,361 
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 Group Trust

Year ended 31 
March 2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013

Year ended 31 
March 2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Taxation compliance services  35  38  35  38 

General assurance services  13  0  13  0 

All other non-audit services  168  25  168  25 

Total  216  63  216  63 

Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor is analysed as follows: 
 

Losses and special payments paid out in the year were as follows:

These amounts are reported on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.   
   

Year ended 31 March 2014 Year ended 31 March 2013

 Cases by number and value

Number £000's Number £000's

Losses of cash  12  9  20  15 

Bad debts and claims abandoned  432  341  414  133 

Total Losses  444  350  434  148 

Ex gratia payments  46  14  41  50 

Total Special Payments  46  14  41  50 

Total Losses and Special Payments  490  364  475  198 
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5.1  Employee Expenses

Group Trust

Year ended 31 
March 2013

Year ended 31 
March 2013 

(Restated)

Year ended 31 
March 2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013 

(Restated)

Total
£000

Total
£000

Total
£000

Total
£000

Salaries and wages  292,817  274,159  292,618  274,159 

Social security costs  24,473  23,322  24,473  23,322 

Pension cost - Employers contributions to 
NHS Pensions 

 34,202  30,299  34,202  30,299 

Agency/contract staff  20,970  18,601  20,970  18,601 

NHS Charitable funds staff  398  562  0  0 

Recoveries from Other bodies in respect of 
staff cost netted off expenditure

 (7,912)  (7,080)  (7,912)  (7,080)

Total Net Staff Costs  364,948  339,863  364,351  339,301 

Employee Expenses - Staff  362,910  337,600  362,711  337,600 

Employee Expenses - Executive directors  1,194  1,230  1,194  1,230 

NHS Charitable funds: Employee expenses  398  562  0  0 

Total Employee benefits excluding 
capitalised costs

 364,502  339,392  363,905  338,830 

5.2 Average number of employees 
(WTE basis)

Group Trust

Year ended 31 
March 2013

Year ended 31 
March 2013 

(restated)

Year ended 31 
March 2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013 

Total
Number

Total
Number

Total
Number

Total
Number

Medical and dental  1,129  1,089  1,129  1,089 

Administration and estates  1,474  1,427  1,470  1,427 

Healthcare assistants and other support staff  1,395  1,340  1,395  1,340 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff  2,757  2,549  2,757  2,549 

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff  1,075  966  1,075  966 

Agency and contract staff  347  307  346  307 

Bank staff  66  83  66  83 

Other  108  101  105  101 

Total  8,351  7,862  8,343  7,862 

Number of Employees (WTE) engaged on 
capital projects

 8  9  8  9 

The difference between net staff costs and total employee benefits relates to capitalised staff costs. Total 
remuneration paid to executive directors for the year ended 31st March 2014 (in their capacity as directors) totalled 
£1,194k (2012/13 £1,230k). No other remuneration was paid to directors in their capacity as directors. There were 
no advances or guarantees entered into on behalf of directors by the Trust. Employer contributions to the NHS 
Pension Scheme for executive directors for the year ended 31st March 2014 totalled £124k (2012/13 £129k). The 
total number of directors to whom benefits are accruing under the NHS defined benefit scheme (the NHS Pension 
Scheme) was 9 (2012/13 7).
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5.3  Early retirements due to ill health
From April 2013 to March 2014 
there were 14 (Apr 2012- Mar 
2013:8)  early retirements from the 
organisation agreed on grounds of 
ill-health. The estimated additional 
pension liabilities of these ill-health 
retirements is £881k (Apr 2012- 
Mar 2013: £569k) . The cost of 

these ill-health retirements will be 
borne by the NHS Business Services 
Authority-Pensions Division.  
     
  
5.4  Analysis of Termination benefits 
There were 2 cases (Apr 2012- Mar 
2013:10) of termination benefits 
for leavers during the period, 

costing the Foundation Trust £77k 
(Apr 2012- Mar 2013:£194k) in 
redundancy costs, £0k (Apr 2012- 
Mar 2013:£42k) in other non pay 
benefits, and £0k (Apr 2012- Mar 
2013:£11k) in lieu of annual leave 
and notice.   

5.5 Reporting of other compensation 
schemes- exit packages

Group and Trust

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Value of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number £000

Exit package cost band (including any special payment element)
Year ended 31 March 2014

£10,001 - £25,000 1 20

£50,001 - £100,000 1 57

Total 2 77
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6 Pension costs
Past and present employees are 
covered by the provisions of the 
NHS Pensions Scheme.  Details of 
the benefits payable under these 
provisions can be found on the NHS 
Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.
nhs.uk/pensions.  The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme 
that covers NHS employers, GP 
practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary 
of State, in England and Wales. The 
scheme is not designed to be run 
in a way that would enable NHS 
bodies to identify their share of 
the underlying scheme assets and 
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is 
accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme: the cost to 
the NHS Body of participating in 
the scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to the scheme 
for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit 
obligations recognised in the 
financial statements do not differ 
materially from those that would 
be determined at the reporting 
date by a formal actuarial valuation, 
the Treasury government financial 
reporting manual requires that 
“the period between formal 
valuations shall be four years, 
with approximate assessments in 
intervening years”. An outline of 
these follows:

a) Accounting valuation
The NHS pension scheme is subject 
to a full valuation every four years 
by the Government Actuary. The 
latest published valuation relates 
to the period 1 April 1999 to 31 
March 2004 which was published in 
December 2007 and is available on 
the Pensions Agency website http://
www.nhspa.gov.uk/nhspa_site/foi/
foi1/Scheme_Valuation_Report/
NHSPS_Valuation_report.pdf.  The 
notional deficit of the scheme was 
£3.3billion as per the latest scheme 

valuation by the Government Actuary 
for the period 1 April 1999 to 31 
March 2004. The conclusion of 
the valuation was that the scheme 
continues to operate on a sound 
financial basis. Employer contribution 
rates are reviewed every four years 
following the scheme valuation, on 
advice from the actuary. At the last 
valuation, it was recommended that 
employer contribution rates should 
continue at 14% of pensionable 
pay. From 1 April 2008, employees’ 
contributions have been on a tiered 
scale from 5% to 8.5% of their 
pensionable pay. 

A valuation of the scheme liability is 
carried out annually by the scheme 
actuary as at the end of the reporting 
period. Actuarial assessments are 
undertaken in intervening years 
between formal valuations using 
updated membership data and 
are accepted as providing suitably 
robust figures for financial reporting 
purposes. The valuation of the 
scheme liability as at 31 March 2014, 
is based on the valuation data as 
at 31 March 2012, updated to 31 
March 2014 with summary global 
member and accounting data. In 
undertaking this actuarial assessment, 
the methodology prescribed in IAS 
19, relevant FReM interpretations, 
and the discount rate prescribed by 
HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities 
of the scheme is contained in the 
scheme actuary report, which forms 
part of the annual NHS Pension 
Scheme (England and Wales) Pension 
Accounts, published annually.  These 
accounts can be viewed on the NHS 
Pensions website. Copies can also be 
obtained from The Stationery Office.

b) Full actuarial (funding) 
valuation
The purpose of this valuation is 
to assess the level of liability in 
respect of the benefits due under 

the scheme (taking into account its 
recent demographic experience), 
and to recommend the 
contribution rates. 

The last published actuarial valuation 
undertaken for the NHS Pension 
Scheme was completed for the 
year ending 31 March 2004. 
Consequently, a formal actuarial 
valuation would have been due for 
the year ending 31 March 2008. 
However, formal actuarial valuations 
for unfunded public service schemes 
were suspended by HM Treasury 
on value for money grounds while 
consideration was given to recent 
changes to public service pensions, 
and while future scheme terms are 
developed as part of the reforms to 
public service pension provision due 
in 2015. 

The Scheme Regulations were 
changed to allow contribution rates 
to be set by the Secretary of State 
for Health, with the consent of 
HM Treasury, and consideration of 
the advice of the Scheme Actuary 
and appropriate employee and 
employer representatives as deemed 
appropriate. 

The next formal valuation to be used 
for funding purposes was carried out 
in March 2012 and will be used to 
inform the contribution rates to be 
used from 1 April 2015.

c) Scheme provisions 
The NHS Pension Scheme provides 
defined benefits, which are 
summarised below. This list is an 
illustrative guide only, and is not 
intended to detail all the benefits 
provided by the Scheme or the 
specific conditions that must be 
met before these benefits can 
be obtained:

The Scheme is a “final salary” 
scheme. Annual pensions are 
normally based on 1/80th for the 



147

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

1995 section and of the best of the 
last three years pensionable pay for 
each year of service, and 1/60th for 
the 2008 section of reckonable pay 
per year of membership. Members 
who are practitioners as defined 
by the Scheme Regulations have 
their annual pensions based upon 
total pensionable earnings over the 
relevant pensionable service.
With effect from 1 April 2008 
members can choose to give up 
some of their annual pension for an 
additional tax free lump sum, 
up to a maximum amount 
permitted under HMRC rules. This 
new provision is known as 
“pension commutation”.

It should be noted that there will 
be a revised NHS pension scheme 
from April 2015, based upon 
career average earnings 
appropriately revalued.

Annual increases are applied to 
pension payments at rates defined 
by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, 
and are based on changes in retail 
prices in the twelve months ending 
30 September in the previous 
calendar year. From 2011-12 the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) has 
been used to replace the Retail 
Prices Index (RPI).

Early payment of a pension, with 
enhancement, is available to 
members of the scheme who are 

permanently incapable of fulfilling 
their duties effectively through 
illness or infirmity. A death gratuity 
of twice final year’s pensionable pay 
for death in service, and five times 
their annual pension for death after 
retirement is payable.

For early retirements other than 
those due to ill health the additional 
pension liabilities are not funded by 
the scheme. The full amount of the 
liability for the additional costs is 
charged to the employer.

Members can purchase additional 
service in the NHS Scheme and 
contribute to money purchase 
AVC’s run by the Scheme’s 
approved providers or by other 
Free Standing Additional Voluntary 
Contributions (FSAVC) providers.

The Trust is informed, along with 
all other NHS organisations, of 
the rate to be applied prior to 
the beginning of the financial 
year. Its current rate is set at 
14% of employees’ pensionable 
pay for those employees in the 
scheme. This rate will continue 
in 2014/15. In March 2014 the 
Treasury announced the provisional 
results of the 2012 valuation, and 
announced a provisional increase 
from 14% to 14.3% from April 
2015. This is the best information 
available as to the amount of future 
contributions, although the scale 

of the NHS pension scheme and 
its commitments mean that it will 
remain under close scrutiny. 

From 2013/14 the government has 
introduced automatic enrolment 
of staff into a workplace pension 
(although staff can continue to 
opt out again after enrolment). 
In general the Trust’s staff are 
enrolled into the NHS pension 
scheme. However, there is a small 
group of staff who cannot be 
enrolled into the NHS scheme; for 
example, where they have already 
started drawing their NHS pension. 
These staff are auto-enrolled into 
the National Earnings Savings 
Trust (NEST) scheme managed by 
the NEST corporation which is a 
non-departmental public body 
accountable to the Department 
of Work and Pensions. NEST is 
a defined contribution pension 
scheme that was created as part 
of the government’s workplace 
pensions reforms under the 
Pensions Act 2008. The employer 
contribution rate for NEST adopted 
by the Trust currently stands at 1% 
of annual earnings between £5668 
and £41450 (this is the minimum 
rate stipulated). This is due to rise 
to 2% in October 2017, and then 
3% in October 2018. At 31st March 
2014 the Trust had 24 members 
in NEST and had made total 
contributions for 2013/14 of £3k.

7.1  Operating leases

Year ended 31 March 2014 Year ended 31 March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Buildings Plant & 
Machinery

Total Buildings Plant & 
Machinery

Total

Group

Minimum lease payments  391  249  640  497  399  896 

Trust

Minimum lease payments  382  249  631  497  399  896 
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7.2  Arrangements containing an 
operating lease

Year ended 31 March 2013 Year ended 31 March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Buildings Plant & 
Machinery

Total Buildings Plant & 
Machinery 

Total

Group

Future minimum lease payments due:  

- not later than one year;  391  69  460  497  325  822 

- later than one year and not later than
  five years;

 1,179  54  1,233  1,461  216  1,677 

- later than five years  1,790  0  1,790  2,040  0  2,040 

Total  3,360  123  3,483  3,998  541  4,539 

Future minimum lease payments due: 

- not later than one year;  382  53  435  497  325  822 

- later than one year and not later than
  five years;

 1,179  0  1,179  1,461  216  1,677 

- later than five years  1,781  0  1,781  2,040  0  2,040 

Total  3,342  53  3,395  3,998  541  4,539 

7.3  Interest on late payments 
There was no interest on late payments in 2012/13 or 2013/14. 

8  Finance income

Group Trust

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2014

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2014

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest on bank accounts  125  107  125  107 

Interest on loans and receivables  0  0  25  0 

NHS Charitable funds: investment income  73  67  0  0 

Total  198  174  150  107 

9  Finance expenses

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2014

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2014

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest expense:

Loans from the Foundation Trust Financing Facility  361  165  361  165 

Loans from the Department of Health  598  699  598  699 

Finance leases  417  197  417  197 

Private Finance Initiative schemes  185  136  185  136 

Total Finance costs  1,561  1,197  1,561  1,197 

Unwinding of discount on provisions  61  70  61  70 

Total Finance expenses  1,622  1,267  1,622  1,267 
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10  Impairments
Group and Trust

2013/14 2012/13

Net 
impairment

Impairments Reversals Net 
impairment

Impairments Reversals

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Diminution from normal operations  486  1,687  (1,201)  5,792  5,792  0 

Other  0  0  0  1,724  1,724  0 

Total Impairments  486  1,687  (1,201)  7,516  7,516  0 

Of the amount above, £486k (2012/13 £5,792k) was charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and £0k (2012/13 £1,724k) to the Revaluation reserve.  
    

11  Intangible assets
Group and Trust

Movements for Year ended 31 March 2014 Movements for Year ended 31 March 2013

Software licences
(purchased)

EU Emissions 
Allowances

Total Software licences
(purchased)

EU Emissions 
Allowances

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation/Gross cost at 1 April 2013  15,001  638  15,639  14,011  619  14,630 

Additions - purchased  1,008  0  1,008  1,474  0  1,474 

Additons - donated  0  0  0  8  0  8 

Additions - government granted  0  0  0  0  106  106 

Disposals  (109)  (638)  (747)  (492)  (87)  (579)

Valuation/Gross cost at 
31 March 2014

 15,900  0  15,900  15,001  638  15,639 

Amortisation at 1 April 2013  9,673  638  10,311  7,337  219  7,556 

Provided during the year  2,037  0  2,037  2,828  257  3,085 

Impairments  0  0  0  0  162  162 

Disposals  (109)  (638)  (747)  (492)  0  (492)

Amortisation at 31 March 2014  11,601  0  11,601  9,673  638  10,311 

NBV- Purchased  4,299  0  4,299  5,292  0  5,292 

NBV - Donated   0  0  0  36  0  36 

NBV Total at 31 March 2014  4,299  0  4,299  5,328  0  5,328 



150

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

12.1  Property, 
plant and 
equipment 
2013/14

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets Under 
Construction 

and 
Payments on 

Account

Plant &  
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation/Gross cost at 
1 April 2013

 29,631  230,479  1,339  4,077  88,115  499  6,629  87 360,856 

Additions - purchased  0  10,028  0  5,257  4,973  0  1,226  0  21,484 

Additions - leased  0  788  0  0  6,275  0  0  0  7,063 

Additions - grants/ 
donations of cash to 
purchase assets

 0  3,091  0  332  285  0  0  0  3,708 

Impairments charged to 
operating expenses

 0  (8,375)  0  0  0  0  0  0  (8,375)

Reclassifications  0  4,074  0  (4,074)  0  0  0  0  0 

Revaluations  63  1,889  140  0  0  0  0  0  2,092 

Disposals  0  0  0  0  (2,959)  0  (165)  0  (3,124)

Valuation/Gross cost at 
31 March 2014

 29,694  241,974  1,479  5,592  96,689  499  7,690  87 383,704 

Of the movements above, the following relate to UHS Pharmacy Ltd:  £000

Valuation/Gross cost at 1 April 2013  0 

Additions - purchased (Buildings excluding Dwellings)  59 

Additions - purchased (Information Technology)  86 

Valuation/Gross cost at 31 March 2014  145 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2013  0 

Depreciation provided during the year (Buildings excluding dwellings)  5 

Depreciation provided during the year (Information Technology)  9 

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2014  14 

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
1 April 2013

 0  22,861  298  0  56,580  282  4,671  70  84,762 

Provided during the year  0  7,849  45  0  9,897  51  649  4  18,495 

Impairments charged 
to operating expenses

 0  (6,688)  0  0  0  0  0  0  (6,688)

Reversal of impair-
ments credited to 
operating income

 0  (1,201)  0  0  0  0  0  0  (1,201)

Disposals  0  0  0  0  (2,872)  0  (165)  0  (3,037)

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
31 March 2014

 0  22,821  343  0  63,605  333  5,155  74  92,331 

None of the movement relates to the Trust charity.
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12.2  Property, plant 
and equipment 
2012/13
Group

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets Under 
Construction 

and Payments 
on Account

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation/Gross cost at 
1 April 2012

 31,355  213,410  1,138  3,897  106,494  672  7,777  657 365,400 

Additions - purchased  0  9,238  170  757  4,936  33  979  0  16,113 

Additions - leased  0  1,976  0  0  1,886  0  0  0  3,862 

Additions - donated  0  1,239  0  2,526  148  107  0  0  4,020 

Impairments  (1,724)  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  (1,724)

Reclassifications  0  3,103  0  (3,103)  84  (84)  0  0  0 

Revaluations  0  1,513  31  0  0  0  0  0  1,544 

Disposals  0  0  0  0  (25,433)  (229)  (2,127)  (570) (28,359)

Valuation/Gross cost at 
31 March 2013

 29,631  230,479  1,339  4,077  88,115  499  6,629  87 360,856 

Accumulated depreciation 
at 1 April 2012

 0  9,469  262  0  72,832  553  5,960  636  89,712 

Provided during the year  0  7,762  36  0  9,082  42  838  4  17,764 

Impairments  0  5,630  0  0  0  0  0  0  5,630 

Reclassifications  0  0  0  0  84  (84)  0  0  0 

Disposals  0  0  0  0  (25,418)  (229)  (2,127)  (570) (28,344)

Accumulated depreciation 
at 31 March 2013

 0  22,861  298  0  56,580  282  4,671  70  84,762 

There were no property, plant and equipment assets for UHS Pharmacy Ltd or the Trust charity prior to 1st April 2013.  
 



152

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

Net book value at 31 March 2013  Group

Owned 29,631  184,271  1,041  2,456  23,056  90  1,954  17 242,516 

Finance Lease  0  0  0  0  6,656  0  0  0  6,656 

On-balance-sheet PFI 
contracts

 0  3,603  0  0  0  0  0  0  3,603 

Donated  0  19,744  0  1,621  1,823  127  4  0  23,319 

NBV Total at 31 
March 2013

29,631  207,618  1,041  4,077  31,535  217  1,958  17 276,094 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

 0  54  0  0  0  0  77  0  131 

Of the balance above, the following relates to UHS Pharmacy Ltd at the 31st March 2014:   

13  Intangible assets acquired by government grant
There are currently no intangible assets acquired by government grant. 

14  Investments
Group only

NHS Charitable 
funds: 

Investment 
property

NHS Charitable 
funds: Other 
investments

NHS Charitable 
funds: 

Investment 
property

NHS Charitable 
funds: Other 
investments

Movements for year ended 31st 
March 2014

Movements for year ended 31st 
March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Carrying value at 1 April  100  2,578  0  0 

Prior Period Adjustment  0  0  100  2,257 

Carrying value at 1 April  100  2,578  100  2,257 

Movement in fair value of Available-for-sale financial 
assets recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

 0  101  0  321 

Carrying value at 31 March  100  2,679  100  2,578 

12.3  Property, 
plant and 
equipment 
financing

Net book value at 31 
March 2014
Group

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets Under 
Construction 

and 
Payments on 

Account

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Owned 29,694  195,169  1,136  5,260  22,367  66  2,533  13 256,238 

Finance Lease  0  787  0  0  9,188  0  0  0  9,975 

On-balance-sheet PFI 
contracts

 0  3,570  0  0  0  0  0  0  3,570 

Donated  0  19,627  0  332  1,529  100  2  0  21,590 

NBV Total at 31 
March 2014

29,694  219,153  1,136  5,592  33,084  166  2,535  13 291,373 
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15  Other financial assets

Group Trust

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013

(restated)

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Current

Loan and receivables  0  257  0  257 

NHS Charitable funds: Other financial assets  0  500  0  0 

Total  0  757  0  257 

16  Inventories

Group Trust

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Carrying Value at 1 April  11,282  12,306  11,282  12,306 

Additions  121,445  104,298  121,404  104,298 

Inventories consumed (recognised in expenses)  (120,071)  (105,271)  (120,576)  (105,271)

Write-down of inventories recognised as an expense  (22)  (51)  (22)  (51)

Carrying Value at 31 March  12,634  11,282  12,088  11,282 

17  Trade and other receivables

Group Trust

Total 31 
March 2014

Total 31 
March 2013

(restated)

Total 
1 April 2012

Total 31 
March 2014

Total 31 
March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current

NHS Receivables  24,508  12,250  8,919  24,508  12,250 

Other receivables with related parties  1,105  2,022  1,221  1,105  2,022 

Prepayments (Non-PFI) 9,285  5,273  3,197  9,242  5,273 

Accrued income  2,948  1,675  2,784  2,977  1,675 

PDC Dividend receivable  0  195  346  0  195 

VAT receivable  367  385  822  307  385 

Other receivables  7,684  9,497  7,878  8,263  9,430 

Provision for impaired receivables  (5,452)  (5,995)  (4,063)  (5,452)  (5,995)

Total Current  40,445  25,302  21,104  40,950  25,235 

Non-Current

Other receivables  3,661  3,035  2,575  3,871  3,035 

Provision for impaired receivables  (470)  (463)  (331)  (470)  (463)

Total Non-Current  3,191  2,572  2,244  3,401  2,572 

Total Trade and other Receivables  43,636  27,874  23,348  44,351  27,807 
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18.1  Provision for impairment of receivables

Group Trust

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April  6,458  4,394  6,458  4,394 

Increase in provision  965  2,774  965  2,774 

Amounts utilised  (690)  (278)  (690)  (278)

Unused amounts reversed  (811)  (432)  (811)  (432)

At 31 March  5,922  6,458  5,922  6,458 

18.2  Analysis of impaired receivables
Group

 

Trade Receivables
31 March 2014

Other Receivables
31 March 2014

Trade Receivables

31 March 2013

Other Receivables

31 March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Ageing of impaired receivables 

0-30 days  3,214  80  3,756  45 

30-60 Days  37  31  199  44 

60-90 days  10  36  71  27 

90-180 days  489  93  747  103 

over 180 days  1,109  823  745  721 

Total  4,859  1,063  5,518  940 

Ageing of non-impaired receivables past their due date

0-30 days  2,144  319  4,256  251 

30-60 Days  1,056  161  2,132  245 

60-90 days  382  181  211  150 

90-180 days  1,502  472  75  572 

over 180 days  296  4,200  609  4,010 

Total  5,380  5,333  7,283  5,228 

Trust
 

Trade Receivables
31 March 2014

Other Receivables
31 March 2014

Trade Receivables

31 March 2013

Other Receivables

31 March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Ageing of impaired receivables 

0-30 days  3,214  80  3,756  45 

30-60 Days  37  31  199  44 

60-90 days  10  36  71  27 

90-180 days  489  93  747  103 

over 180 days  1,109  823  745  721 

Total  4,859  1,063  5,518  940 

Ageing of non-impaired receivables past their due date

0-30 days  2,117  319  4,256  251 

30-60 Days  1,056  161  2,132  245 

60-90 days  381  181  211  150 

90-180 days  1,317  472  75  572 

over 180 days  296  4,200  609  4,010 

Total  5,167  5,333  7,283  5,228 

Contingent rents recognised as expenditure in the period
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19.1  Cash and cash equivalents

Group Trust

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

 (restated)

1 April 2012 31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Total cash balance  35,298  29,950 31,519  33,577  28,465 

Cash at commercial banks and in hand  1,762  1,519 2,013  41  34 

Cash with the Government Banking Service  33,536  28,431 29,506  33,536  28,431 

Cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 35,298 29,950 31,519 33,577 28,465

Cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF 35,298 29,950 31,519 33,577 28,465

20  Trade and other payables

Group Trust

Total
31 March 

2014

Total
31 March 

2013 
(restated)

Total
1 April 2012

Total
31 March 

2014

Total
31 March 

2013

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current 

NHS payables - revenue  6,082  3,842  4,350  6,082  3,842 

Amounts due to other related parties - 
revenue

 8,255  5,260  4,436  8,255  5,260 

Other trade payables - capital  3,949  4,570  4,350  3,949  4,570 

Other trade payables - revenue  19,168  16,413 17,895 19,125  16,413 

Social Security costs  3,450  3,314  3,145  3,450  3,314 

Other taxes payable  3,878  3,865  3,744  3,878  3,865 

Other payables  4,276  3,650  3,168  4,273  3,650 

Accruals 16,557  11,869  12,869 16,577  11,869 

PDC payable  15  0  0  15  0 

Total Current  65,630  52,783  53,957  65,604  52,783 

Non-current

Other trade payables - capital  0  0  210  0  0 

Total Non Current  0  0  210  0  0 

Total Trade and other payables  65,630  52,783  54,167  65,604  52,783 

19.2  Third party assets held by the NHS Foundation Trust
Group and Trust

Year ended 
31 March 

2014

Year ended 31 
March 2013

£000 £000

Patients’ monies 8 9

An amount of £4.887m (2012/13 £4.185m) relating to outstanding pension contributions is included within 
amounts due to other related parties; this liability will be paid in April 2014.      
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Original Advance Date

Original Loan Current 

Balance 

outstanding

Interest Rate Date of final 

repayment

£000 £000 %

November 2007 3,000  1,141 4.85% March 2018

March 2008 7,500  3,000 4.19% March 2018

September 2008 8,000  3,600 4.85% Sept 2018

September 2010 8,000  6,131 2.74% Sept 2025

October 2011  10,000  7,500 1.57% Sept 2021

September 2012 5,000 4,444 0.76% March 2022

June 2013  15,000  14,501 1.91% Sept 2028

Total balance outstanding  40,317   

The FoundationTrust has the following loans with the Department of Health: 
 

Via Dept of Health Foundation Trust Financing Facility: 

21  Borrowings

Group Trust

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

1 April 2012 31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current 

Loans from Foundation Trust Financing 
Facility

 2,555  1,556  1,000  2,555  1,556 

Capital Loans from Department of Health  2,370  2,370  2,370  2,370  2,370 

Other Loans  0  11  15  0  11 

Obligations under finance leases  2,339  2,934  2,682  2,339  2,934 

Obligations under Private Finance Initiative 
contracts

 300  280  210  300  280 

Total current  7,564  7,151  6,277  7,564  7,151 

Non-current

Loans from Foundation Trust Financing 
Facility

 23,890  11,944  8,500  23,890  11,944 

Capital Loans from Department of Health  11,502  13,872  16,240  11,502  13,872 

Other Loans 0 0  16 0 0

Obligations under finance leases  7,901  4,127  4,491  7,901  4,127 

Obligations under Private Finance Initiative 
contracts

 3,097  3,396  2,739  3,097  3,396 

Total Non Current  46,390  33,339  31,986  46,390  33,339 

Total Borrowings  53,954  40,490  38,263  53,954  40,490 
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22  Prudential borrowing limit 
Prudential Borrowing Limit disclosures are no longer required, the Prudential Borrowing code 
having been repealed by the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

23  Other liabilities

Group Trust

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

1 April 
2012

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current

Deferred grants income  1,677  1,942  4,858  1,677  1,942 

Deferred income - goods and services  5,382  5,272  3,607  5,382  5,272 

Total Current  7,059  7,214  8,465  7,059  7,214 

Non-current

Deferred income - goods and services  1,280  0  0  1,280  0 

Other Deferred income 0 0  166 0 0

Total Non-current  1,280  0  166  1,280  0 

Total Other liabilities  8,339  7,214  8,631  8,339  7,214 

24.1 Provisions for liabilities and 
charges
Group and Trust

Current 
31 March 

2014

Current 
31 March 

2013

Current 
1 April 

2012

Non-current 
31 March 

2014

Non-current 
31 March 

2013

Non-current 
1 April 

2012

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Pensions relating to staff  196  201  188  2,672  2,606  2,481 

Other legal claims  211  265  312  0  0  0 

Equal pay 0 0  8 0 0  0 

Restructuring 0 0  29 0 0  0 

Other  4,200  759  0  0  0  336 

Total  4,607  1,225  537  2,672  2,606  2,817 

Pensions relating to staff relates to future costs of early retirements where the Trust agreed in earlier years to fund 
the employee for full pension benefits; the “other” provision mainly relates to ongoing commercial arrangements. 
      

24.2  Provisions for liabilities 
and charges analysis
Group and Trust

Pensions - 
other staff

Other legal 
claims

Restructuring Other Total 

£'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2013  2,807  265  0  759  3,831 

Change in the discount rate  138  0  0  0  138 

Arising during the year  104  147  76  4,200  4,527 

Utilised during the year - cash  (196)  (74)  (76)  (673)  (1,019)

Reversed unused  (46)  (127)  0  (86)  (259)

Unwinding of discount  61  0  0  0  61 

At 31 March 2014  2,868  211  0  4,200  7,279 

Expected timing of cashflows: 

- not later than one year;  196  211  0  4,200  4,607 

- later than one year and not later than five years;  784  0  0  0  784 

- later than five years.  1,888  0  0  0  1,888 

Total  2,868  211  0  4,200  7,279 
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24.3  Clinical Negligence liabilities
Group and Trust

31 March 
2014

31 March 

2013

£000 £000

Amount included in provisions of the NHSLA in respect of clinical negligence 

liabilities of the Foundation Trust

 81,866  64,678 

25  Contingent liabilities
Group and Trust

31 March 
2014

31 March 

2013

£000 £000

Value of contingent liabilities 

    Other  68  32 

Total value of contingent liabilities  68  32 

26  Revaluation Reserve
Group and Trust

Revaluation 
Reserve - 

property, plant 
and equipment

Year ended 31 
March 2014

Revaluation 

Reserve - 

property, plant 

and equipment

Year ended 31 

March 2013

£000 £000

Revaluation reserve at 1 April  23,150  23,770 

Impairments  0  (1,724)

Revaluations  2,092  1,544 

Transfers to other reserves  (673)  (438)

Asset disposals  (8)  (2)

Revaluation reserve at 31 March  24,561  23,150 
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Group

Year ended 31 March 2014 Year ended 31 March 2013

Income Expenditure Income Expenditure 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Department of Health  20,555  0  21,974  0 

Southampton City PCT  0  0  132,115  602 

Hampshire PCT  0  0  251,735  410 

South Central SHA  0  0  41,796  19 

Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust  949  3,754  762  2,468 

NHS Litigation Authority  0  8,602  0  9,354 

NHS Southampton CCG  115,195  0  0  0 

NHS West Hampshire CCG  109,210  0  0  0 

NHS England  251,170  0  0  0 

Health Education England  39,050  0  0  0 

Solent NHS Trust  2,317  4,221  0  0 

Other NHS Bodies  45,995  14,149  89,329  21,051 

 584,441  30,726  537,711  33,904 

NHS Pension Scheme  0  34,202  0  30,299 

National Insurance Fund  0  24,473  0  23,322 

University of Southampton  5,319  8,164  3,942  6,039 

Other    1,136  20,501  1,073  3,404 

 6,455  87,340  5,015  63,064 

Total value of transactions with related parties  590,896  118,066  542,726  96,968 

27.1  Related party transactions 
University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust is a public  
benefit corporation authorised by 
Monitor, the independent regulator 
for NHS Foundation Trusts.  
    
During the year none of the board 
members or members of senior 

management or parties related to 
them has undertaken any material 
transactions with the Group.  
    
The Department of Health is 
regarded as a related party. The 
Trust has had a significant number 
of transactions with the Department 
and with other entities for which 

the Department is regarded as the 
parent department.   
    
The transactions relate mainly to 
the provision of healthcare services 
and the purchase of services in the 
ordinary course of business. 
The entities are:    
   

In addition, the Group has had a number of material transactions with other Government departments and other 
central and local government bodies. These are as follows:

The Group comprises the Trust, UHS Pharmacy Ltd and Southampton Hospital Charity. The Trust has £432k 
receivables with Southampton Hospital Charity together with receivables of £213k and payables of £650k with 
UHS Pharmacy Ltd. Transactions with related parties are on a normal commercial basis.



160

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2013/14

27.2  Related party balances
group

At 31 March 2014 At 31 March 2013

Receivables Payables Receivables Payables  

£000 £000 £000 £000

Department of Health  847  15  837  0 

Other NHS bodies  23,661  7,901  11,607  3,842 

Other    1,472  15,583  2,408  12,439 

Total balances with related parties at 31 March  25,980  23,499  14,852  16,281 

28  Capital commitments
group and Trust

Total 31 
March 2013

Total 31 

March 2012

£000 £000

Property, plant and equipment  8,064  6,930 

Intangible assets  0  50 

Imaging infrastructure support service  48,236  64,907 

Total  56,300  71,887 

The imaging infrastructure support service commitment relates to the commitment for purchasing replacement 
capital assets for existing radiology kit over the 13 years of the contract.     

In addition there are loan balances with the Department of Health as disclosed at Note 21.  
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29  Finance lease obligations
group and Trust

Total 31 
March 2014

Total 31 
March 2013

£000 £000

Gross buildings lease liabilities  2,150  1,080 

of which liabilities are due:

- not later than one year;  278  160 

- later than one year and not later than five years;  1,113  640 

- later than five years.  759  280 

Finance charges allocated to future periods  (497)  (85)

Net buildings lease liabilities  1,653  995 

- not later than one year;  177  137 

- later than one year and not later than five years;  828  584 

- later than five years.  648  274 

Gross plant and machinery lease liabilities  10,482  6,266 

- not later than one year;  2,621  2,909 

- later than one year and not later than five years;  5,341  3,357 

- later than five years.  2,520  0 

Finance charges allocated to future periods  (1,895)  (200)

Net plant and machinery lease liabilities  8,587  6,066 

- not later than one year;  2,162  2,797 

- later than one year and not later than five years;  4,236  3,269 

- later than five years.  2,189  0 

30.1  On-SOFP PFI obligations
group and Trust

Total 31 
March 2014

Total 31 
March 2013

£000 £000

Gross PFI liabilities  4,190  4,656 

of which liabilities are due

- not later than one year;  466  466 

- later than one year and not later than five years;  1,862  1,862 

- later than five years.  1,862  2,328 

Finance charges allocated to future periods  (793)  (980)

Net PFI obligation  3,397  3,676 

- not later than one year;  300  280 

- later than one year and not later than five years;  1,393  1,315 

- later than five years.  1,704  2,081 

 3,397  3,676 

30.2 On-SOFP PFI commitments 
The Trust’s PFI Commitment relates to the Energy Supply Agreement with Dalkia PLC (principally for steam heat 
and management of emergency generators). This agreement consists of a fixed unitary element of £1.48m per 
annum, with the remainder variable due to fluctuations in energy prices. This agreement runs to 2023. 
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Total 31 March 2014 Total 31 March 2013

Service and 
maintenance

Finance 
lease 

interest and 
repayments

Total Service and 
maintenance

Finance lease 
interest and 
repayments

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

- not later than one year;  3,145  4,784  7,930  3,709  5,141  8,850 

- later than one year and not later 
than five years;

 12,581  19,138  31,718  14,837  20,564  35,401 

- later than five years.  20,444  31,099  51,542  27,819  38,557  66,376 

Total  36,170  55,021  91,190  46,365  64,262  110,627 

    

31 Imaging infrastructure support service commitments
group and Trust     
The total commitment with regard to the Imaging Infrastructure Support Service entered into in 2012/13 is as follows: 
   

32 Post balance sheet events 
There have been no significant 
post balance sheet events 
requiring disclosure.

33 Financial risk management 
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 
requires disclosure of the role that 
financial instruments have had during 
the period in creating or changing the 
risks a body faces in undertaking its 
activities. Because of the continuing 
service provider relationship that the 
Trust has with commissioners and 
the way those commissioners are 
financed, the Trust is not exposed 
to the degree of financial risk faced 
by business entities. Also financial 
instruments play a much more limited 
role in creating or changing risk than 
would be typical of listed companies, 
to which the financial reporting 
standards mainly apply. The Trust has 
limited powers to borrow or invest 
surplus funds and financial assets and 
liabilities are generated by day-to-
day operational activities rather than 
being held to change the risks facing 

the Trust in undertaking its activities.
The Trust’s treasury management 
operations are carried out by 
the finance department, within 
parameters defined formally 
within the Trust’s standing financial 
instructions and policies agreed by the 
Board of Directors. Foundation Trust 
treasury activity is subject to review by 
the Trust’s internal auditors.  
  
Currency risk   
The Trust is principally a domestic 
organisation with the great majority 
of transactions, assets and liabilities 
being in the UK and sterling based.  
It has no overseas operations. The 
Trust therefore has low exposure to 
currency rate fluctuations.   
  
Interest rate risk  
The Trust borrows from government 
for capital expenditure, subject to 
affordability. The borrowings are for 
5-15 years, in line with the life of 
the associated assets, and interest is 
charged at the National Loans Fund 
rate, fixed for the life of the loan. 
Interest charged on finance leased 

assets is at fixed rates of 
interest. The Trust therefore 
has low exposure to interest 
rate fluctuations.   
  
Credit risk   
Because the majority of the Trust’s 
income comes from contracts with 
other public sector bodies, the Trust 
has relatively low inherent exposure 
to credit risk. The maximum 
exposures as at 31 March 2014 are 
in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the Trade and other 
receivables note.        
  
Liquidity risk   
The Trust’s operating costs are 
incurred under contracts with 
commissioners, which are financed 
from resources voted annually by 
Parliament. The Trust funds its 
capital expenditure from internally 
generated funds together with 
funds obtained from external 
government borrowing when 
necessary, along with commercial 
sources through its finance lease 
and PFI arrangements.   
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33.1  Financial assets by category

Group Trust

Total 31 
March 2014

Loans & 
Receivables

Total 31 
March 2013

Loans & 
Receivables

Total 31 
March 2014

Loans & 
Receivables

Total 31 
March 2013

Loans & 
Receivables

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets  32,729  22,447  33,546  22,447 

Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand  33,634  28,465  33,578  28,465 

NHS Charitable funds: financial assets  2,679  2,578  0  0 

Total  69,042  53,490  67,124  50,912 

33.2 Financial liabilities by category

Group Trust

Total 31 
March 2014

Other 
Financial 

Liabilities

Total 31 
March 2013

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities

Total 31 
March 2014

Other 
Financial 

Liabilities

Total 31 
March 2013

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities

£000 £000 £000 £000

Borrowings excluding Finance lease and PFI liabilities  40,317  29,753  40,317  29,753 

Obligations under finance leases  10,240  7,061  10,240  7,061 

Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts  3,396  3,677  3,396  3,677 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets  58,301  45,604  58,275  45,604 

Total  112,254  86,095  112,228  86,095 

33.3 Fair values of financial assets at 31 March 2014

Group Trust

Book Value Fair value Book Value Fair value

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS Charitable funds: non-current financial assets 2,679 2,679 0 0

33.4 Fair values of financial liabilities at 31 March 2014

Group Trust

Book Value Fair value Book Value Fair value

£000 £000 £000 £000

Loans  35,392  35,392  35,392  35,392 

Other  10,998  10,998  10,998  10,998 

Total  46,390  46,390  46,390  46,390 
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34  Limitation on auditor’s liability
The limitation on the Trust’s auditor’s liability is £1m.

33.5 Maturity of Financial liabilities

Group Trust

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

In one year or less  65,864  52,756  65,838  52,756 

In more than one year but not more than two years  6,999  5,951  6,999  5,951 

In more than two years but not more than five years  17,719  14,918  17,719  14,918 

In more than five years  21,672  12,470  21,672  12,470 

Total  112,254  86,095  112,228  86,095 
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The sustainability report

17% 15% 23%

The Trust is committed to reducing 
its carbon footprint and control 
energy costs by investing in energy 
saving initiatives. 

The NHS has a carbon footprint 
of around 20 million tonnes CO2 
equivalent per year. This means that 
meeting the Climate Change Act 
targets of a 34% reduction by 2020 
and 80% reduction by 2050 will be 
a huge challenge. The NHS ‘Saving 
Carbon, Improving Health’ strategy 
(January 2009) has established 
that the NHS should have its 
own target of reducing its 2007 
carbon footprint by 10% by 2015.  
University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust produces a 

carbon footprint of around 25,000 
tonnes per annum.

A carbon management policy was 
introduced in April 2013 which sets 
out the plans and processes to meet 
these NHS targets. 

Recent innovations have included 
the installation of a new two 
megawatt combined heat and 
power (CHP) generator. This has 
enabled the Trust to recycle more 
waste heat and generate more 
electricity internally, reducing its 
dependence on the national grid. 
During 2013/14 the scheme has 
been bedding in during its first full 
year of operation.

With the help of Department of 
Health funding, the Trust is investing 
£2.6m in other energy efficiency 
schemes including replacing 
single glazed windows with high 
performance double glazed units, 
improving roof insulation, changing 
light fittings, waste heat recovery 
measures, adding control systems 
to the air handling units in theatres 
to reduce energy consumption, 
improvements to steam mains 
thermal insulation and the fitting of 
automatic internal doors to reduce 
heat loss along a through corridor.

The following table and chart 
demonstrates our achieved 
reduction in carbon emissions.

Energy spend increased by Energy consumption reduced by   Exported energy Increased by        

Resource 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Gas Use (mWh) 62027 96107 83603

tCO2e 12675 19639 17735

Oil Use (mWh) 393 400 441

tCO2e 125 127 140

Coal Use (mWh) 0 0 0

tCO2e 0 0 0

Electricity Use (mWh) 21779 13037 10371

tCO2e 12204 7441 5806

Total Energy CO2e 25005 27208 23683

Total Energy Spend £5,352,565 £4,805,457 £5,665,076
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On 27 March the Trust held a 
sustainability day. This event aimed 
to celebrate our efforts to embed 
sustainable practices and to explain 
future opportunities. As well as 
a contribution from Dalkia, our 
energy partner for the CHP, there 
were displays by our consulting 
engineers Henderson Green and 
Kier our main building contractor, 
explaining how our sustainability is 
taken into account in our building 
projects and how building waste 
from projects is recycled. 

The day was also designed to 
raise awareness of other initiatives 
including a ‘bike village’ plaza 
dedicated to raising awareness 
of the cycle to work scheme and 
Southampton City Council’s My 
Journey workplace travel project, 
which is designed to reduce 
congestion in the city and improve  
wellbeing by promoting the use of 
alternative travel. Dr Tom Pierce, a 
consultant anaesthetist, hosted a 
stand promoting inhaler recycling 
and highlighted his personal drive, 
along with Randell McKay, principal 

pharmacist, to improve sustainability 
in clinical areas of the organisation.

Waste Management
Waste management is a core 
principle of the Trust. The Trust is 
committed to reducing its carbon 
footprint and improving the 
understanding of waste management 
within the health service. Widely 
distributed recycling bins encourage 
the collection of paper, cardboard, 
plastics, tins and glass. The waste 
management team also recycles ink 
cartridges and batteries. 
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Waste 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Recycling (tonnes) 172 217 165

Total domestic waste 

(tonnes)

1553 1648 1430

% recycled or re-used 11% 13% 12%

Clinical waste (tonnes) 1066 1270 1214

Procurement
In conjunction with the national 
NHS Standard for Procurement 2.5, 
the Trust will embed processes to 
ensure sustainable development is 
assessed, considered, implemented 
and monitored in procurement 

decision making. This will be 
developed in conjunction with 
the NHS Procuring for Carbon 
Reduction Roadmap (P4CRR) to 
ensure that goods and services 
procured by the Trust are designed, 
manufactured, delivered, used 

and managed at end of life in 
an environmentally and socially 
responsible manner and forms 
an integral part of the Trust’s 
sustainable development plan.
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If you need a translation of this document, 
an interpreter or a version in large print, 
Braille or on audio tape, please telephone 
023 8120 4688 for help.

For more information contact:

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust
Southampton General Hospital
Tremona Road
Southampton 
Hampshire
SO16 6YD

Telephone 023 8077 7222     


